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DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 

The undersigned, counsel of record for Defendant-Appellant Patrick D. 

Thompson, furnishes the following information pursuant to F.R.A.P. 26.1 and 

Circuit Rule 26.1: 

1. The only party the undersigned represents in this matter is Defendant-

Appellant Patrick D. Thompson. 

2. Mr. Thompson is not a corporation. 

3. The only law firm whose partners or associates have appeared for Mr. 

Thompson in this case (including proceedings in the district court) is Gair 

Eberhard Nelson Dedinas Ltd.  

 

Dated: October 24, 2022 /s/ Chris Gair 
Chris Gair 
Gair Eberhard Nelson Dedinas Ltd. 
1 E. Wacker Drive, Suite 2600 
Chicago, IL 60601 
312/600-4901 
cgair@gairlawgroup.com 
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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 The defendant, Patrick D. Thompson, was charged on April 29, 2021 in a 

seven-count indictment with violations of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1014 

and Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206. The district court had jurisdiction of 

the case under Title 18, United States Code, Section 3231. This Court has 

jurisdiction pursuant to Title 28, United States Code, Section 1291. 

 The defendant was convicted following trial by jury on February 14, 2022. 

The defendant filed timely post-trial motions for judgment of acquittal and for a 

new trial on March 17, 2022. The district court denied those motions on June 3, 

2022. The district court entered an original Judgment in a Criminal Case on July 6, 

2022, and an Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case on July 12, 2022. The 

defendant filed a Notice of Appeal on July 12, 2022. On July 27, 2022, the district 

court entered an Amended Judgment to correct a clerical error pursuant to Federal 

Rule of Criminal Procedure 36. The appeal is from a judgment that disposes of all 

parties’ claims.  

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Is judgment of acquittal required on Count One and the first false statement 

charged in Count Two where the defendant’s statements that he had 

borrowed $110,000 from a predecessor bank were literally true?  

2. Is judgment of acquittal independently required on those charges under the 

constructive-amendment doctrine where the defendant was charged for 

allegedly having said he “only owed” $110,000 and “any higher amount was 
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incorrect” but the proof was that he never made those statements but merely 

said that he “borrowed” $110,000? 

3. Is judgment of acquittal required on Count Two with respect to his additional 

statement that the $110,000 loan had been used for “home improvement” 

where there was no evidence that he made that comment for the purpose of 

influencing the FDIC in its collection activities and the natural tendency of 

the statement was not to influence the FDIC? 

4. Did the Court erroneously order restitution of $50,120.58 relating to unpaid 

loan interest in connection with Counts One and Two where there was no 

causal connection between the alleged false statements at issue and any loss 

to the bank? 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

I. The Indictment 

 On April 29, 2021, defendant Patrick D. Thompson was charged by 

indictment with: (A) two counts of making false statements in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1014; and (B) five counts of making false statements on tax returns for the years 

2013 to 2017 in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7206, which statements caused an aggregate 

tax loss of approximately $15,000. (Dkt. 1.)1 Only the two Section 1014 charges are 

at issue on this appeal. 

 
1 The government’s evidence showed that Mr. Thompson had taken an incorrect mortgage 
interest deduction in those years. This is the smallest tax loss prosecuted as a tax fraud in 
the Northern District of Illinois in at least a decade. (Def.’s Sent’g Mem. at 23, Dkt. 178.) 
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 Count One alleged that on February 23, 2018, Mr. Thompson falsely stated to 

a financial institution known as Planet Home Lending, which was enlisted to collect 

loans on behalf of the defunct Washington Federal Bank for Savings, that “he only 

owed $100,000 or $110,000 to Washington Federal [Bank for Savings] and that any 

higher amount was incorrect, when defendant then knew he had received $219,000 

from Washington Federal.” (Id. at 3.) Count Two alleged that on March 1, 2018, he 

“falsely stated to the FDIC that he only owed $110,000 to Washington Federal, that 

any higher amount was incorrect, and that these funds were for home improvement, 

when defendant then knew that he had received $219,000 from Washington Federal 

and that the $110,000 was paid to a law firm as defendant’s capital contribution.”  

(Id. at 4.) 

II. The Trial 

 The case was tried to a jury in February 2022. The evidence showed that in 

the summer and fall of 2011, Mr. Thompson sought to refinance the mortgages on 

his home and rental property, then held with J.P. Morgan Chase, with Washington 

Federal Bank for Savings (“WFBS”). (Tr. 828–29.)2 WFBS’s president, John 

Gembara, agreed to do the refinancing. (Tr. 828–30.) Shortly thereafter, however, 

Mr. Thompson needed a short-term bridge loan of $110,000 to pay in as an equity 

contribution at the law firm he was joining. (Tr. 828–31.) Gembara agreed to loan 

 
2 “Tr.” refers to the trial transcripts, filed with the District Court at Dkts. 142–150. 
References to the transcript of any other proceeding are accompanied by citation to the 
relevant docket number. 
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him the funds for a short term and then to roll that debt into the refinanced 

mortgages when they were issued. (Tr. 830:11–15, 834:13–24, 835:19–836:21.)  

 Mr. Thompson signed a short-term promissory note for $110,000. (Tr. 831:1–

14.) He received the $110,000 loan, which was disbursed in the form of a check 

made payable to the law firm. (Tr. 796–98.) However, despite many attempts by the 

defendant to secure the refinancing of the mortgages, Gembara and WFBS did not 

in fact refinance them. (Tr. 883–86, 890:16–24, 892–897, 900–905.) Mr. Thompson’s 

efforts to close on refinancings lasted for almost five years. (Id.)  

 In the meantime, he needed other advances on two occasions. Mr. Thompson 

received additional advances from WFBS of $20,000 in 2013 and $89,000 in 2014. 

(Tr. 888:8–22, GX 94, Tr. 897:23–898:11, GX 96.)3 The total amount he borrowed 

from the bank was $219,000. (Dkt. 1 at 3.) WFBS never made a mortgage loan to 

Mr. Thompson, but incorrectly recorded the loans it did make on its books as a 

mortgage debt. (Tr. 456:1–457:10, 479:3–480:14.) It also incorrectly issued and sent 

IRS Form 1098s (Mortgage Interest Statement) for the loan to Mr. Thompson. (Tr. 

480:12–18.) 

 In December 2017, WFBS failed and was taken over by the FDIC. (Tr. 

999:24–1000:6.) Mr. Thompson’s loan was assigned to a bank known as Planet 

Home Lending (“Planet”) for collection. (Tr. 1005:20–1006:1.) In mid-February 2018, 

Planet sent a “mortgage” loan statement to Mr. Thompson indicating that the 

 
3 “GX” refers to the government’s trial exhibits, while “DX” refers to defendant’s trial 
exhibits. 
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“principal balance” of his loan from WFBS was $269,120.58. (Tr. 917:1–16.) It 

provided a customer service number to call with questions. (Id.) 

 Shortly after receiving the notice, on February 23, 2018, four years after 

having received the last advance from WFBS, Mr. Thompson called the customer 

service number and spoke with a call center representative named Bill Murray. (Tr. 

917:24–918:9.) In that call, which was recorded by Planet, Mr. Thompson explained 

that he did not have a mortgage loan but that he had tried to get one which never 

actually closed. (GX 188, 189.) He told Mr. Murray that he had signed a promissory 

note in the amount of $100,000. He said: “I borrowed $100,000.” (GX 189 at 3:13.) 

He further indicated that the Planet statement he had received was for a loan of 

$269,000. (Id. at 3:11–13.) Mr. Thompson then asked if they would walk through 

any paperwork they had regarding the loan with him and that he had assumed he 

would be sitting down with the FDIC. (Id. at 3:23–25.) He again reiterated that he 

would like to talk to somebody and go through the documentation, explaining that 

the $100,000 he had borrowed was supposed to be wrapped into a mortgage. (Id. at 

4:18–5:3.) He then corrected himself, saying that “I borrowed 100 thou--$110, I 

think it was $110,000.” (Id. at 7:8–10.) Mr. Thompson said twice more during the 

conversation that he would be willing to talk to whomever was necessary to resolve 

the matter. (Id. at 7:13–15, 11:16–20.) 

 The customer service representative, Mr. Murray, testified at trial. He agreed 

that Mr. Thompson had merely “asked for help figuring out what the balance of his 
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loan was.” (Tr. 1180:14–16.) Mr. Thompson “believed that he had borrowed 

$110,000.” (Tr. 1184:9–11.) 

 Six days later, on March 1, 2018, Mr. Thompson received a call from two 

contract representatives of the FDIC, John Holly and Daniel Newell. (Tr. 1007:23–

1008:2.) They were principally working on collecting on a different Planet loan, this 

one made by WFBS to the Chicago 11th Ward Democratic Organization for 

improvements to its building. (Tr. 1020:24–1021:1, 1027:5–16.) Mr. Thompson was 

the 11th Ward Alderman and had obtained a loan commitment from WFBS to the 

ward office of $100,000 for the project. (Tr. 1019:25–1020:10.) 

 Mr. Thompson was cooperative throughout the conversation. (Tr. 1010:10–

12.) During the conversation, Holly, Newell, and Mr. Thompson discussed both the 

11th Ward loan for building improvements and Mr. Thompson’s personal loan. (GX 

191; Tr. 1010:6–18.) Holly and Newell prepared a log of their call with Mr. 

Thompson immediately after the conversation, which they admitted was the best 

record of what was said. (GX 191; Tr. 1023–24, 1087.) According to the log, Mr. 

Thompson said with respect to the ward loan that the agreement was for the bank 

to provide $100,000 for building improvements, but that only $80,000 of that was 

funded.4  

 The FDIC also mentioned “his personal note” in the amount of $110,000 

during the call. (Tr. 1034:1.) With respect to the personal loan, the defendant said: 

 
4 The ward loan was promptly paid off by the 11th Ward Democratic Organization and was 
not at issue in the case. The trial judge entered a ruling in limine barring other evidence 
concerning this loan. (Dkt. 95 at 3–4.) 
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“John Gembara loaned him 110 for home improvement, which was to be rolled up 

into his home loan.” (Tr. 1013:21–23, GX 191.) Mr. Thompson’s statement that John 

Gembara had loaned him $110,000 was true. (Tr. 1034:12–15.) The witnesses 

further admitted that Mr. Thompson never said that he owed only $110,000 and 

that any higher amount was incorrect. (Tr. 1034:16–18, 1088:23–1089:7.) As 

confirmed by the communications log and the testimony of both Holly and Newell, 

the discussion regarding the personal loan was about the amount the defendant had 

“borrowed,” not what he “owed.” (Tr. 1033:17–1034:18, 1092:20–24; GX 191.)  

 At the time of the conversation, the FDIC representatives already knew that 

Mr. Thompson had borrowed a total of $219,000. (Tr. 1002:23–1003:20, 1016:10–13, 

1032:4–22, 1079:1–5.) On the other hand, as Holly admitted, Mr. Thompson “didn’t 

realize—I don’t think he realized it was that much” that he had borrowed. (Tr. 

1011:23–24, 1033:2–6.) Newell confirmed that in fact, Mr. Thompson “didn’t know 

what he owed.” (Tr. 1091:24–25.) Holly did not know of, and the log did not reflect, 

any mention by any of the parties to the call of the $219,000 in total that Mr. 

Thompson had borrowed, nor of the purported principal balance of $269,000 

reflected on the Planet statement from mid-February 2018. (Tr. 1048, 1088–89; GX 

191.)  

 After another conversation on March 5, 2018, Newell sent Mr. Thompson 

records of the three checks he had received from WFBS totaling $219,000. (Tr. 

1095–96, GX 199.) There was no evidence that Mr. Thompson disputed what he had 

borrowed after receiving those documents.  
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 The evidence suggested that the log was incorrect about what Mr. Thompson 

had said the $110,000 personal loan was used for. (Tr. 1019:25–1030:15, 1034–36, 

1038–42.) The amount of the ward loan ($100,000) and the personal note ($110,000) 

were similar. (1019:25–1020:23.) The ward loan was in fact for building 

“improvements.” (1027:7–16.) Although the March 1 FDIC log purports to separate 

the two subjects in distinct paragraphs, in fact that is not how the discussion 

occurred. Rather, the two topics were discussed together (Tr. 1025–26, 1035, 1049), 

potentially leading to confusion by the FDIC.  

 Moreover, on April 2, 2018, when the FDIC representatives sent the three 

checks reflecting the total amount Mr. Thompson had borrowed to him, the 

accompanying email from Newell said “110,000.00—Advanced on 11/16/2011—made 

payable to your law firm and deposited by your law firm. This was confirmed by you 

as your buy in to the firm.” (GX 199.) Notably, the only time there was any 

discussion of the purpose of this loan was on the March 1 call (GX 191; Tr. at 1039–

41, 1096–98), suggesting that the log entry mistakenly conflated the purpose of the 

ward loan (building improvements) with the purpose of the personal loan.  

 In late 2018, after obtaining financing from another source, Mr. Thompson 

paid off the $219,000 he had borrowed personally from WFBS pursuant to an 

agreement to settle with the FDIC. Planet and the FDIC decided to forgive the 

roughly $50,000 in interest that had accumulated on the loan. (DX 47.)5  Mr. 

 
5 DX 47 and 76 were excluded by the Court on motions in limine by the government. (Dkt. 
95-2 at 68, 24–25.) DX 77 was admitted solely for purposes of refreshing recollection or 
impeachment. Id. However, the substance of those documents was part of the defendant’s 
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Thompson in fact paid taxes in the amount of about $17,000 on the putative income 

generated by the forgiveness of the interest. (Dkt. 172 at 5.) The FDIC regarded the 

settlement a “slam dunk” because the bank’s poor documentation undermined 

collectability. (See DX 47 at 1; Def. Offer of Proof, Tr. 861–62; DX 77 at 12:6–9, 

44:17–22.)   

 At the close of the government’s case in chief, Mr. Thompson moved for 

judgment of acquittal on all counts. (Dkt. 124; Tr. 1150–67.) The trial court denied 

Mr. Thompson’s motion without prejudice (id.), and the jury found Mr. Thompson 

guilty on all counts. (Dkt. 140, 141; Tr. 1428–31.)  

III. Post-Trial Motions 

 After the verdict, Mr. Thompson renewed his motion for judgment of 

acquittal and moved for a new trial. As relevant to this appeal, Mr. Thompson 

argued that (1) his statements to Planet and the FDIC that he had borrowed 

$110,000 were literally true and therefore could not form the basis for a conviction 

under Section 1014;  (2) the divergence between the proof at trial and the 

indictment constituted a constructive amendment; and (3) there was no basis in the 

evidence to support a conclusion that the government had proved that the 

statement regarding “home improvement” was made with the purpose of 

influencing the FDIC in its collection efforts. (Dkt. 154.) The trial court denied Mr. 

Thompson’s post-trial motions. (Dkt. 170.) 

 

 
sentencing submissions (Dkt. 173 at 8–9), and the government has not disputed the facts 
contained in those documents.  
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IV. Sentencing 

 The trial court sentenced Mr. Thompson to four months’ imprisonment and 

ordered him to pay $50,120.58 in restitution relating to unpaid loan interest in 

connection with Count One and Count Two. (Dkt. 190 at 7.) The restitution order 

was imposed over Mr. Thompson’s objection that the alleged loss of the interest 

accumulated on the WFBS loans was not caused by the false statements of which he 

was convicted. (R. 172 at 11–12; Tr. 86:18–20.) Mr. Thompson was also sentenced to 

pay restitution to the IRS in the amount of $8,395 and to serve a one-year period of 

supervised release. (Dkt. 190 at 3, 7.) 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

 This Court should reverse and enter a judgment of acquittal on appeal with 

respect to the charged false statements in Counts One and Two. The statements Mr. 

Thompson actually made were that he borrowed $110,000, not that he owed 

$110,000 and no higher amount as charged. His statements were literally true, if 

incomplete, and conviction under Section 1014 is only permissible where the 

statements at issue are literally false. As the government concedes, Mr. Thompson 

was convicted on these charges not because the statements were literally false but 

because they were misleading and omitted the later amounts he borrowed. Literally 

true statements are not criminal under Section 1014.  

 Mr. Thompson’s conviction on these charges was also improper because 

conviction depended on a constructive amendment of the indictment, changing the 
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charge (he only owed $110,000 and no higher amount) to conform to the proof (he 

borrowed $110,000). 

 The conviction on Count Two for the additional statement concerning the use 

he had made of the $110,000 must also be reversed. Section 1014 requires not only a 

false statement, but also that the statement have been made for the purpose of 

influencing the FDIC in its collection activities. Absent direct evidence of that 

purpose, the unlawful purpose can only be established if the natural tendency of the 

statement was to influence the FDIC in its activity. The government here offered no 

proof on the purpose element with respect to the “home improvement” statement, 

and there was nothing to suggest that the natural tendency of the comment was to 

influence the FDIC in its collection activities. Because there was no proof of any 

intent to deceive and the statement had no natural tendency to influence the FDIC’s 

collection actions, there was no basis for the jury to conclude beyond a reasonable 

doubt that Mr. Thompson intended to influence the FDIC by making the statement.  

 Finally, the district court erred in imposing a restitution order on Counts One 

and Two in the amount of the interest accumulated on the amounts borrowed. 

Planet Lending and the FDIC knew the total principal and interest owed on the 

loans before Mr. Thompson made the statements at issue. The uncontradicted 

evidence showed that Mr. Thompson repaid the $219,000 principal he had borrowed 

and that the FDIC and Planet agreed to waive the interest as part of a settlement. 

Their reasons for entering into that settlement had nothing to do with either the 

statements he actually made or the government’s gloss on those statements, but 
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rather had to do with the poor quality of the bank’s loan documentation and 

questions relating to the collectability of the loan based on those documents. Mr. 

Thompson’s earlier statements, even if interpreted to mean that he only owed a 

total of $110,000, did not cause and in fact had nothing to do with the FDIC’s 

decision to waive the interest. Because restitution can only be ordered if the loss 

resulted from the specific criminal conduct of conviction, the court below erred.   

STANDARDS OF REVIEW 

I. Denial of Motion for Judgment of Acquittal 

A denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal is reviewed de novo. United 

States v. Jett, 908 F.3d 252, 263 (7th Cir. 2018). Under Rules 29(a) and (c), 

following a guilty verdict “the court on the defendant’s motion must enter a 

judgment of acquittal on any offense for which the evidence is insufficient to sustain 

a conviction.” Fed. R. Crim. P. 29 (emphasis added). A “Rule 29 judgment of 

acquittal is a substantive determination that the prosecution has failed to carry its 

burden.” Smith v. Massachusetts, 543 U.S. 462, 468 (2005).  

Questions of statutory interpretation are reviewed de novo. United States v. 

Cureton, 739 F.3d 1032, 1040 (7th Cir. 2014). On a challenge to the sufficiency of 

the evidence, this Court reviews the evidence “in the light most favorable to the 

government and ask[s] whether any rational trier of fact could find the essential 

elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.” United States v. Sanchez, 615 

F.3d 836, 842 (7th Cir. 2010) (quotation marks and citations omitted). “If the 

evidence would not allow a civil case to survive a motion for summary judgment or a 
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directed verdict, then the case has no business being given to a jury in a criminal 

trial.” United States v. Garcia, 919 F.3d 489, 491 (7th Cir. 2019). 

II. Imposition of a Restitution Order 

“The district court’s authority to issue a restitution order is an issue of law 

that [this Court] review[s] de novo.” United States v. Rand, 403 F.3d 489, 493 (7th 

Cir. 2005). 

ARGUMENT 

I. Mr. Thompson is entitled to acquittal on Count One and the first statement 
charged in Count Two because his statements that he borrowed $110,000 
were literally true. 

 
The trial court erred in denying Mr. Thompson’s motion for judgment of 

acquittal on Counts One and Two with respect to his statements that he had 

borrowed $110,000. Contrary to the conclusion reached by the trial court, conviction 

under Section 1014 requires that the statements at issue be literally false. Mr. 

Thompson’s statements were not, as the government has conceded, and this Court 

should therefore enter a judgment of acquittal. 

A. The government did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the charged 
statements were even made.   
 

In Count One, the government charged Mr. Thompson with falsely stating 

that: “[1] he only owed $100,000 or $110,000 to Washington Federal [Bank for 

Savings] and [2] that any higher amount was incorrect. . . .”  (Dkt. 1 at 3, emphasis 

added.) Had Mr. Thompson made either of these statements, they would have been 

false statements within the ambit of Section 1014. But the uncontradicted evidence 

shows that he never made either statement or any other literally false statement.   
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The only evidence the government offered on Count One was a recorded call 

Mr. Thompson had with Bill Murray, a customer service representative of Planet, 

on February 23, 2018. On that call, Mr. Thompson stated, “I borrowed $100,000,” 

which he later corrected to $110,000. (GX 189 at 3:13, 7:8–10 (emphasis added); see 

also GX 188 (audio recording).)  

Mr. Thompson said nothing at all about what he owed (apart from telling Mr. 

Murray that he would pay back whatever he owed). His statement about borrowing 

$110,000 says nothing about how much he owed. Notably, “borrow” does not mean 

“owe.” (Tr. at 1033–34.)  A person may borrow a sum of money yet owe more than he 

borrowed due to interest running. Mr. Thompson’s statement about borrowing 

$110,000 is not tantamount to a statement about what he owed (or did not owe).   

Moreover, it is indisputable that Mr. Thompson did not say he did not owe 

“any higher amount” than $110,000 as charged in Count One. Rather, he simply 

disputed that he borrowed a specific amount listed as the “principal balance” on the 

statement from Planet, namely, $269,000.6  Disputing borrowing $269,000 is not an 

assertion that he owed no more than $110,000.  

In Count Two, the government charged Mr. Thompson with making precisely 

the same false statement six days later—that he only owed $110,000 and that any 

higher amount was incorrect—but this time to the FDIC. Once again, there was no 

evidence that he made any such statements, and extensive evidence from the 

government’s own witnesses that he did not.  

 
6 That bank statement was misleading because it included putative interest in the “principal” 
balance. 
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The conversation in which the charged statement was alleged to have 

occurred was the March 1, 2018 telephone discussion with Dan Newell and John 

Holly, which was reflected in the FDIC’s communication log. (GX 191.) The 

communication log indicates that Mr. Thompson said:   

John Gembara loaned him 110,000 for home improvement, 
which was to be rolled up into his home loan (Bank was to 
do a term loan). Bank funded the loan with cashiers checks.  

(Id. at 2.)  

At trial, the testimony was consistent with the substance of the 

communication log on this point. Holly and Newell were asking Mr. Thompson 

about the $110,000 he had “borrowed,” not how much he “owed.” (Tr. at 1033–34, 

1092, GX 191.) There is a difference between what you borrow and what you owe. 

(Tr. 1033-34.) Moreover, Holly directly and explicitly contradicted the precise charge 

in Count Two, testifying that Mr. Thompson “did not say he only owed $110,000 and 

that any higher amount was incorrect.” (Id. at 1034.) Newell likewise contradicted 

the charge, testifying that Mr. Thompson never said he only owed $110,000. (Tr. at 

1088–89.) Indeed, there is nothing in the log about indicating so much as a 

discussion of either the $219,000 borrowed or the $269,000 “principal” balance. (GX 

191; Tr. 1030, 1089.) Thus, it was indisputable that the charged statements were 

not in fact made.  

B. Mr. Thompson’s statements were literally true.  

Mr. Thompson’s actual statements were literally true: he did borrow 

$110,000 from Gembara. (Tr. 1034.) He signed a promissory note with WFBS for 

$110,000 dated November 15, 2011 and received a $110,000 check. (Tr. 450:18–
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451:9; GX 92.)  Indeed, the government conceded at the hearing on Mr. Thompson’s 

post-trial motions that the statements that he borrowed $110,000 were literally 

true. (Mot. Hr’g Tr. 11:4–6, Dkt. 200.) Moreover, he never stated that he owed no 

more than $110,000. (See GX 189; Tr. 1034:16–18, 1052:10–13, 1088:18–1089:7.) 

To the extent Mr. Thompson’s statements that he borrowed $110,000 were 

misleading, they were misleading only by virtue of omitting that he subsequently 

borrowed $20,000 and, later, $89,000. The statements themselves were literally 

true and therefore not subject to criminal culpability for false statements. See 

Bronston v. United States, 409 U.S. 352, 354–55, 357 (1973) (defendant’s statement 

that his company had a Swiss bank account was literally true, despite its false 

implication that the defendant himself did not have a Swiss bank account); United 

States v. Gahagan, 881 F.2d 1380, 1382–83 (6th Cir. 1989) (defendant’s statement 

that he did not own a car was not false where title to the car had been transferred 

to another, even if that transfer was a sham); United States v. Laikin, 583 F.2d 968, 

968–71 (7th Cir. 1978) (where defendant recalled a comment about a property “not 

being around too long” but subsequently denied recalling a comment about “loss or 

casualty” or “fire or some loss,” the defendant’s differing answers fell within 

Bronston’s literal-truth defense); United States v. Lozano, 511 F.2d 1, 5 (7th Cir. 

1975) (defendant’s statement on immigration form that she was married “may be 

literally true” though marriage was entered solely to obtain a change in 

immigration status).  
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Mr. Thompson’s dispute of the $269,000 principal balance was a performative 

utterance, not a statement that admits of truth or falsity. See United States v. 

Montana, 199 F.3d 947, 950 (7th Cir. 1999) (performative utterances not subject to 

hearsay rule because not capable of being true or false); Williams v. United States, 

458 U.S. 279, 284–85 (1982) (defendant’s checks were directions to banks, not 

factual assertions capable of truth or falsity). In any event, he borrowed $219,000 

from WFBS in total, not $269,000. Thus, his disputing the principal balance shown 

on the Planet statement could not be literally false. 

C. Mr. Thompson’s literally true statements, even if incomplete or 
misleading by implication, cannot support a conviction under Section 
1014.  
 

In relevant part, Section 1014 criminalizes “knowingly mak[ing] any false 

statement or report . . . for the purpose of influencing in any way the action of . . .  

the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation . . . or a mortgage lending business. . . 

upon any . . . advance, . . . commitment, or loan.” 18 U.S.C. § 1014; see also United 

States v. Wells, 519 U.S. 482, 490 (1997). The plain terms of the statute, the 

compelling precedents from this and other courts, the seminal Supreme Court cases, 

and the rule of lenity all establish that a conviction under Section 1014 requires a 

literally false statement, and not merely a misleading one.  

Section 1014 criminalizes only literally false statements, not those that are 

misleading by implication or omission. United States v. Staniforth, 971 F.2d 1355, 

1361–62 (7th Cir. 1992) (reversing conviction and holding it could not rest on 

literally true statement that the bank would acquire a security interest in stock, 
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even if the stock had been purchased on margin), abrogated on other grounds by 

United States v. Wells, 519 U.S. 482 (1997). “An omission, concealment or the silent 

part of a half-truth, is not an assertion” that can violate section 1014. United States 

v. Kurlemann, 736 F.3d 439, 445 (6th Cir. 2013); see also United States v. Thorn, 17 

F.3d 325, 328–29 (11th Cir. 1994) (an implied false statement cannot violate 

§ 1014). “[O]ne cannot be convicted under 18 U.S.C. § 1014 if the statement claimed 

to be false is, in fact, literally true.” United States v. Attick, 649 F.2d 61, 63 (1st Cir. 

1981); see also United States v. Watts, 72 F. Supp. 2d 106, 117 (E.D.N.Y. 1999) 

(granting motion for judgment of acquittal in Section 1014 case because the 

government “has not disproved the ‘literal truth’” of the statements).7 The trial 

court erred by holding otherwise and denying Mr. Thompson’s motion for judgment 

of acquittal.  

At the outset, the plain text of a statute is the best guide to its meaning. 

United States v. Sanders, 909 F.3d 895, 901 (7th Cir. 2018). The plain text of this 

statute proscribes a “false statement.” 18 U.S.C. § 1014. Section 1014 makes no 

mention of omissions, misleading statements, concealment, or schemes or artifices 

 
7 Panels of the First, Third, Fifth, Eighth, and Tenth Circuits have held that a literally false 
statement is not necessary to support a conviction under section 1014. United States v. 
Wells, 63 F.3d 745, 751–52 (8th Cir. 1995), vacated on other grounds by United States v. 
Wells, 519 U.S. 482; United States v. Haddock, 956 F.2d 1534, 1551 (10th Cir. 1992); 
United States v. Concemi, 957 F.2d 942, 951 (1st Cir. 1992); United States v. Ryan, 828 
F.2d 1010, 1017 (3d Cir. 1987); United States v. Trice, 823 F.2d 80, 85–86 (5th Cir. 1987). 
Those cases are inconsistent with this Court’s precedents, the text of the statute, the rule of 
lenity, and any fair reading of the relevant Supreme Court authorities.  
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to defraud, all of which reach far more broadly than a statute merely penalizing a 

“false” statement.  

Congress has, however, shown itself adept at drafting expansive criminal 

statutes to include such misleading conduct and at distinguishing between false 

statements and those that only conceal or mislead. Cf. United States v. Natale, 719 

F.3d 719, 735 (7th Cir. 2013) (appropriate to consult similarly worded statutes). 

Perhaps the most obvious example is 18 U.S.C. § 1001, which expressly punishes 

not only those who make false statements (Section 1001(a)(2)), but also—and 

separately—anyone who “conceals [or] covers up by any trick, scheme or device a 

material fact” (Section 1001(a)(1)). Other prominent examples of statutes reaching 

misleading conduct abound, including the mail, wire, bank, health care, and 

securities fraud statutes, all of which punish not just false representations, but 

“false pretenses.” See 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341, 1343, 1344, 1347, 1348. A “false pretense” 

is clearly different than a “false statement” or a “false representation” because it 

includes “any untrue representation, including an implicit one.” United States v. 

Kucik, 844 F.2d 493, 499 (7th Cir. 1988) (emphasis added). If an implicit falsity, 

that is, a false pretense, were covered by Section 1014, Congress would have said so 

as it did in the fraud statutes. The fact that it did not is dispositive. In re Globe 

Bldg. Materials, Inc., 463 F.3d 631, 635 (7th Cir. 2006) (“In interpreting the statute 

we will not invent missing language.”). 

 Congress’s decision to limit the reach of Section 1014 to literally false 

statements also distinguishes that offense from other false-statement offenses in 

Case: 22-2254      Document: 9            Filed: 10/24/2022      Pages: 154



20 
 

Title 18. See 18 U.S.C. §§ 1027, 1035 (expressly criminalizing “conceal[ment]” in 

addition to false statements). And it sets § 1014 apart from the securities laws, 

which expressly prohibit misleading conduct and omissions in addition to false 

statements. See 15 U.S.C. §§ 78j (unlawful to use “any manipulative or deceptive 

device”); 77q(2) (unlawful “to obtain money or property by means of any untrue 

statement of a material fact or any omission to state a material fact necessary in 

order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they 

were made, not misleading”). In short, when Congress intends to criminalize 

omissions or other misleading conduct, it says so. It did not criminalize omissions or 

literally true but misleading statements in Section 1014.  

The appellate court cases holding that Section 1014 requires literal falsity 

derive from two seminal Supreme Court cases, Bronston v. United States, 409 U.S. 

352, 357–58 (1973), and Williams v. United States, 458 U.S. 279, 284 (1982). In 

Bronston, the Supreme Court declined to extend the perjury statute to proscribe 

false implications in addition to false statements. The Court reversed the 

defendant’s conviction based on a literally true but misleading statement, reasoning 

that the statute did not “make it a criminal act for a witness to willfully state any 

material matter that implies any material matter that he does not believe to be 

true.” Bronston, 409 U.S. at 357–58. This Court has applied Bronston’s literal-truth 

defense to other false-statement statutes due to their similarities to perjury. United 

States v. Rahman, 805 F.3d 822, 838 (7th Cir. 2015) (reversing conviction under 

§ 1001(a)(2)); United States v. Lozano, 511 F.2d 1, 5 (7th Cir. 1975) (reversing 
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conviction for false statement in immigration petition under § 1546); United States 

v. Reynolds, 919 F.2d 435, 437 (7th Cir. 1990) (tax fraud prosecution under 

§ 7206(1)). 

In Williams, 458 U.S. 279, a prosecution under Section 1014, the 

government’s theory was that by writing a bad check the defendant had represented 

that he “currently has funds on deposit sufficient to cover the face value of the 

check” and therefore “effectively has made a ‘false statement’ to the recipient.” Id. at 

285–86. The Court held: “While this broader reading of § 1014 is plausible, we are 

not persuaded that it is the preferable or intended one.” Id. at 286. In dissent, 

Justice Marshall recognized that the Williams holding entails that material 

omissions and failures to disclose do not fall within § 1014’s scope. Id. at 296 

(Marshall, J., dissenting).  

This Court has clearly read Williams to mean just that. Specifically, in 

United States v. Krilich, 159 F.3d 1020, 1029 (7th Cir. 1998), this Court interpreted 

Williams to hold:  

the only “statement” made by a check is an instruction to the 
drawee bank to pay, and . . . the implication that funds are 
available for that purpose is not covered by § 1014 because a 
misleading implication differs from a false statement.  
(emphasis added).8 
 

 
8 At various times in the district court, the government cited United States v. Swanquist, 
161 F.3d 1064 (7th Cir. 1998), for the proposition that literal falsity is not required to 
convict under Section 1014. But literal falsity was neither raised by the defendant nor 
decided by this Court in that case. Moreover, contrary to the government’s contentions, 
Swanquist did not involve a mere failure to disclose, but instead the defendant 
affirmatively misstated the amount of his debts on certain loan applications.  
 

Case: 22-2254      Document: 9            Filed: 10/24/2022      Pages: 154



22 
 

The most recent and thorough analysis of the issue is that of the Sixth 

Circuit in Kurlemann, 736 F.3d 439. There, the court considered the statutory text, 

its relationship to other statutes, Supreme Court decisions, and the rule of lenity to 

hold that only a literally false statement can support a conviction under § 1014. 

“Until Congress opts to extend § 1014 to material omissions, implied 

misrepresentations or fraud—all ways of getting at deceptive ‘half-truths’—we must 

take the statute as we find it, and as the Supreme Court has construed it.” Id. at 

448.  

Brushing aside these authorities, the trial court below relied instead on 

United States v. Freed, 921 F.3d 716, 723 (7th Cir. 2019), to conclude that a literally 

false statement is not necessary for a conviction under § 1014. This reliance was 

misguided. First, any indication in Freed that literal falsity is not required is 

dictum because the defendant’s statements there were, in fact, literally false. 

Specifically, as this Court explained, he presented to the bank “a slide describing 

the proposed ‘Line of Collateral’ which included representations that [his company] 

owned one hundred percent of the TIF notes, the cost to sell them was $0, and the 

proceeds of that sale would be $ 7,698,000.” 921 F.3d at 723. These statements were 

literally false because his entity did not own 100% of the notes, much of it was 

already pledged elsewhere, the cost would not be zero to sell them, and he could not 

realize $7.6 million or anything like it from their sale. Id. at 719. The government 

also identified a number of other explicit false statements in its appellate brief, 

including the false statement that the value of another project proposed by the 
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defendant as collateral was greatly overstated because the defendant had taken 

$3.6 million out of that development. See Government’s Brief as Appellee in United 

States v. Freed, Case No. 17–2816, Dkt. No. 54 (7th Cir. Dec. 7, 2018).9 

While the Freed panel curiously seems to have accepted for purposes of 

argument that the statements at issue were “technically true,” reading the opinion 

to reject the literal-truth defense cannot be squared with either Staniforth or 

Krilich, neither of which it even mentions. Moreover, the Freed decision wholly fails 

to address Bronston and only addresses Williams by relying, inexplicably, on the 

Williams dissent, which argued that Section 1014 should encompass misleading 

statements, not the majority opinion which strongly indicates the contrary.  

Thus, the Freed dictum is divorced from—indeed, does not even mention—the   

statutory text, the differences between Section 1014 and other statutes that do 

reach misleading conduct, and any precedent under the statute. And it ignores the 

rule of lenity, which forbids enforcement of Section 1014 against misleading 

statements or omissions. As Kurlemann, 736 F.3d at 448, explained in rejecting the 

theory that Section 1014 reaches misleading statements: “[W]hen choice has to be 

 
9 As the government argued in Freed: “Freed’s representations to the banks that the value 
of the TIF notes exceeded $7.6 million failed to account for the double pledging of the 
project note, worth approximately $2.1 million. Freed also lied during the December 15, 
2008 presentation: the representations about the costs of sale and proceeds from the sale of 
the Streets of Woodfield (another part of the collateral on the big line of credit and proposed 
collateral for the $10 million loan modification) were false because by that time the 
defendant had withdrawn approximately $3.6 million from Streets of Woodfield to keep 
JFA afloat. The representations made by Freed about the proceeds and cost of sale for 
Evanston Plaza were also false because they did not account for the more than $880,000 in 
unpaid property taxes on the property.” Gov’t Brief as Appellee at 8, Case No. 17–2816, 
Dkt. 54. 
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made between two readings of what conduct Congress has made a crime, it is 

appropriate, before we choose the harsher alternative, to require that Congress 

should have spoken in language that is clear and definite.” (quoting Williams, 458 

U.S. at 290). “The only thing ‘clear and definite’ here is that Congress did not 

proscribe concealment, half-truths, or omissions in § 1014.” Kurlemann, 736 F.3d at 

448. 

Because the statements Mr. Thompson made were literally true, he could not 

properly be convicted under Section 1014. 

II. The variance between the Indictment and the proof at trial constituted a 
constructive amendment of Counts One and Two, requiring entry of a 
judgment of acquittal. 

 
Independent of the fact that the Mr. Thompson’s statements were literally 

true, the convictions on Count One and Two cannot stand because the government 

constructively amended the indictment to conform the charge (he said he only owed 

$110,000 and no greater amount) to the proof (he said that he borrowed $110,000). 

But this has it exactly backwards: the proof must satisfy the charge, not the other 

way around.  

The distinction between the terms “borrowed” and “owed” mattered here. The 

difference between what Mr. Thompson recalled he had borrowed, $110,000, and 

what he putatively owed, $269,000, had two components: the two additional 

principal advances in 2013 and 2014 totaling $119,000 and the interest on what he 

had borrowed. However, Mr. Thompson did not say anything in either the February 

23 call with Planet nor the March 1 call with the FDIC contractors about the 
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amount of interest that accrued on his loan, let alone suggest that he did not owe 

interest on the amount he had borrowed. 

However, the government aggressively argued that his statement about what 

he had borrowed was false not only because of the other advances he had received 

but also because he in fact owed interest. (Gov’t closing argument, Tr. 1343:11–12 

(“He knows that he borrowed $219,000 plus interest.” (emphasis added)); see also 

Tr. 1338–39; Gov’t rebuttal, Tr. 1411.) Indeed, the government in rebuttal 

specifically (and falsely) told the jury that “he was telling them he’s only borrowed 

or owed, and he used those terms interchangeably, $110,000 and a higher amount is 

wrong” and “he knows the interest is going up.” (Tr. 1411:3–10.)  Accepting this 

argument, the jury was permitted to convict Mr. Thompson even if it believed that 

he did not recall the two additional principal advances because, according to the 

government, he necessarily knew that he owed more than $110,000 based just on 

the interest due.  

In other words, the government employed two related sleights of hand to 

convict Mr. Thompson of something he did not say. The first was to say that he used 

the terms “borrowed” and “owed” interchangeably when he did not. The second was 

to argue that his actual statement about borrowing $110,000 was false because it 

omitted the amount of interest he “borrowed” on that amount. While a bank may 

add unpaid interest to a loan balance, it is surely bizarre as a matter of the English 

language to say that someone “borrowed” the amount of unpaid interest on a 

principal balance owed. In effect, what the government did was to conform (that is, 
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alter) the charge to the proof to account for the fact that Mr. Thompson did not 

make the false statements with which he was charged. 

As a result, the jury was allowed to conflate the Indictment’s allegations with 

Mr. Thompson’s actual statements. This violated Mr. Thompson’s Fifth Amendment 

rights by constructively amending the indictment and broadening the possible bases 

for conviction beyond those charged by the grand jury. See United States v. 

Willoughby, 27 F.3d 263, 266 (7th Cir. 1994) (constructive amendment is reversible 

per se).  

Willoughby illustrates the point, and in a context in which the variance was 

far less meaningful than here. There the grand jury charged the defendant with use 

of a firearm “during and in relation to a drug trafficking crime, to wit: the 

distribution of cocaine.” Id. at 266. The evidence at trial, however, showed the 

defendant used a firearm in relation to possession with intent to distribute cocaine, 

not distribution of cocaine. Id. at 265–66. The Seventh Circuit held that the 

variance between the indictment and the proof constituted a constructive 

amendment and reversed the conviction. Id. 

Here, the divergence between the indictment and the evidence constitutes a 

reversible, constructive amendment, and not a mere variance. Mr. Thompson was 

charged with making specific false statements, that he “owed” $110,000 and no 

higher amount, when he said nothing at all about what he owed and his statement 

did not suggest anything about the interest on the $110,000. “A conviction that 
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rests, no matter how comfortably, on proof of another offense cannot stand.” Id. at 

266.  

III. The conviction on the second alleged false statement in Count Two must 
be reversed because there was no evidence that the statement—that the 
$110,000 loan was for “home improvement”—was made for the purpose of 
influencing the FDIC and the statement had no natural tendency to 
influence the FDIC. 

 
Count Two charged an additional false statement to the FDIC on March 1, 

2018 of which Mr. Thompson was convicted but which is no sounder than the 

others. Specifically, the government charged that Mr. Thompson lied when he 

supposedly said to the FDIC that he had used the $110,000 for “home improvement” 

rather than for its actual purpose, which was to make his equity contribution to his 

law firm.10  

The conviction is infirm because there was no evidence at all on the 

independent element required under Section 1014 that a false statement must have 

been made “for the purposes of influencing” the actions of the FDIC. 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1014. “[A] purpose to influence is an element of the crime.” United States v. 

Phillips, 731 F.3d 649, 655 (7th Cir. 2013) (en banc)). 

While materiality is not an element of the Section 1014 offense, “it is 

relevant. If the loan applicant doesn’t think his falsehood would influence the bank 

it is unlikely that in making it he intended to influence the bank.” Phillips, 731 F.3d 

at 652. To establish the “purpose” element here, the government was required to 

 
10 As explained in the Statement of the Case, there was considerable reason to believe that he 
did not make the “home improvement” statement at all. (See Tr. 1024–26, 1039–41; GX 
191.) This Court need not, however, reweigh the evidence on whether the “home 
improvement” statement was made in order to enter a judgment of acquittal. 
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establish that the statement had a “natural tendency” to influence the actions of the 

FDIC or else offer evidence that Mr. Thompson had reason to believe it would 

influence the FDIC. United States v. Wells, 519 U.S. 482, 499 (1997). “[I]t will be 

relatively rare that the Government will be able to prove that a false statement was 

made with the subjective intent of influencing a decision unless it could first prove 

that the statement has the natural tendency to influence the decision.” Id. 

(citations, quotation marks, and alterations omitted).   

The government offered nothing from which a jury could conclude that the 

natural tendency of the statement was to influence the FDIC in its collection of the 

debt. The context is critically important. This is not a case where a borrower 

deceives a financial institution about the purpose of a loan that he wishes to take 

out. Where, for example, a loan applicant says that he is taking out a loan to be 

used for home improvement when it will really go toward gambling or high-risk 

derivatives trading, it is easy to infer that he made the statement in order to trick 

the bank into making a loan it otherwise would not have made because that is the 

natural tendency of such a statement. 

There is nothing of the kind in this case. The false statement at issue was 

made in the context of the collection of the debt, not incurring it. Three 

representatives of the FDIC, Holly, Newell, and Special Agent Jacob Evans testified 

at trial, and not one of them even hinted how a false statement about what the loan 

had been used for years earlier could have had any tendency, let alone a natural 

tendency, to influence the actions of the FDIC in its collection of the debt. It is little 
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wonder that there was no such evidence adduced at trial, because in collecting the 

debt years later the FDIC is necessarily agnostic to what the original loan was 

made for. Mr. Thompson owed the $110,000 whether he borrowed it for his law firm, 

for home improvements, or for any other purpose, and the statement could not have 

dissuaded the FDIC from continuing its collection efforts. 11  

Without evidence of how the FDIC could have been influenced in its collection 

by the statement that the money was for home improvements, or that Mr. 

Thompson thought making it would influence the agency to leave him alone, there 

is no basis for concluding that Mr. Thompson had the purpose of influencing the 

FDIC in making it. What the government did here was thus eliminate an element of 

the crime and allow the jury to infer the unlawful purpose from the mere making of 

an inaccurate statement. That is exactly what this Court rejected en banc in 

Phillips, 731 F.3d at 651 (holding the “purpose to influence element” could not be 

satisfied merely by proving that a borrower signed false papers and submitted them 

to the bank in order to get a mortgage). 

Lacking any proof, in closing argument, the government offered nothing but 

wild and convoluted speculation about why Mr. Thompson might have lied about 

the purpose of the loan, laying conjecture on top of conjecture. The government’s 

theory seems to be that because the promissory note contained Mr. Thompson’s 

home address (even though it was not a mortgage note), Mr. Thompson must have 

 
11 While the trial court denied the motion for judgment of acquittal on this offense, the court 
commented that it “would not have been surprised if the jury had returned a not guilty 
verdict. . . .” (Dkt. 170 at 36.)  
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thought it “would look weird if he has a note that references property that was used 

for some other purpose,” and therefore said it was for home improvement because 

he did not want the FDIC to dig deeper on whether he had borrowed other amounts. 

(Gov’t closing, Tr. 1350:9–23.) 

This is not proof at all, and certainly not proof about the “natural tendency” 

of the statement. It is rather wholly unsupported and ludicrous conjecture. People 

take out loans referencing their property address—and loans actually made against 

their homes—every day for purposes other than improving their properties, such as 

funding a vacation or paying college tuition. Along these same lines, a borrower’s 

home address is routinely listed on loan paperwork having nothing to do with the 

borrower’s home—car loans, student loans, credit cards, and so on. There is nothing 

at all about the fact that the note referenced his home address to suggest that the 

natural tendency of the statement about what he used the $110,000 for was to cover 

up the existence of other amounts borrowed. “Criminal convictions are based on 

facts . . . not conjecture.” United States v. Sullivan, 903 F.2d 1093, 1099 (7th Cir. 

1990). That is all the government had here, piling unsupported inferences one upon 

the other. Id.   

The conviction for the home-improvements statement should be reversed and 

a judgment of acquittal should be entered by this Court. 
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IV. Without evidence that Mr. Thompson’s statements caused the FDIC to 
settle for $219,000, the district court lacked authority to impose the 
restitution order. 

 
Mr. Thompson repaid the $219,000 principal amount of his WFBS loans to 

the FDIC in December 2018. (DX 76.) That payment was part of a settlement in 

which the FDIC agreed to waive payment of the $50,120.58 putative interest that 

had accumulated on the loans. (DX 47.) The decision to settle for the principal was a 

“slam dunk” for Planet and the FDIC and related solely to the poor bank 

documentation of the loan. (Id.; Def. Offer of Proof, Tr. 861–62; DX 77 at 12:6–9, 

44:17–22.) Both Planet and the FDIC knew prior to the charged conversations the 

total amounts owed by Mr. Thompson, including the interest. (DX 9, DX 47, Tr. 

1079:1–5.) Mr. Thompson filed a formal objection to the Presentence Investigation 

Report explaining that restitution was unavailable in these circumstances. (Dkt. 

175 at 11–12.) Nonetheless, at sentencing, the district court imposed an order of 

restitution of $50,120.58 on Counts One and Two. That decision was error. 

The district court lacked authority to impose the restitution order because 

Mr. Thompson’s charged false statements did not cause the FDIC to agree to the 

principal-only settlement. A restitution award is authorized only with respect to 

that loss caused by the “specific conduct” that is the basis of the offense of 

conviction. Hughey v. United States, 495 U.S. 411, 413 (1990); United States v. 

Rand, 403 F.3d 489, 493–94 (7th Cir. 2005). Thus, “both the amount of restitution 

award and the persons to whom such an award may be directed are limited to the 
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circumstances of the offense for which the defendant has been convicted.” United 

States v. Randle, 324 F.3d 550, 556 (7th Cir. 2003).  

Moreover, the loss must be directly and proximately caused by the specific 

conduct. See United States v. Burns, 843 F.3d 679, 689 (7th Cir. 2016) (“The MVRA 

has a proximate cause requirement.”); 18 U.S.C. § 3663(a)(2) (defining “victim” as “a 

person directly and proximately harmed as a result of the commission of an 

offense”) (emphasis added). “Direct and proximate harm means that the loss would 

not have occurred ‘but for’ the offense and that it was ‘foreseeable.’” United States v. 

Clark, 787 F.3d 451, 463 (7th Cir. 2015). “The government has the burden of 

presenting a victim’s claim for restitution to the district court and to support that 

claim by a preponderance of the evidence.” United States v. Menza, 137 F.3d 533, 

537 (7th Cir. 1998).  

Neither reliance nor loss are elements of a violation of § 1014 (see 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1014; Dkt. 135, Jury Instructions at 22), so the jury’s verdict here implies nothing 

about the causation finding necessary to authorize a restitution order. The specific 

offense conduct here was Mr. Thompson’s alleged false statements about the 

amount and purpose of his loan. The charged false statements could not have 

caused the settlement because (1) the FDIC agreed to settle with Mr. Thompson for 

the $219,000 principal borrowed with full knowledge of the true facts regarding Mr. 

Thompson’s loan amount and purpose; and (2) the FDIC decided to settle because 

WFBS’s documentation was poor, not because Mr. Thompson initially said he 

borrowed $110,000 and that the loan was for home improvement. Simply put, the 
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false statements of which Mr. Thompson was convicted had no effect whatsoever on 

the claimed loss.  

The trial court’s explanation of its decision to impose restitution did not 

address the specific-conduct/causation standard. The trial court only stated that the 

unpaid interest was “encompassed within the circumstances of the offense. . . .” 

(Sent’g Tr. 15:24–16:4, Dkt. 197.) That is, of course, not the correct standard. 

Accordingly, the government failed to carry its burden at sentencing to prove the 

specific conduct caused the loss, and the district court lacked authority to enter the 

restitution order.  

CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons stated, Mr. Thompson respectfully requests that the Court 

enter a judgment of acquittal on Counts One and Two and vacate the restitution 

order on those counts.  

Dated: October 24, 2022    Respectfully submitted, 

       /s/ Chris Gair 
Chris Gair 
Jeffrey S. Eberhard 
Blake Edwards 
Gair Eberhard Nelson Dedinas Ltd. 
1 E. Wacker Drive, Suite 2600 
Chicago, IL 60601 
312/600-4901 
cgair@gairlawgroup.com 
jeberhard@gairlawgroup.com 
bedwards@gairlawgroup.com 

       Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant  
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CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH F.R.A.P. 32(a)(7) 
 

The undersigned, counsel of record for Defendant-Appellant Patrick D. 

Thompson, hereby certifies that the foregoing brief contains no more than 14,000 

words, in compliance with F.R.A.P. 32(a)(7) and Circuit Rule 32(c). The foregoing 

brief contains 10,222 words.    

 

Dated: October 24, 2022 /s/ Chris Gair 
Chris Gair 
Gair Eberhard Nelson Dedinas Ltd. 
1 E. Wacker Drive, Suite 2600 
Chicago, IL 60601 
312/600-4901 
cgair@gairlawgroup.com 
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 Pursuant to Circuit Rule 30(d), undersigned counsel certifies that all 

materials required by Circuit Rule 30(a) and (b) are included in the short appendix 

and supplemental appendix. 

Dated: October 24, 2022 /s/ Chris Gair 
Chris Gair 
Gair Eberhard Nelson Dedinas Ltd. 
1 E. Wacker Drive, Suite 2600 
Chicago, IL 60601 
312/600-4901 
cgair@gairlawgroup.com 
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A001

JLND 245C (Rev. 03/12/2020) Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case 
Sheet I 

(Note: Identify Changes with Asterisks(*)) 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
Northern District of Illinois 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 
PATRICK D. THOMPSON 

Date of Original Judgment: 07/12/2022 
(Or Date of Last Amended Judgment) 

Reason for Amendment: 
D Conection of Sentence on Remand (18 U.S.C. 3742(f)(l) and (2)) 

D Reduction of Sentence for Changed Circumstances (Fed. R. Crim. 
P. 35(b)) 

D Correction of Sentence by Sentencing Court (Fed. R. Crim. P. 35(a)) 

~ Correction of Sentence for Clerical Mistake (Fed. R. Crim. P. 36) 

THE DEFENDANT: 
D pleaded guilty to count(s) 

AMENDED JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 

Case Number: I :2 l-CR-00279(1) 

USM Number: 52701-509 

Chris C. Gair 
Defendant's Attorney 

~ Modification of Supervision Conditions (18 U.S.C. §§ 3563(c) or 

3583(e)) 

D Modification of Imposed Term of Imprisonment for Extraordinary 
and Compelling Reasons (18 U.S.C. § 3582(c)(l)) 

D Modification of Imposed Term of Imprisonment for Retroactive 

Amendment(s) to the Sentencing Guidelines (18 U.S.C. § 
3582(c)(2)) 

D Direct Motion to District Court Pursuant D 28 U.S.C. § 2255 

or D 18 U.S.C. § 3559(c)(7) 

~ Modification ofRestitution Order (18 U.S.C. § 3664) 

D pleaded nolo contendere to count(s) which was accepted by the court. 

~ was found guilty on count(s) I through 7 of the Indictment after a plea ofnot guilty. 

The defondant is adjudicated guilty of these offenses: 
Title & Section / Nature of Offense 
18 U.S.C. § 1014 Making False Statements to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
26 U.S.C. § 7206 (I), 26 U.S.c. § 7206 Filing False Individual Income Tax Returns 

Offense Ended 
10/15/2018 
l 0/ 15/2018 

Counts 
I - 2 
3-7 

The defendant is sentenced as provided in pages 2 through 8 of this judgment. The sentence is imposed pursuant to the Sentencing Reform 
Act of 1984. Other than the amendments or modifications stated in this judgment, the judgment previously entered shall stand. (See 
attachments) 

D The defendant has been found not guilty on count(s) 

D Count(s) «dismissd_counts» dismissed on the motion of the United States. 

It is ordered that the defendant must notify the United States attorney for this district within 30 days of any change of name, 
residence, or mailing address until all fines, restitution, costs, and special assessments imposed by this judgment are fully paid. If ordered to 
pay restitution, the defendant must notify the court and United States attorney of material changes in economic circumstances. 

ent 

Franklin U. Valderrama, United States District Judge 
Name and Title of Judge 

JJ~d·t-,2&Z 
Date 
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A002

ILND 245C (Rev. 03/12/2020) Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case 
Sheet 3 - Supervised Release 

(Note: Identify Changes with Asterisks (*)) 
Judgment - Page 2 of 5 

DEFENDANT: PATRICK D. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: l:21-CR-00279(1) 

* 

□ 

□ 

□ 
□ 
l8l 

l8l 

l8l 

(10) (intermittent confinement): you shall remain in the custody of the Bureau of Prisons during nights, weekends, or other 
intervals of time, totaling [no more than the lesser of one year or the term of imprisonment authorized for the 
offense], during the first year of the term of supervised release (provided, however, that a condition set forth in 
§3563(b)(10) shall be imposed only for a violation ofa condition of supervised release in accordance with§ 3583(e)(2) 
and only when facilities are available) for the following period · 

(I I) ( community confinement): you shall reside at, or participate in the program of a community cotTections facility 
(including a facility maintained or under contract to the Bureau of Prisons) for all or part of the te1m of supervised 
release, for a period of months. 

(12) you shall work in community service for hours as directed by a probation officer. 
(13) you shall reside in the following place or area: , or refrain from residing in a specified place or area: · 
(14) The Defendant can travel within the continental United States. He shall notify the probation office within 48 hours 
before such travel via email. 
(15) you shall report to the probation office in the federal judicial district to which you are released within 72 hours of your 

release from imprisonment. You shall thereafter report to a probation officer at reasonable times as directed by the court 
or a probation officer. 

( 16) 181 you shall permit a probation officer to visit you 181 at any reasonable time or D as specified: 

181 at home * D at work 181 at school 181 at a community service 

location 181 other reasonable location specified by a probation officer 
181 you shall permit confiscation of any contraband observed in plain view of the probation officer. 

181 (17) you shall notify a probation officer within 72 hours, after becoming aware of any change in residence, employer, or 
workplace and, absent constitutional or other legal privilege, answer inquiries by a probation officer. You shall answer 
truthfully any inquiries by a probation officer, subject to any constitutional or other legal privilege. 

181 (18) you shall notify a probation officer within 72 hours if after being arrested, charged with a crime, or questioned by a law 
enforcement officer. 

D (19) (home confinement) 

□ (a)(i) (home incarceration} for a period of_ months, you are restricted to your residence at all times except for 

medical necessities and court appearances or other activities specifically approved by the court. 

□ (a)(ii) (home detention) for a period of_ months, you are restricted to your residence at all times except for 

employment; education; religious services; medical, substance abuse, or mental health treatment; attorney visits; 
court appearances; court-ordered obligations; or other activities pre-approved by the probation officer. 

□ (a)(iii) (curfew) for a period of_ months, you are restricted to your residence every day. 

□ from the times directed by the probation officer; or □ from_ to _. 

□ (b} your compliance with this condition, as well as other court-imposed conditions of supervision, shall be 

monitored by a form oflocation monitoring technology selected at the discretion of the probation officer, and you 
shall abide by all technology requirements. 

□ (c) you shall pay all or part of the cost of the location monitoring, at the daily contractual rate, if you are 

financially able to do so. 
D (20) you shall comply with the terms of any comt order or order of an administrative process pursuant to the law of a State, 

the 
District of Columbia, or any other possession or territory of the United States, requiring payments by you for the support 
and maintenance of a child or of a child and the parent with whom the child is living. 

D (21} (deportation): you shall be surrendered to a duly authorized official of the Homeland Security Department for a 
determination on the issue of deportability by the appropriate authority in accordance with the laws under the 

Immigration 
and Nationality Act and the established implementing regulations. If ordered deported, you shall not remain in or enter 

181 
181 

the 

(22) 
(10) 

minus 

United States without obtaining, in advance, the express written consent of the United States Attorney General or the 
United States Secretary of the Department of Homeland Security. 
you shall satisfy such other special conditions as ordered below. 

you shall pay to the Clerk of the Court any financial obligation ordered herein that remains unpaid at the 
commencement of the term of supervised release, at a rate of not less than l 0% of the total of your gross earnings 

federal and state income tax withholdings, 
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A003

ILND 245C (Rev. 03/12/2020) Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case 
Sheet 3 - Supervised Release 

(Note: Identify Changes with Asterisks(*)) 
Judgment - Page 3 of S 

DEFENDANT: PATRICK D. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: l:21-CR-00279(1) 

* 

~ ( 11) you shall not enter into any agreement to act as an informer or special agent of a law enforcement agency without the 

□ 

□ 

□ 
~ 

(12) 

(13) 

(14) 
(15) 

prior permission of the court. 
you shall pay to the Clerk of the Court$ · as repayment to the United States of government funds you received 
during the investigation of this offense. (The Clerk of the Court shall remit the funds to (list both Agency and 
Address.) 
if the probation officer determines that you pose a risk to another person (including an organization or members of the 
community), the probation officer may require you to tell the person about the risk, and you must comply with that 
instruction. Such notification could include advising the person about your record of atTests and convictions and 
substance use. The probation officer may contact the person and confirm that you have told the person about the risk. 
You shall observe one Reentry Court session, as instructed by your probation officer. 
Other: The defendant shall repay $8,395 to the Internal Revenue Service at MS 6261 Restitution 333 West Pershing 
Road, Kansas City, MO 64108, which is owed to Internal Revenue Service as a condition of supervised release. 
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ILND 245C (Rev. 03/12/2020) Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case 
Sheet 5 - Criminal Monetary Penalties 

(Note: Identify Changes with Asterisks (*)) 
Judgment - Page 4 of 5 

DEFENDANT: PATRICK D. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: 1:21-CR-00279(1) 

CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES 
The defendant must pay the total criminal monetary penalties under the schedule of payments on Sheet 6. 

Assessment Restitution Fine AVAA Assessment* JVT A Assessment** 

TOTALS $700.00 

D The determination of restitution is deferred until 
such detennination. 

*$50,120.58 $.00 $.00 

. An Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case (AO 245C) will be entered after 

* 181 The defendant must make restitution (including community restitution) to the following payees in the amount listed below. 

$50,120.58 to the Federal Deposit Insurance at PO Box 971774 Dallas TX, 75397-1774 

$.00 

If the defendant makes a partial payment, each payee shall receive an approximately proportioned payment, unless specified otherwise in 
the priority order or percentage payment column below. However, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3664(i), all nonfederal victims must be paid 
before the United States is paid. 

See attached pages 

D Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement $ 

D The defendant must pay interest on restitution and a fine of more than $2,500, unless the restitution or fine is paid in full before 
the fifteenth day after the date of the judgment, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(f). All of the payment options on Sheet 6 may be 
subject to penalties for delinquency and default, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(g). 

181 The court determined that the defendant does not have the ability to pay interest and it is ordered that: 

* IZl the interest requirement is waived for the $50,120.58 restitution amount. 

D the interest requirement for the is modified as follows: 

* Amy, Vicky, and Andy Child Pornography Victim Assistance Act of 2018, Pub. L. No. I 15-299. 
** Justice for Victims of Trafficking Act of 2015, Pub. L. No. 114-22. 
*** Findings· for the total amount of losses are required under Chapters 109A, 110, I IOA, and 113A of Title 18 for offenses committed on or after September 
13, 1994, but before April 23, 1996. 
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SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS 

Having assessed the defendant's ability to pay, payment of the total criminal monetary penalties is due as follows: 

A *IZI Lump sum payment of $51,645.68 due immediately. 

D balance due not later than , or 

IZI balance due in accordance with D C, D D, IZI E, or IZI F below; or 

B D Payment to begin immediately (may be combined with D C, D D, or D F below); or 

C D Payment in equal (e.g. weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of$ over a period of (e.g., months or years), to 

commence (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after the date of this judgment; or 

D D Payment in equal (e.g. weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of$ over a period of (e.g., months o,. years) , to 

commence (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from imprisonment to a term of supervision; or 

E IZI Payment during the term of supervised release will commence within 60 (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from imprisonment. 
The court will set the payment plan based on an assessment of the defendant's ability to pay at that time; or 

F * IZI Special instructions regarding the payment of criminal monetary penalties: 
you shall pay to the Clerk of the Comi any fmancial obligation ordered herein that remains unpaid at the commencement of the term 
of supervised release, at a rate of not less than 10% of the total of your gross earnings minus federal and state income tax 

withholdings. 

Unless the comt has expressly ordered otherwise, if this judgment imposes imprisonment, payment of criminal moneta1y penalties is due 
during imprisonment. All criminal moneta1y penalties, except those payments made through the Federal Bureau of Prisons' Inmate Financial 
Responsibility Program, are made to the clerk of the comt. 

The defendant shall receive credit for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary penalties imposed. 

D Joint and Several 

Case Number 
Defendant and Co-Defendant Names 
(including defendant number) 

Total Amount Joint and Several 
Amount 

Corresponding Payee, if 
Appropriate 

**See above for Defendant and Co-Defendant Names and Case Numbers (including def endant number), Total Amount, Joint and Several 
Amount, and corresponding payee, if appropriate.** 

IZI The defendant shall pay the cost of prosecution.$ 1,525.10 

D The defendant shall pay the following court cost(s): 

D The defendant shall forfeit the defendant's interest in the following prope1ty to the United States: 

Payments shall be applied in the following order: (1) assessment, (2) restitution principal, (3) restitution interest, (4) A VAA assessment, (5) 
fine principal, (6) fine interest, (7) community restitution, (8) NTA assessment, (9) penalties, and (10) costs, including cost of prosecution 
and court costs. 
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ILND 245C (Rev. 03/12/2020) Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case 
Sheet I 

(Note: Identify Changes with Asterisks (*)) 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
Northern District of Illinois 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 
PATRICKD. THOMPSON 

Date of Original Judgment: 07/06/2022 
(Or Date of Last Amended Judgment) 

Reason for Amendment: 
D Correction of Sentence on Remand (18 U.S.C. 3742(1)(1) and (2)) 

0 Reduction of Sentence for Changed Circumstances (Fed. R. Crim. 
P. 35(b)) 

0 Correction of Sentence by Sentencing Court (Fed. R. Crim. P. 35(a)) 

1:8'.1 Correction of Sentence for Clerical Mistake (Fed. R. Crim. P. 36) 

THE DEFENDANT: 
0 pleaded guilty to count(s) 

AMENDED JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 

Case Number: l:21-CR-00279(1) 

USMNumber: 52701-509 

Chris C. Gair 
Defendant's Attorney 

D Modification of Supervision Conditions (18 U.S.C. §§ 3563(c) or 
3583(e)) 

D Modification oflmposed Term ofimprisonment for Extraordinary 
and Compelling Reasons (18 U.S.C. § 3582( c)(l )) 

D Modification oflmposed Term oflmprisonment for Retroactive 
Amendment(s) to the Sentencing Guidelines (18 U.S.C. § 
3582(c)(2)) 

D Direct Motion to District Court Pursuant O 28 U.S.C. § 2255 

or O 18 U.S.C. § 3559(c)(7) 

D Modification of Restitution Order (18 U.S.C. § 3664) 

D pleaded nolo contendere to count(s) which was accepted by the court. 

1:8'.1 was found guilty on count(s) 1 through 7 of the Indictment after a plea of not guilty. 

The defendant is adjudicated guilty of these offenses: 
Title & Section / Nature of Offense 
18 U.S.C. § 1014 Making False Statements to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
26 U.S.C. § 7206 (1), 26 U.S.c. § 7206 Filing False Individual Income Tax Returns 

Offense Ended 
10/15/2018 
10/15/2018 

Counts 
I - 2 
3 - 7 

The defendant is sentenced as provided in pages 2 through 8 of this judgment. The sentence is imposed pursuant to the Sentencing Reform 
Act of 1984. Other than the amendments or modifications stated in this judgment, the judgment previously entered shall stand. (See 
attachments) 

. D The defendant has been found not guilty on count(s) 

0 Count(s) «dismissd_counts» dismissed on the motion of the United States. 

It is ordered that the defendant must notify the United States attorney for this district within 30 days of any change of name, 
residence, or mailing address until all fines, restitution, costs, and special assessments imposed by this judgment are fully paid. If ordered to 
pay restitution, the defendant must notify the court and United States attorney of material changes in economic circumstances. 

July 12, 2022 

Franklin U. Valderrama, United States District Judge 
Name and Title of Judge 

.1- / 2-2 2-
Date 
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ILND 245C (Rev. 03/12/2020) Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case 
Sheet 2 - Imprisonment 

DEFENDANT: PATRICK D. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: 1:21-CR-00279(1) 

(Note: Identify Changes with Asterisks (*)) 
Judgment - Page 2 of 8 

IMPRISONMENT 

The defendant is hereby committed to the custody of the Federal of Prisons to be imprisoned for a total term of: 
4 months as to counts I through 7 to run concurrently. 

* ~ The court makes the following recommendations to the Bureau of Prisons: Defendant shall be housed at FPC Oxford in Wisconsin 

or at FPC Terre Haute, in Indiana. (FPC - Federal Prison Camp) 

181 The defendant is remanded to the custody of the United States Marshal. 

D The defendant shall surrender to the United States Marshal for this district: 

D at on 

D as notified by the United States Marshal. 

181 The defendant shall surrender for service of sentence at the institution designated by the Bureau of Prisons: 

181 before 2:00 pm on 8/22/2022 

D as notified by the United States Marshal. 

D as notified by the Probation or Pretrial Services Office. 

RETURN 

I have executed this judgment as follows: _ ____________ ______ ____________ _ 

Defendant delivered on _____ to __________ at ____________ , with a certified copy of this 

judgment. 

UNITED ST A TES MARSHAL 

By 
DEPUTY UNITED STATES MARSHAL 
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DEFENDANT: PATRICK D. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: 1:21-CR-00279(1) 

MANDATORY CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISED RELEASE PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C § 3583(d) 

The court imposes those conditions identified by checkmarks below: 

During the period of supervised release: 
181 ( 1) you shall not commit another Federal, State, or local crime. 

181 (2) you shall not unlawfully possess a controlled substance. 

□ 

□ 

(3) you shall attend a public, private, or private nonprofit offender rehabilitation program that has been approved by the coUJ1, if 
an approved program is readily available within a 50-mile radius of your legal residence. [Use for a first conviction of a 
domestic violence crime, as defined in§ 356l(b).] 

· (4) you shall register and comply with all requirements of the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act (42 U.S.C. § 
16913). 

(5) you shall cooperate in the collection of a DNA sample if the collection of such a sample is required by law. 

(6) you shall refrain from any unlawful use of a controlled substance AND submit to one drug test within 15 days ofrelease on 
supervised release and at least two periodic tests thereafter, up to 104 periodic tests for use of a controlled substance during 
each year of supervised release. [This mandatory condition may be ameliorated or suspended by the court for any defendant 
ifreliable sentencing information indicates a low risk offuture substance abuse by the defendant.] 

DISCRETIONARY CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISED RELEASE PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C § 3563(b) AND 
18 U.S.C § 3583(d) 

Discretionary Conditions - The court orders that you abide by the following conditions during the term of supervised release because such 
conditions are reasonably related to the factors set forth in § 3553(a)(l) and (a)(2)(B), (C), and (D); such conditions involve only such 
deprivations of liberty or property as are reasonably necessary for the purposes indicated in§ 3553 (a)(2) (B), (C). and {D); and such 
conditions are consistent with any pertinent policy statement issued by the Sentencing Commission pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 994a. 
The court imposes those conditions identified by checkmarks below: 

During the period of supervised release: 
181 (l) you shall provide financial support to any dependents if you are financially able to do so. 
181 (2) you shall make restitution to a victim of the offense under§ 3556 (but not subject to the limitation of§ 3663(a) or 

§ 3663A(c)(l}(A)). 
D (3) you shall give to the victims of the offense notice pursuant to the provisions of§ 3555, as follows: 
181 (4) you shall seek, and work conscientiously at, lawful employment or, if you are not gainfully employed, you shall pursue 

conscientiously a course of study or vocational training that will equip you for employment. 
D (5) you shall refrain from engaging in the following occupation, business, or profession bearing a reasonably direct relationship 

to the conduct constituting the offense, or engage in the following specified occupation, business, or profession only to a 
stated degree or under stated circumstances; (if checked yes, please indicate restriction(s)) ••· 

D (6) you shall not knowingly meet or communicate with any person whom you know to be engaged, or planning 
to be engaged, in criminal activity and not: 

D visit the following type of places: 
D knowingly meet or communicate with the following persons: 

D (7) you shall refrain from D any or □ excessive use of alcohol ( defined as D having a blood alcohol concentration 
greater than 0.08; or D ), and from any use of a narcotic drug or other controlled substance, as defined in § 102 
of the Controlled Substances Act {ll U.S.C. § 802), without a prescription by a licensed medical practitioner. 

· 181 (8) you shall not possess a firearm, destructive device, or other dangerous weapon. 
0 (9) D you shall participate, at the direction of a probation officer, in a substance abuse treatment program, which may 

include urine testing up to a maximum of 104 tests per year. 
D you shall participate, at the direction of a probation officer, in a mental health treatment program, and shall take 

any medications prescribed by the mental health treatment provider. 
D shall participate, at the direction of a probation officer, in medical care; (if checked yes, please specify: 
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(Note: Identify Changes with Asterisks(*)) 
Judgment- Page 4 of8 

D (10) (intermittent confinement): you shall remain in the custody of the Bureau of Prisons during nights, weekends, or other 
intervals of time, totaling ;'; )Si { no more than the lesser of one year or the term of imprisonment authorized for the 
offense], during the first year of the term of supervised release (provided, however, that a condition set forth in 
§3563(b )(10) shall be imposed only for a violation of a condition of supervised release in accordance with § 3583( e )(2) 
and only when facilities are available) for the following period > · ·. ' 

D (11) ( community confinement): you shall reside at, or participate in the program of a community c01Tections facility 
(including a facility maintained or under contract to the Bureau of Prisons) for all or part of the te1m of supervised 
release, for a period of!\;,Jr) months. 

D (12) you shall work in community service for 
D (13) you shall reside in the following place or ed . . ··· , . '·'·"· .• or refrain from residing in a specified place or 
181 (14) The Defendant can travel within the continental United States. He shall notify the probation office within 48 hours before 

such travel via email. 
181 ( 15) you shall report to the probation office in the federal judicial district to which you are released within 72 hours of your 

release from imprisonment. You shall thereafter report to a probation officer at reasonable times as directed by the court 
or a probation officer. 

181 (16) 181 you shall permit a probation officer to visit you 181 at any reasonable time or D as specified: 
181 at home 181 at work 181 at school 181 at a community service location 

181 other reasonable location specified by a probation officer 
181 you shall permit confiscation of any contraband observed in plain view of the probation officer. 

181 (17) you shall notify a probation officer within 72 hours, after becoming aware of any change in residence, employer, or 
workplace and, absent constitutional or other legal privilege, answer inquiries by a probation officer. You shall answer 
truthfully any inquiries by a probation officer, subject to any constitutional or other legal privilege. 

181 (18) you shall notify a probation officer within 72 hours if after being arrested, charged with a crime, or questioned by a law 
enforcement officer. 

D (19) (home confinement) 

□ (a)(i) (home incarceration) for a period of_ months, you are restricted to your residence at all times except for 

medical necessities and court appearances or other activities specifically approved by the court. 

□ (a)(ii) (home detention) for a period of_ months, you are restricted to your residence at all times except for 

employment; education; religious services; medical, substance abuse, or mental health treatment; attorney visits; 
com1 appearances; court-ordered obligations; or other activities pre-approved by the probation officer. 

□ (a)(iii) (curfew) for a period of_ months, you are restricted to your residence every day. 

□ from the times directed by the probation officer; or □ from _ to _ . 

□ (b) your compliance with this condition, as well as other court-imposed conditions of supervision, shall be monitored 

by a fonn of location monitoring technology selected at the discretion of the probation officer, and you shall abide 
by all technology requirements. 

□ (c) you shall pay all or pai1 of the cost of the location monitoring, at the daily contractual rate, if you are financially 

able to do so. 
D (20) you shall comply with the terms of any court order or order of an administrative process pursuant to the law of a State, the 

District of Columbia, or any other possession or ten·itory of the United States, requiring payments by you for the support 
and maintenance of a child or of a child and the parent with whom the child is living. 

D (21) ( deportation): you shall be surrendered to a duly authorized official of the Homeland Security Department for a 
detennination on the issue of deportability by the appropriate authority in accordance with the laws under the Immigration 
and Nationality Act and the established implementing regulations. If ordered deported, you shall not remain in or enter the 
United States without obtaining, in advance, the express written consent of the United States Attorney General or the 
United States Secretary of the Department of Homeland Security. 

~ (22) you shall satisfy such other special conditions as ordered below. 
D (23) You shall submit your person, property, house, residence, vehicle, papers [computers (as defined in 18 U. S.C. 1030(e)(l)), 

other electronic communications or data storage devices or media,] or office, to a search conducted by a United States 
Probation Officer(s). Failure to submit to a search may be grounds for revocation of release. You shall warn any other 
occupants that the premises may be subject to searches pursuant to this condition. An officer(s) may conduct a search 
pursuant to this condition only when reasonable suspicion exists that you have violated a condition of your supervision and 
that the areas to be searched contain evidence of this violation. Any search must be conducted at a reasonable time and in a 
reasonable manner. 

□ (24) Other: 
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DEFENDANT: PATRICK D. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: 1 :21-CR-00279(1) 

SPECIAL CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISED RELEASE PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. 3563(b)(22) and 3583(d) 
The court imposes those conditions identified by checkmarks below: 

During the term of supervised release: 
D (1) if you have not obtained a high school diploma or equivalent, you shall participate in a General Educational 

Development (GED) preparation course and seek to obtain a GED within the first year of supervision. 
D (2) you shall participate in an approved job skill-training program at the direction of a probation officer within the first 60 

days of placement on supervision. 
[8J (3) you shall, ifunemployed after the first 60 days of supervision, or if unemployed for 60 days after termination or lay-off 

from employment, perform at least 20 hours of community service per week at the direction of the probation office until 
gainfully employed. The total amount of community service required over your term of service shall not exceed 400 

hours. 
D (4) you shall not maintain employment where you have access to other individual's personal information, including, but not 

limited to, Social Security numbers and credit card numbers (or money) unless approved by a probation officer. 
[8J (5) you shall not incur new credit charges or open additional lines of credit without the approval of a probation officer 

unless you are in compliance with the financial obligations imposed by this judgment. 
[8J (6) you shall provide a probation officer with access to any requested financial information requested by the probation 

officer to monitor compliance with conditions of supervised release. 

[8J (7) 

[8J (8) 

□ (9) 

within 72 hours of any significant change in your economic circumstances that might affect your ability to pay 
restitution, fines, or special assessments, you must notify the probation officer of the change. 
you shall file accurate income tax returns and pay all taxes, interest, and penalties as required by law. 

you shall participate in a sex offender treatment program. The specific program and provider will be determined by a 
probation officer. You shall comply with all recommended treatment which may include psychological and physiological 
testing. You shall maintain use of all prescribed medications. 

□ You shall comply with the requirements of the Computer and Internet Monitoring Program as administered by the 

United States Probation Office. You shall consent to the installation of computer monitoring software on all 
identified computers to which you have access and to which the probation officer has legitimate access by right or 
consent. The software may restrict and/or record any and all activity on the computer, including the capture of 
keystrokes, application information, Internet use history, email correspondence, and chat conversations. A notice 
will be placed on the computer at the time of installation to warn others of the existence of the monitoring 
software. You shall not remove, tamper with, reverse engineer, or in any way circumvent the software. 

□ The cost of the monitoring shall be paid by you at the monthly contractual rate, if you are financially able, subject 

to satisfaction of other financial obligations imposed by this judgment. 

□ You shall not possess or use at any location (including your place of employment), any computer, external storage 

device, or any device with access to the Internet or any online computer service without the prior approval of a 
probation officer. This includes any Internet service provider, bulletin board system, or any other public or private 
network or email system 

□ You shall not possess any device that could be used for covert photography without the prior approval of a 

probation officer. 

□ You shall not view or possess child pornography. If the treatment provider determines that exposure to other 

sexually stimulating material may be detrimental to the treatment process, or that additional conditions are likely 
to assist the treatment process, such proposed conditions shall be promptly presented to the court, for a 
determination, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3583(e)(2), regarding whether to enlarge or otherwise modify the 
conditions of supervision to include conditions consistent with the recommendations of the treatment provider. 

□ You shall not, without the approval of a probation officer and treatment provider, engage in activities that will put 

you in unsupervised private contact with any person under the age of 18, and you shall not knowingly visit 
locations where persons under the age of 18 regularly congregate, including parks, schools, school bus stops, 
playgrounds, and childcare facilities. This condition does not apply to contact in the course of normal commercial 
business or unintentional incidental contact 

□ This condition does not apply to your family members: [Names] 

O Your employment shall be restricted to the judicial district and division where you reside or are supervised, unless 

approval is granted by a probation officer. Prior to accepting any form of employment, you shall seek the 
approval of a probation officer, in order to allow the probation officer the opportunity to assess the level of risk to 
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DEFENDANT: PATRICK D. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: l:21-CR-00279(1) 

ti3l (10) 

ti3l (11) 

□ (12) 

□ (13) 

□ (14) 
□ (15) 

the community you will pose if employed in a particular capacity. You shall not participate in any volunteer 
activity that may cause you to come into direct contact with children except under circumstances approved in 
advance by a probation officer and treatment provider. 

D You shall provide the probation officer with copies of your telephone bills, all credit card statements/receipts, and 

any other financial information requested. 

D You shall comply with all state and local laws pertaining to convicted sex offenders, including such laws that 

impose restrictions beyond those set forth in this order. 
you shall pay to the Clerk of the Court any financial obligation ordered herein that remains unpaid at the 
commencement of the term of supervised release, at a rate of not less than 10% of the total of your gross earnings minus 

federal and state income tax withholdings. 
you shall not enter into any agreement to act as an informer or special agent of a law enforcement agency without the 
prior permission of the court. 
you shall pay to the Clerk of the Court as repayment to the United States of gov~rrutl<.:i:tt fti~d.~y()11,r<.:s<.:iy,t:ci 
during the investigation of this offense. (The Clerk of the Court shall remit the funds to• • ' (li.$fl:iotl:i'.A,;g~n,¢yijri<l, 
A\far~$$,.) 
if the probation officer determines that you pose a risk to another person (including an organization or members of the 
community), the probation officer may require you to tell the person about the risk, and you must comply with that 
instruction. Such notification could include advising the person about your record of arrests and convictions and 
sub.~t~n?euse. The,pro~ati()n.()fQcer~~~/?o.r1t~ctth~ p~1·s?n, ar1d~?n~rmthatyo11haye told the person about the risk. 
!·&Bjt,isi)~i.f9'6~tirve·•.d#e:ieen;try,CQurt•$es~ioh;•:a~.UlStructed'.·byiyourproBaiion•M'fi:c~r; 
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DEFENDANT: PATRICK D. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: l:21-CR-00279(1) 

CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES 
The defendant must pay the total criminal monetmy penalties under the schedule of payments on Sheet 6. 

Assessment Restitution Fine AV AA Assessment* JVT A Assessment** 
TOTALS $700.00 

D The determination of restitution is deferred until 
such determination. 

$58,515.58 $.00 $.00 

. An Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case (AO 245C) will be entered after 

181 The defendant must make restitution (including community restitution) to the following payees in the amount listed below. 

$50,120.58 to the Federal Deposit Insurance at PO Box 971774 Dallas TX, 75397-1774 
$8,395 to the Internal Revenue Service at MS 6261 Restitution 333 West Pershing Road, Kansas City, MO 64108 

$.00 

If the defendant makes a partial payment, each payee shall receive an approximately proportioned payment, unless specified otherwise in 
the priority order or percentage payment column below. However, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3664(i), all nonfederal victims must be paid 
before the United States is paid. 

See attached pages 

0 Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement $ 

D The defendant must pay interest on restitution and a fine of more than $2,500, unless the restitution or fine is paid in full before 
the fifteenth day after the date of the judgment, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(1). All of the payment options on Sheet 6 may be 
subject to penalties for delinquency and default, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(g). 

1:81 The court determined that the defendant does not have the ability to pay interest and it is ordered that: 

181 the interest requirement is waived for the $58,515.58 restitution amount. 

D the interest requirement for the is modified as follows: 

* Amy, Vicky, and Andy Child Pornography Victim Assistance Act of20l8, Pub. L. No. 115-299. 
** Justice for Victims of Trafficking Act of 2015, Pub. L. No. 114-22. 
*** Findings for the total amount of losses are required under Chapters 109A, 110, I lOA, and 113A of Title 18 for offenses committed on or after September 
13, 1994, but before April 23, 1996. 
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DEFENDANT: PATRICKD. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: l:21-CR-00279(1) 

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS 

Having assessed the defendant's ability to pay, payment of the total criminal monetary penalties is due as follows: 

A t8l Lump sum payment of$60,740.68 due immediately. 

D balance due not later than , or 

t8l balance due in accordance with D C, D D, 1:81 E, or t8l F below; or 

B O Payment to begin immediately (may be combined with D C, D D, or D F below); or 

C D Payment in equal (e.g. weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of$ over a period of 

commence (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after the date of this judgment; or 

D D Payment in equal (e.g. weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of$ over a period of 
commence (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from imprisonment to a term of supervision; or 

(e.g., months or years), to 

(e.g., months or years), to 

E t8l Payment during the term of supervised release will commence within 60 (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from imprisonment. 
The court will set the payment plan based on an assessment of the defendant's ability to pay at that time; or 

F 1:81 Special instmctions regarding the payment of criminal monetary penalties: 
The $8,395 payment to the Internal Revenue Service must be made in full during the period of supervised release. 

Unless the court has expressly ordered otherwise, if this judgment imposes imprisonment, payment of criminal monetary penalties is due 
during imprisonment. All criminal monetary penalties, except those payments made through the Federal Bureau of Prisons' Inmate Financial 
Responsibility Program, are made to the clerk of the court. 

The defendant shall receive credit for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary penalties imposed. 

D Joint and Several 

Case Number 
Defendant and Co-Defendant Names 
(including defendant number) 

Total Amount Joint and Several 
Amount 

Corresponding Payee, if 
Appropriate 

**See above for Defendant and Co-Defendant Names and Case Numbers (including defendant number), Total Amount, Joint and Several 
Amount, and corresponding payee, if appropriate.** 

t8l The defendant shall pay the cost of prosecution.$ 1,525.10 

D The defendant shall pay the following court cost(s): 

D The defendant shall forfeit the defendant's interest in the following property to the United States: 

Payments shall be applied in the following order: (1) assessment, (2) restitution principal, (3) restitution interest, (4) AVAA assessment, (5) 
fine principal, (6) fine interest, (7) community restitution, (8) JVTA assessment, (9) penalties, and (lO) costs, including cost of prosecution 

and court costs. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
Northern District of Illinois 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 

PATRICK D. THOMPSON 

THE DEFENDANT: 
D pleaded guilty to count(s) 

Case Number: 

USM Number: 

Chris C. Gair 
Defendant's Attorney 

D pleaded nolo contendere to count(s) which was accepted by the court. 

IZI was found guilty on count(s) 1 through 7 of the Indictment after a plea of not guilty. 

The defendant is adjudicated guilty of these offenses: 
Title & Section / Nature of Offense 
18 U.S.C. § 1014 Making False Statements to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
26 U.S.C. § 7206 (1), 26 U.S.c. § 7206 Filing False Individual Income Tax Returns 

I :2 l-CR-00279( 1) 

52701-509 

Offense Ended 
10/15/2018 
10/15/2018 

Counts 
l - 2 
3-7 

The defendant is sentenced as provided in pages 2 through 8 of this judgment. The sentence is imposed pursuant to the Sentencing Reform 
Act of 1984. 

D The defendant has been found not guilty on count(s) 

D Count(s) dismissed on the motion of the United States. 

Jt(is' ordered that the defendant must notify the United States Attorney for this District within 30 days of any change of name, residence, or 
mailing address until all fines, restitution, costs, and special assessments imposed by this judgment are fully paid. If ordered to pay 
restitution, the defendant must notify the court and United States Attorney of material changes in economic circumstances. 

July 6, 2022 
Date oflmposition of Ju gment 

I 

Franklin U. Valdenama, United States District Judge 

Name and Title ofJudge 
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DEFENDANT: PATRICK D. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: 1:21-CR-00279(1) 

IMPRISONMENT 

The defendant is hereby committed to the custody of the Federal Bureau of Prisons to be imprisoned for a total term of: 
4 months as to counts l through 7 to run concurrently. 

Judgment - Page 2 of 8 

~ The court makes the following recommendations to the Bureau of Prisons: Defendant shall be housed at FCI Oxford in Wisconsin or 

at FCI Terre Haute, in Indiana. 

~ The defendant is remanded to the custody of the United States Marshal. 

D The defendant shall surrender to the United States Marshal for this district: 

□ at on 

D as notified by the United States Marshal. 

~ The defendant shall surrender for service of sentence at the institution designated by the Bureau of Prisons: 

~ before 2:00 pm on 08/22/2022. 

D as notified by the United States Marshal. 

D as notified by the Probation or Pretrial Services Office. 

RETURN 

I have executed this judgment as follows: _ __________ _____________ _ ______ _ 

Defendant delivered on _____ to ________ __ at ___________ ___, with a certified copy of this 

judgment. 

UNITED STA TES MARSHAL 

By ------------ ---- -
DEPUTY UNITED STA TES MARSHAL 
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DEFENDANT: PATRICK D. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: l:21-CR-00279(1) 
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MANDATORY CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISED RELEASE PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C § 3583(d) 

1,!J)C>l1!,~l~~~.e.ft9111,.j111pri~g11111~nt,, yc,t1 ~hal,l ~~ e>,11.~1,1p~~t~~.~ r~l~~s~ for a term of: 
~~W~\tJ+Hiii),#th:sJe.n:ns to runc<>i:i~lllTeµtly as #i·c:ountsJ:·t11iot1@1 7:. 

The court imposes those conditions identified by checkmarks below: 

During the period of supervised release: 
cgi (1) you shall not commit another Federal, State, or local crime. 

[gl 

□ 

□ 

[gl 

□ 

(2) you shall not unlawfully possess a controlled substance. 

(3) you shall attend a public, private, or private nonprofit offender rehabilitation program that has been approved by the court, if 
an approved program is readily available within a 50-mile radius of your legal residence. [Use for a first conviction of a 
domestic violence crime, as defined in§ 356l(b).] 

(4) you shall register and comply with all requirements of the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act (42 U.S.C. § 
16913). 

(5) you shall cooperate in the collection ofa DNA sample if the collection of such a sample is required by law. 

(6) you shall refrain from any unlawful use of a controlled substance AND submit to one drug test within 15 days of release on 
supervised release and at least two periodic tests thereafter, up to 104 periodic tests for use of a controlled substance during 
each year of supervised release. [This mandatory condition may be ameliorated or suspended by the court for any defendant 
if reliable sentencing information indicates a low risk of future substance abuse by the defendant.] 

DISCRETIONARY CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISED RELEASE PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C § 3563(b) AND 
18 U.S.C § 3583(d) 

Discretionary Conditions - The court orders that you abide by the following conditions during the term of supervised release because such 
conditions are reasonably related to the factors set forth in § 3553{a)(l) and (a)(2)(B), (C). and (D}; such conditions involve only such 
deprivations of liberty or property as are reasonably necessary for the purposes indicated in§ 3553 (a)(2) (B), (C), and {D); and such 
conditions are consistent with any pertinent policy statement issued by the Sentencing Commission pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 994a. 
The court imposes those conditions identified by checkmarks below: 

During the period of supervised release: 
181 (1) you shall provide financial support to any dependents if you are financially able to do so. 
181 (2) you shall make restitution to a victim of the offense under§ 3556 (but not subject to the limitation of§ 3663(a) or 

§ 3663A(c)(l)(A)). 
□ (3) you shall give to the victims of the offense notice pursuant to the provisions of§ 3555, as follows: 
181 (4) you shall seek, and work conscientiously at, lawful employment or, if you are not gainfully employed, you shall pursue 

conscientiously a course of study or vocational training that will equip you for employment. 
D (5) you shall refrain from engaging in the following occupation, business, or profession bearing a reasonably direct relationship 

to the conduct constituting the offense, or engage in the following specified occupation, business, or profession only to a 
stated degree or under stated circumstances; (if checked yes, please indicate restriction(s)) · · · ·· 

D (6) you shall not knowingly meet or communicate with any person whom you know to be engaged, or planning 
to be engaged, in criminal activity and s,haH not: 

D visit the following type of places: :'E< · 
D knowingly meet or communicate with the following persons: 

D (7) you shall refrain from D any or □ excessive use of alcohol (defined as D having a blood alcohol concentration 
greater than 0.08; or D ), and from any use ofa narcotic drug or other controlled substance, as defmed in§ 102 
of the Controlled Substances Act (ll U.S.C. § 802), without a prescription by a licensed medical practitioner. 

181 (8) you shall not possess a firearm, destructive device, or other dangerous weapon. 
□ (9) D you shall participate, at the direction of a probation officer, in a substance abuse treatment program, which may 

include urine testing up to a maximum of I 04 tests per year. 
D you shall participate, at the direction of a probation officer, in a mental health treatment program, and shall take 

any medications prescribed by the mental health treatment provider. 
□ shall participate, at the direction of a probation officer, in medical care; (if checked yes, please specify: 
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□ 

□ 

□ 
□ 
181 

181 

181 

181 

[81 

□ 

(10) (intennittent confmement): youshall remain in the custody of the Bureau of Prisons during nights, weekends, or other 
intervals of time, totaling \ ' ' () [ no more than the lesser of one year or the term of imprisonment authorized for the 
offense], during the first year of the term of supervised release (provided, however, that a condition set forth in 
§3563(b)(10) shall be imposed only for a violation ofa condition of~upervised release in accordance with§ 3583(e)(2) 
and only when facilities are available) for the following period / 

( 11) ( community confinement): you shall reside at, or participate in the program of a community corrections facility 
(including a facility maintained or under contract to the Bureau of Prisons) for all or part of the term of supervised 
release, for a period of''U.u:; months. 

(12) you shall work in community service for 
(13) you shall reside in the following place or or refrain from residing in a specified place or 
(14) The Defendant can travel within the continental United States. He shall notify the probation office within 48 hours before 
such travel via email. 
(15) you shall report to the probation office in the federal judicial district to which you are released within 72 hours of your 

release from imprisonment. You shall thereafter report to a probation officer at reasonable times as directed by the court 
or a probation officer. 

(16) 181 you shall pennit a probation officer to visit you 181 at any reasonable time or □ as specified: 
181 at home □ at work 181 at school 181 at a community service location 

181 other reasonable location specified by a probation officer 
181 you shall pe1mit confiscation of any contraband observed in plain view of the probation officer. 

(17) you shall notify a probation officer within 72 hours, after becoming aware of any change in residence, employer, or 
workplace and, absent constitutional or other legal privilege, answer inquiries by a probation officer. You shall answer 
truthfully any inquiries by a probation officer, subject to any constitutional or other legal privilege. 

( 18) you shall notify a probation officer within 72 hours if after being arrested, charged with a crime, or questioned by a law 
enforcement officer. 

(19) (home confmement) 

□ (a)(i) (home incarceration) for a period of_ months, you are restricted to your residence at all times except for 

medical necessities and court appearances or other activities specifically approved by the court. 

□ (a)(ii) (home detention) for a period of_ months, you are restricted to your residence at all times except for 

employment; education; religious services; medical, substance abuse, or mental health treatment; attorney visits; 
court appearances; court-ordered obligations; or other activities pre-approved by the probation officer. 

□ (a)(iii) (curfew) for a period of_ months, you are restricted to your residence every day. 

□ from the times directed by the probation officer; or □ from _ to _. 

□ (b) your compliance with this condition, as well as other court-imposed conditions of supervision, shall be monitored 

by a form of location monitoring technology selected at the discretion of the probation officer, and you shall abide 
by all technology requirements. 

□ (c) you shall pay all or part of the cost of the location monitoring, at the daily contractual rate, if you are financially 

able to do so. 
□ (20) you shall comply with the terms of any cou1t order or order of an administrative process pursuant to the law of a State, the 

District of Columbia, or any other possession or territory of the United States, requiring payments by you for the support 
and maintenance of a child or of a child and the parent with whom the child is living. 

D (21) ( deportation): you shall be surrendered to a duly authorized official of the Homeland Security Department for a 
detennination on the issue of deportability by the appropriate authority in accordance with the laws under the Immigration 
and Nationality Act and the established implementing regulations. If ordered deported, you shall not remain in or enter the 
United States without obtaining, in advance, the express written consent of the United States Attorney General or the 
United States Secretary of the Department of Homeland Security. 

181 (22) you shall satisfy such other special conditions as ordered below. 
□ (23) You shall submit your person, property, house, residence, vehicle, papers [computers (as defined in 18 U.S.C. 1030(e)(l)), 

other electronic communications or data storage devices or media,] or office, to a search conducted by a United States 
Probation Officer(s). Failure to submit to a search may be grounds for revocation of release. You shall warn any other 
occupants that the premises may be subject to searches pursuant to this condition. An officer(s) may conduct a search 
pursuant to this condition only when reasonable suspicion exists that you have violated a condition of your supervision and 
that the areas to be searched contain evidence of this violation. Any search must be conducted at a reasonable time and in a 
reasonable manner. 

D (24) Other: 
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SPECIAL CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISED RELEASE PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. 3563(b)(22) and 3583(d) 
The court imposes those conditions identified by checkmarks below: 

During the term of supervised release: 
D (1) if you have not obtained a high school diploma or equivalent, you shall participate in a General Educational 

Development (GED) preparation course and seek to obtain a GED within the first year of supervision. 
D (2) you shall participate in an approved job skill-training program at the direction of a probation officer within the first 60 

days of placement on supervision. 
~ (3) you shall, if unemployed after the first 60 days of supervision, or if unemployed for 60 days after termination or lay-off 

from employment, perform at least 20 hours of community service per week at the direction of the probation office until 
gainfully employed. The total amount of community service required over your term of service shall not exceed 400 

hours. 
D (4) you shall not maintain employment where you have access to other individual's personal information, including, but not 

limited to, Social Security numbers and credit card numbers (or money) unless approved by a probation officer. 
~ (5) you shall not incur new credit charges or open additional lines of credit without the approval of a probation officer 

unless you are in compliance with the financial obligations imposed by this judgment. 
~ (6) you shall provide a probation officer with access to any requested financial inf01mation requested by the probation 

officer to monitor compliance with conditions of supervised release. 

~ (7) 

~ (8) 

D (9) 

within 72 hours of any significant change in your economic circumstances that might affect your ability to pay 
restitution, fines, or special assessments, you must notify the probation officer of the change. 
you shall file accurate income tax returns and pay all taxes, interest, and penalties as required by law. 

you shall participate in a sex offender treatment program. The specific program and provider will be determined by a 
probation officer. You shall comply with all recommended treatment which may include psychological and physiological 
testing. You shall maintain use of all prescribed medications. 

□ You shall comply with the requirements of the Computer and Internet Monitoring Program as administered by the 

United States Probation Office. You shall consent to the installation of computer monitoring software on all 
identified computers to which you have access and to which the probation officer has legitimate access by right or 
consent. The software may restrict and/or record any and all activity on the computer, including the capture of 
keystrokes, application information, Internet use history, email c01Tespondence, and chat conversations. A notice 
will be placed on the computer at the time of installation to warn others of the existence of the monitoring 
software. You shall not remove, tamper with, reverse engineer, or in any way circumvent the software. 

□ The cost of the monitoring shall be paid by you at the monthly contractual rate, if you are financially able, subject 

to satisfaction of other financial obligations imposed by this judgment. 

□ You shall not possess or use at any location (including your place of employment), any computer, external storage 

device, or any device with access to the Internet or any online computer service without the prior approval of a 
probation officer. This includes any Internet.service provider, bulletin board system, or any other public or private 
network or email system 

□ You shall not possess any device that could be used for covert photography without the prior approval of a 

probation officer. 

□ You shall not view or possess child pornography. If the treatment provider determines that exposure to other 

sexually stimulating material may be .detrimental to the treatment process, or that additional conditions are likely 
to assist the treatment process, such proposed conditions shall be promptly presented to the court, for a 
determination, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3583(e)(2), regarding whether to enlarge or othe1wise modify the 
conditions of supervision to include conditions consistent with the recommendations of the treatment provider. 

□ You shall not, without the approval of a probation officer and treatment provider, engage in activities that will put 

you in unsupervised private contact with any person tinder the age of 18, and you shall not knowingly visit 
locations where persons under the age of 18 regularly congregate, including parks, schools, school bus stops, 
playgrounds, and childcare facilities. This condition does not apply to contact in the course of normal commercial 
business or unintentional incidental contact 

□ This condition does not apply to your family members: [Names] 

□ Your employment shall be restricted to the judicial district and division where you reside or are supervised, unless 

approval is granted by a probation officer. Prior to accepting any form of employment, you shall seek the 
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IZl (10) 

IZl (11) 

□ (12) 

□ (13) 

□ (14) 
□ (15) 

approval of a probation officer, in order to allow the probation officer the opportunity to assess the level of risk to 
the community you will pose if employed in a particular capacity. You shall not participate in any volunteer 
activity that may cause you to come into direct contact with children except under circumstances approved in 
advance by a probation officer and treatment provider. 

□ You shall provide the probation officer with copies of your telephone bills, all credit card statements/receipts, and 

any other financial infonnation requested. 

□ You shall comply with all state and local laws pertaining to convicted sex offenders, including such laws that 

impose restrictions beyond those set forth in this order. 
you shall pay to the Clerk of the Court any financial obligation ordered herein that remains unpaid at the 
commencement of the term of supervised release, at a rate of not less than 10% of the total of your gross earnings minus 
federal and state income tax withholdings. 
you shall not enter into any agreement' to act as an infonner or special agent of a law enforcement agency without the 
prior permission of the court. 
you shall pay to the Clerk of the Court as repayment to the United States of goverrune11t fu11dsyo11 received 
during the investigation of this offense. (The Clerk of the Court shall remit the funds to : y: . (list l,Jhtb.Ag~ncy~nd 
iai;tf~s$.) 
if the probation officer determines that you pose a risk to another person (including an organization or members of the 
community), the probation officer may require you to tell the person about the risk, and you must comply with that 
instruction. Such notification could include advising the person about your record of arrests and convictions and 

s~~~t.~11s~. llS,~:}.ht! pr,99~ti911, 9f~c:~rl:!1_!1Y, 9C?,pt11.ct th~ pe,r,s9n a11q c:opfi~,that Y()U haye told the person about the risk. 
•·ypµ:$h~Uo!:i/;ervfon~-Reentry. Coilit:'sessio11;•.&S insiiuctedby. your •probatiQn .• officer. 
Other:_••·.:.:..•·•.••• · · · '·?/ ] 
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CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES 
The defendant must pay the total criminal monetary penalties under the schedule of payments on Sheet 6. 

Assessment Restitution Fine AVAA Assessment* JVTA Assessment** 
TOTALS $700.00 $58,515.58 $0.00 $.00 $.00 

D The determination of restitution is deferred until . An Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case (AO 245C) will be entered after such 

determination. 
1:81 The defendant must make restitution (including community restitution) to the following payees in the amount listed below. 

$50,120.58 to the Federal Deposit Insurance at PO Box 971774 Dallas TX, 75397-1774 
$8,395 to the Internal Revenue Service at MS 6261 Restitution 333 West Pershing Road, Kansas City, MO 64108 

If the defendant makes a partial payment, each payee shall receive an approximately propo1tioned payment, unless specified 
otherwise in the priority order or percentage payment column below. However, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3664(i), all nonfederal 
victims must be paid before the United States is paid. 

See attached pages 

D Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement $ 

D The defendant must pay interest on restitution and a fine of more than $2,500, unless the restitution or fine is paid in full 
before the fifteenth day after the date of the judgment, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612((). All of the payment options on Sheet 
6 may be subject to penalties for delinquency and default, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(g). 

The comt determined that the defendant does not have the ability to pay interest and it is ordered that: 

1:81 

□ 

the interest requirement is waived for the $58,515.58 restitution amount. 

the interest requirement for the is modified as follows: 

D The defendant's non-exempt assets, if any, are subject to immediate execution to satisfy any outstanding restitution or fine 
obligations. 

* Amy, Vicky, and Andy Child Pornography Victim Assistance Act of 2018, Pub. L. No. 115-299. 
** Justice for Victims of Trafficking Act of 2015, Pub. L. No. 114-22. 
*** Findings for the total amount of losses are required under Chapters I 09A, 110, l IOA, and 113A of Title 18 for offenses committed on or after 
September 13, 1994, but before April 23, 1996. 

Case: 22-2254      Document: 9            Filed: 10/24/2022      Pages: 154



Case: 1:21-cr-00279 Document #: 198 Filed: 07/27/22 Page 21 of 21 PageID #:4295

A021

ILND 245B (Rev. 03/12/2020) Judgment in a Criminal Case 
Sheet 6 - Schedule of Payments 

DEFENDANT: PATRICK D. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: 1 :2 l-CR-00279(1) 

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS 

Having assessed the defendant's ability to pay, payment of the total criminal monetary penalties is due as follows: 

A t8l Lump sum payment of$60,740.68 due immediately. 

B 

C 

D 

□ 

□ 

□ balance due not later than , or 

t8l balance due in accordance with D C, D D, l8l E, or t8l F below; or 

Payment to begin immediately (may be combined with D C, D D, or D F below); or 

Payment in equal (e.g. weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of$ over a period of 

commence (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after the date of this judgment; or 

D Payment in equal (e.g. weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of$ over a period of 
commence (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from imprisonment to a term of supervision; or 

Judgment- Page 8 of8 

(e.g., months or years), to 

(e.g., months or year~), to 

E 18] Payment during the term of supervised release will commence within 60 (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from imprisonment. 
The court will set the payment plan based on an assessment of the defendant's ability to pay at that time; or 

F 18] Special instructions regarding the payment of criminal monetary penalties: 
The $8,395 payment to the Internal Revenue Service must be made in full during the period of supervised release. 

Unless the court has expressly ordered otherwise, if this judgment imposes imprisonment, payment of criminal monetary penalties is due 
during imprisonment. All criminal monetary penalties, except those payments made through the Federal Bureau of Prisons' Inmate Financial 
Responsibility Program, are made to the clerk of the court. 

The defendant shall receive credit for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary penalties imposed. 

D Joint and Several 

Case Number 
Defendant and Co-Defendant Names 
(including defendant number) 

Total Amount Joint and Several 
Amount 

Corresponding Payee, if 
Appropriate 

**See above for Defendant and Co-Defendant Names and Case Numbers (including defendant number), Total Amount, Joint and Several 
Amount, and corresponding payee, if appropriate.** 

t8J The defendant shall pay the cost of prosecution. $ 1,525.10. 

D The defendant shall pay the following court cost(s): 

D The defendant shall forfeit the defendant's interest in the following property to the United States: 

Payments shall be applied in the following order: (1) assessment, (2) restitution principal, (3) restitution interest, (4) AVAA assessment, (5) 
fine principal, (6) fine interest, (7) community restitution, (8) JVTA assessment, (9) penalties, and (IO) costs, including cost of prosecution 
and court costs. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
N orthem District of Illinois 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 
PATRICKD. THOMPSON 

Date of Original Judgment: 07/06/2022 
(Or Date of Last Amended Judgment) 

Reason for Amendment: 

D Correction of Sentence on Remand (18 U.S.C. 3742(f)(l) and (2)) 

D Reduction of Sentence for Changed Circumstances (Fed. R. Crim. 
P. 35(b)) 

D Correction of Sentence by Sentencing Court (Fed. R. Crim. P. 35(a)) 

l:8l Correction of Sentence for Clerical Mistake (Fed. R. Crim. P. 36) 

THE DEFENDANT: 
D pleaded guilty to count(s) 

AMENDED JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 

Case Number: I :2 I-CR-00279(1) 

USM Number: 52701-509 

Chris C. Gair 
Defendant's Attorney 

D Modification of Supervision Conditions (18 U.S.C. §§ 3563(c) or 
3583(e)) 

D Modification of Imposed Term oflmprisonment for Extraordinary 

and Compelling Reasons (18 U.S.C. § 3582(c)( 1 )) 

D Modification of Imposed Term of Imprisonment for Retroactive 

Amendment(s) to the Sentencing Guidelines (18 U.S.C. § 
3582(c)(2)) 

D Direct Motion to District Court Pursuant D 28 U.S.C. § 2255 

or D 18 U.S.C. § 3559(c)(7) 

D Modification of Restitution Order (18 U.S.C. § 3664) 

D pleaded nolo contendere to count(s) which was accepted by the court. 

l:8l was found guilty on count(s) 1 through 7 of the Indictment after a plea of not guilty. 

The defendant is adjudicated guilty of these offenses: 
Title & Section / Nature of Offense 
18 U.S.C. § IO 14 Making False Statements to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
26 U.S.C. § 7206 (I), 26 U.S.c. § 7206 Filing False Individual Income Tax Returns 

Offense Ended 
I 0/15/2018 
I 0/15/2018 

Counts 
1 - 2 
3-7 

The defendant is sentenced as provided in pages 2 through 8 of this judgment. The sentence is imposed pursuant to the Sentencing Reform 

Act of 1984. Other than the amendments or modifications stated in this judgment, the judgment previously entered shall stand. (See 

attachments) 

D The defendant has been found not guilty on count(s) 

D Count(s) «dismissd_counts» dismissed on the motion of the United States. 

It is ordered that the defendant must notify the United States attorney for this district within 30 days of any change of name, 

residence, or mailing address until all fines, restitution, costs, and special assessments imposed by this judgment are fully paid. If ordered to 

pay restitution, the defendant must notify the court and United States attorney of material changes in economic circumstances. 

July 12, 2022 

Franklin U. Valderrama, United States District Judge 
Name and Title of Judge 

.}- I 2--2 2-
Date 
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IMPRISONMENT 

The defendant is hereby committed to the custody of the Federal of Prisons to be imprisoned for a total term of: 
4 months as to counts I through 7 to run concurrently. 

* ~ The court makes the following recommendations to the Bureau of Prisons: Defendant shall be housed at FPC Oxford in Wisconsin 

or at FPC Terre Haute, in Indiana. (FPC - Federal Prison Camp) 

~ The defendant is remanded to the custody of the United States Marshal. 

D The defendant shall surrender to the United States Marshal for this district: 

0 at on 

0 as notified by the United States Marshal. 

181 The defendant shall surrender for service of sentence at the institution designated by the Bureau of Prisons: 

~ before 2:00 pm on 8/22/2022 

0 as notified by the United States Marshal. 

0 as notified by the Probation or Pretrial Services Office. 

RETURN 

I have executed this judgment as follows:---------------------------------

Defendant delivered on to at , with a certified copy of this 
----- ---------- - -------------

judgment. 

UNITED ST A TES MARSHAL 

By 
DEPUTY UNITED STATES MARSHAL 
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MANDATORY CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISED RELEASE PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C § 3583(d) 

Upon release from imprisonment, you shall be on supervised release for a term of: 
twelve (12) months terms to run concurrently as to counts 1 through 7. 

The court imposes those conditions identified by checkmarks below: 

During the period of supervised release: 
181 (I) you shall not commit another Federal, State, or local crime. 

181 (2) you shall not unlawfully possess a controlled substance. 

O (3) you shall attend a public, private, or private nonprofit offender rehabilitation program that has been approved by the court, if 

an approved program is readily available within a 50-mile radius of your legal residence. [Use for a first conviction of a 

domestic violence crime, as defined in§ 3561(b).] 
O (4) you shall register and comply with all requirements of the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act (42 U.S.C. § 

16913). 
181 (5) you shall cooperate in the collection of a DNA sample if the collection of such a sample is required by law. 

O (6) you shall refrain from any unlawful use of a controlled substance AND submit to one drug test within 15 days ofrelease on 

supervised release and at least two periodic tests thereafter, up to 104 periodic tests for use of a controlled substance during 

each year of supervised release. [This mandatory condition may be ameliorated or suspended by the court for any defendant 

if reliable sentencing information indicates a low risk of future substance abuse by the defendant.] 

DISCRETIONARY CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISED RELEASE PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C § 3563(b) AND 
18 U.S.C § 3583(d) 

Discretionary Conditions - The court orders that you abide by the following conditions during the term of supervised release because such 

conditions are reasonably related to the factors set forth in § 3553(a)(l) and (a)(2)(B), (C), and (D); such conditions involve only such 

deprivations of liberty or property as are reasonably necessary for the purposes indicated in § 3553 (a)(2) (B), (C), and (D); and such 

conditions are consistent with any pertinent policy statement issued by the Sentencing Commission pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 994a. 
The court imposes those conditions identified by checkmarks below: 

During the period of supervised release: 
181 (1) you shall provide financial support to any dependents if you are financially able to do so. 

181 (2) you shall make restitution to a victim of the offense under§ 3556 (but not subject to the limitation of§ 3663(a) or 

§ 3663A(c)(l)(A)). 
O (3) you shall give to the victims of the offense notice pursuant to the provisions of§ 3555, as follows: 

181 (4) you shall seek, and work conscientiously at, lawful employment or, if you are not gainfully employed, you shall pursue 

conscientiously a course of study or vocational training that will equip you for employment. 

D (5) you shall refrain from engaging in the following occupation, business, or profession bearing a reasonably direct relationship 

to the conduct constituting the offense, or engage in the following specified occupation, business, or profession only to a 

stated degree or under stated circumstances; (if checked yes, please indicate restriction(s)) 
D (6) you shall not knowingly meet or communicate with any person whom you know to be engaged, or planning 

to be engaged, in criminal activity and shall not: 
D visit the following type of places: 

D knowingly meet or communicate with the following persons: 

D (7) you shall refrain from O any or D excessive use of alcohol (defined as D having a blood alcohol concentration 

greater than 0.08; or O ), and from any use of a narcotic drug or other controlled substance, as defined in § 102 

of the Controlled Substances Act (ll U.S.C. § 802), without a prescription by a licensed medical practitioner. 

181 (8) you shall not possess a firearm, destructive device, or other dangerous weapon. 

D (9) 0 you shall participate, at the direction of a probation officer, in a substance abuse treatment program, which may 

include urine testing up to a maximum of 104 tests per year. 
0 you shall participate, at the direction of a probation officer, in a mental health treatment program, and shall take 

any medications prescribed by the mental health treatment provider. 
D you shall participate, at the direction of a probation officer, in medical care; (if checked yes, please specify: 

.) 
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DEFENDANT: PATRICKD. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: 1 :21-CR-00279(1) 

□ 

□ 

□ 
□ 
181 

181 

181 

181 

181 

□ 

(I 0) (intermittent confinement): you shall remain in the custody of the Bureau of Prisons during nights, weekends, or other 

intervals of time, totaling [ no more than the lesser of one year or the term of imprisonment authorized for the 

offense], during the first year of the term of supervised release (provided, however, that a condition set forth in 
§3563(b)(10) shall be imposed only for a violation of a condition of supervised release in accordance with§ 3583(e)(2) 
and only when facilities are available) for the following period 

(11) (community confinement): you shall reside at, or participate in the program of a community corrections facility 

(including a facility maintained or under contract to the Bureau of Prisons) for all or part of the term of supervised 

release, for a period of months. 
(12) you shall work in community service for hours as directed by a probation officer. 

(13) you shall reside in the following place or area: , or refrain from residing in a specified place or area: 

(14) The Defendant can travel within the continental United States. He shall notify the probation office within 48 hours before 

such travel via email. 
( 15) you shall report to the probation office in the federal judicial district to which you are released with in 72 hours of your 

release from imprisonment. You shall thereafter report to a probation officer at reasonable times as directed by the court 

or a probation officer. 
(16) 181 you shall permit a probation officer to visit you 181 at any reasonable time or D as specified: 

181 at home 181 at work 181 at school 181 at a community service location 

181 other reasonable location specified by a probation officer 

181 you shall permit confiscation of any contraband observed in plain view of the probation officer. 

(17) you shall notify a probation officer within 72 hours, after becoming aware of any change in residence, employer, or 

workplace and, absent constitutional or other legal privilege, answer inquiries by a probation officer. You shall answer 

truthfully any inquiries by a probation officer, subject to any constitutional or other legal privilege. 
(18) you shall notify a probation officer within 72 hours if after being arrested, charged with a crime, or questioned by a law 

enforcement officer. 
(19) (home confinement) 

□ (a)(i) (home incarceration) for a period of_ months, you are restricted to your residence at all times except for 

medical necessities and court appearances or other activities specifically approved by the court. 

□ (a)(ii) (home detention) for a period of_ months, you are restricted to your residence at all times except for 

employment; education; religious services; medical, substance abuse, or mental health treatment; attorney visits; 

court appearances; court-ordered obligations; or other activities pre-approved by the probation officer. 

□ (a)(iii) (curfew) for a period of_ months, you are restricted to your residence every day. 

□ from the times directed by the probation officer; or □ from _ to _. 

□ (b) your compliance with this condition, as well as other court-imposed conditions of supervision, shall be monitored 

by a form of location monitoring technology selected at the discretion of the probation officer, and you shall abide 

by all technology requirements. 

□ (c) you shall pay all or part of the cost of the location monitoring, at the daily contractual rate, if you are financially 

able to do so. 
D (20) you shall comply with the terms of any court order or order of an administrative process pursuant to the law of a State, the 

District of Columbia, or any other possession or territory of the United States, requiring payments by you for the support 

and maintenance of a child or of a child and the parent with whom the child is living. 
D (21) (deportation): you shall be surrendered to a duly authorized official of the Homeland Security Department for a 

determination on the issue of deportability by the appropriate authority in accordance with the laws under the Immigration 

and Nationality Act and the established implementing regulations. If ordered deported, you shall not remain in or enter the 

United States without obtaining, in advance, the express written consent of the United States Attorney General or the 

United States Secretary of the Department of Homeland Security. 
181 (22) you shall satisfy such other special conditions as ordered below. 

D (23) You shall submit your person, property, house, residence, vehicle, papers [ computers (as defined in 18 U.S.C. 1030(e)(l)), 
other electronic communications or data storage devices or media,] or office, to a search conducted by a United States 

Probation Officer(s). Failure to submit to a search may be grounds for revocation of release. You shall warn any other 

occupants that the premises may be subject to searches pursuant to this condition. An officer(s) may conduct a search 

pursuant to this condition only when reasonable suspicion exists that you have violated a condition of your supervision and 
that the areas to be searched contain evidence of this violation. Any search must be conducted at a reasonable time and in a 

reasonable manner. 
D (24) Other: 
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DEFENDANT: PATRICKD. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: l:21-CR-00279(1) 

SPECIAL CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISED RELEASE PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. 3563(b)(22) and 3583(d) 
The court imposes those conditions identified by checkmarks below: 

During the term of supervised release: 
D (1) if you have not obtained a high school diploma or equivalent, you shall participate in a General Educational 

Development (GED) preparation course and seek to obtain a GED within the first year of supervision. 
D (2) you shall participate in an approved job skill-training program at the direction of a probation officer within the first 60 

days of placement on supervision. 
181 (3) you shall, if unemployed after the first 60 days of supervision, or if unemployed for 60 days after termination or lay-off 

from employment, perform at least 20 hours of community service per week at the direction of the probation office until 
gainfully employed. The total amount of community service required over your term of service shall not exceed 400 
hours. 

□ (4) 

181 (5) 

181 (6) 

181 (7) 

181 (8) 
□ (9) 

you shall not maintain employment where you have access to other individual's personal information, including, but not 
limited to, Social Security numbers and credit card numbers (or money) unless approved by a probation officer. 
you shall not incur new credit charges or open additional lines of credit without the approval of a probation officer 
unless you are in compliance with the financial obligations imposed by this judgment. 
you shall provide a probation officer with access to any requested financial information requested by the probation 
officer to monitor compliance with conditions of supervised release. 

within 72 hours of any significant change in your economic circumstances that might affect your ability to pay 
restitution, fines, or special assessments, you must notify the probation officer of the change. 
you shall file accurate income tax returns and pay all taxes, interest, and penalties as required by law. 

you shall participate in a sex offender treatment program. The specific program and provider will be determined by a 
probation officer. You shall comply with all recommended treatment which may include psychological and physiological 
testing. You shall maintain use of all prescribed medications. 

□ You shall comply with the requirements of the Computer and Internet Monitoring Program as administered by the 

United States Probation Office. You shall consent to the installation of computer monitoring software on all 
identified computers to which you have access and to which the probation officer has legitimate access by right or 
consent. The software may restrict and/or record any and all activity on the computer, including the capture of 
keystrokes, application information, Internet use history, email correspondence, and chat conversations. A notice 
will be placed on the computer at the time of installation to warn others of the existence of the monitoring 
software. You shall not remove, tamper with, reverse engineer, or in any way circumvent the software. 

D The cost of the monitoring shall be paid by you at the monthly contractual rate, if you are financially able, subject 

to satisfaction of other financial obligations imposed by this judgment. 

□ You shall not possess or use at any location (including your place of employment), any computer, external storage 

device, or any device with access to the Internet or any online computer service without the prior approval of a 
probation officer. This includes any Internet service provider, bulletin board system, or any other public or private 
network or email system 

□ You shall not possess any device that could be used for covert photography without the prior approval of a 

probation officer. 

□ You shall not view or possess child pornography. rfthe treatment provider determines that exposure to other 

sexually stimulating material may be detrimental to the treatment process, or that additional conditions are likely 
to assist the treatment process, such proposed conditions shall be promptly presented to the court, for a 
determination, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3583(e)(2), regarding whether to enlarge or otherwise modify the 
conditions of supervision to include conditions consistent with the recommendations of the treatment provider. 

□ You shall not, without the approval of a probation officer and treatment provider, engage in activities that will put 

you in unsupervised private contact with any person under the age of 18, and you shall not knowingly visit 
locations where persons under the age of 18 regularly congregate, including parks, schools, school bus stops, 
playgrounds, and childcare facilities. This condition does not apply to contact in the course of normal commercial 
business or unintentional incidental contact 

□ This condition does not apply to your family members: [Names] 

□ Your employment shall be restricted to the judicial district and division where you reside or are supervised, unless 

approval is granted by a probation officer. Prior to accepting any form of employment, you shall seek the 
approval of a probation officer, in order to allow the probation officer the opportunity to assess the level of risk to 
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DEFENDANT: PATRICK D. THOMPSON 
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181 (10) 

181 (11) 

D (12) 

□ (13) 

D (14) 

D (15) 

the community you will pose if employed in a particular capacity. You shall not participate in any volunteer 
activity that may cause you to come into direct contact with children except under circumstances approved in 
advance by a probation officer and treatment provider. 

D You shall provide the probation officer with copies of your telephone bills, all credit card statements/receipts, and 

any other financial information requested. 

□ You shall comply with all state and local laws pertaining to convicted sex offenders, including such laws that 

impose restrictions beyond those set forth in this order. 
you shall pay to the Clerk of the Court any financial obligation ordered herein that remains unpaid at the 
commencement of the term of supervised release, at a rate of not less than 10% of the total of your gross earnings minus 

federal and state income tax withholdings. 

you shall not enter into any agreement to act as an informer or special agent of a law enforcement agency without the 
prior permission of the court. 
you shall pay to the Clerk of the Court$ as repayment to the United States of government funds you received 
during the investigation of this offense. (The Clerk of the Court shall remit the funds to (list both Agency and 
Address.) 
if the probation officer determines that you pose a risk to another person (including an organization or members of the 
community), the probation officer may require you to tell the person about the risk, and you must comply with that 
instruction. Such notification could include advising the person about your record of arrests and convictions and 
substance use. The probation officer may contact the person and confirm that you have told the person about the risk. 
You shall observe one Reentry Court session, as instructed by your probation officer. 

Other: 
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DEFENDANT: PA TRJCK D. THOMPSON 
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CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES 
The defendant must pay the total criminal monetary penalties under the schedule of payments on Sheet 6. 

Assessment Restitution Fine AVAA Assessment* JVTA Assessment** 
TOTALS $700.00 

D The determination ofrestitution is deferred until 
such determination. 

$58,515.58 $.00 $.00 

. An Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case (AO 245C) will be entered after 

~ The defendant must make restitution (including community restitution) to the following payees in the amount listed below. 

$50,120.58 to the Federal Deposit Insurance at PO Box 971774 Dallas TX, 75397-1774 
$8,395 to the Internal Revenue Service at MS 6261 Restitution 333 West Pershing Road, Kansas City, MO 64108 

$.00 

If the defendant makes a partial payment, each payee shall receive an approximately proportioned payment, unless specified otherwise in 
the priority order or percentage payment column below. However, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3664(i), all nonfederal victims must be paid 
before the United States is paid. 

See attached pages 

D Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement $ 

D The defendant must pay interest on restitution and a fine of more than $2,500, unless the restitution or fine is paid in full before 
the fifteenth day after the date of the judgment, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(1). All of the payment options on Sheet 6 may be 
subject to penalties for delinquency and default, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(g). 

~ The court determined that the defendant does not have the ability to pay interest and it is ordered that: 

~ the interest requirement is waived for the $58,515.58 restitution amount. 

D the interest requirement for the is modified as follows: 

* Arny, Vicky, and Andy Child Pornography Victim Assistance Act of 2018, Pub. L. No. 115-299. 
** Justice for Victims of Trafficking Act of 2015, Pub. L. No. 114-22. 
*** Findings for the total amount of losses are required under Chapters I 09A, 110, I I OA, and 113A of Title 18 for offenses committed on or after September 
13, 1994, but before April 23, 1996. 
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DEFENDANT: PATRICK D. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: l:21-CR-00279(1) 

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS 

Having assessed the defendant 's ability to pay, payment of the total criminal monetary penalties is due as follows: 

A 1:8:1 Lump sum payment of$60,740.68 due immediately. 

D balance due not later than , or 

1:8:1 balance due in accordance with D C, D D, 1:8:1 E, or 1:8:1 F below; or 

B D Payment to begin immediately (may be combined with D C, D D, or D F below); or 

C D Payment in equal (e.g. weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of$ over a period of 

commence (e .g., 30 or 60 days) after the date of this judgment; or 

D D Payment in equal (e.g. weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of$ over a period of 

commence (e.g. , 30 or 60 days) after release from imprisonment to a term of supervision; or 

(e.g., months or years), to 

(e.g., months or years), to 

E 1:8:1 Payment during the term of supervised release will commence within 60 (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from imprisonment. 

The court will set the payment plan based on an assessment of the defendant 's ability to pay at that time; or 

F 1:8:1 Special instructions regarding the payment of criminal monetary penalties: 

The $8,395 payment to the Internal Revenue Service must be made in full during the period of supervised release. 

Unless the court has expressly ordered otherwise, if this judgment imposes imprisonment, payment of criminal monetary penalties is due 

during imprisonment. All criminal monetary penalties, except those payments made through the Federal Bureau of Prisons' Inmate Financial 

Responsibility Program, are made to the clerk of the court. 

The defendant shall receive credit for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary penalties imposed. 

D Joint and Several 

Case Number 
Defendant and Co-Defendant Names 
(including defendant number) 

Total Amount Joint and Several 
Amount 

Corresponding Payee, if 
Appropriate 

**See above for Defendant and Co-Defendant Names and Case Numbers (including defendant number), Total Amount, Joint and Several 

Amount, and corresponding payee, if appropriate.** 

1:8:1 The defendant shal I pay the cost of prosecution. $ 1,525 . I 0 

D The defendant shall pay the following court cost(s): 

D The defendant shall forfeit the defendant's interest in the following property to the United States: 

Payments shall be applied in the following order: ( 1) assessment, (2) restitution principal, (3) restitution interest, ( 4) AV AA assessment, (5) 

fine principal, (6) fine interest, (7) community restitution, (8) NTA assessment, (9) penalties, and (10) costs, including cost of prosecution 

and court costs. 
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wt Name First Name Address Citv Slate Zip Code Amount Loss Description Address 2 Address3 Addrcss4 Address S Count,y Email Phone 

FDIC as Recci\'er for Washington 
POBox97l774 Dallas TX 

75397-
50, 120.58 

Federal Bank for Savings 1774 

IRS-RACS Aun Mail Stop 6261, Restitution Kansas City MO 64108 8,395.00 
333 W. Pcrshm~ Ave. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
Northern District of Illinois 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 
v. 

PA TRICK D. THOMPSON 

THE DEFENDANT: 
D pleaded guilty to count(s) 

Case Number: 

USM Number: 

Chris C. Gair 
Defendant 's Attorney 

D pleaded nolo contendere to count(s) which was accepted by the court. 

IZI was found guilty on count(s) 1 through 7 of the Indictment after a plea of not guilty. 

The defendant is adjudicated guilty of these offenses: 
Title & Section/ Nature of Offense 
18 U.S.C. § 1014 Making False Statements to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
26 U.S.C. § 7206 (I), 26 U.S.c. § 7206 Filing False Individual Income Tax Returns 

1 :21-CR-00279( I) 

52701-509 

Offense Ended 
I 0/ 15/2018 
I 0/ 15/2018 

Counts 
I - 2 
3-7 

The defendant is sentenced as provided in pages 2 through 8 of this judgment. The sentence is imposed pursuant to the Sentencing Reform 

Act of 1984. 

D The defendant has been found not guilty on count(s) 

D Count(s) dismissed on the motion of the United States. 

~'is ordered that the defendant must notify the United States Attorney for this District within 30 days of any change of name, residence, or 

mailing address until all fines, restitution, costs, and special assessments imposed by this judgment are fully paid. If ordered to pay 

restitution, the defendant must notify the court and United States Attorney of material changes in economic circumstances. 

July 6, 2022 
Date of Imposition of Ju gment 

' 

Franklin U. Valderrama, United States District Judge 

Name and Title of Judge 
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DEFENDANT: PATRICK D. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: l:21-CR-00279(1) 

IMPRISONMENT 

The defendant is hereby committed to the custody of the Federal Bureau of Prisons to be imprisoned for a total tenn of: 

4 months as to counts 1 through 7 to run concurrently. 

Judgment - Page 2 of 8 

181 The court makes the following recommendations to the Bureau of Prisons: Defendant shall be housed at FCI Oxford in Wisconsin or 

at FCI Terre Haute, in Indiana. 

181 The defendant is remanded to the custody of the United States Marshal. 

D The defendant shall surrender to the United States Marshal for this district: 

□ at on 

D as notified by the United States Marshal. 

181 The defendant shall surrender for service of sentence at the institution designated by the Bureau of Prisons: 

181 before 2:00 pm on 08/22/2022. 

D as notified by the United States Marshal. 

D as notified by the Probation or Pretrial Services Office. 

RETURN 

I have executed this judgment as follows: ----------------------------------

Defendant delivered on to at , with a certified copy of this 
----- ----------- --------------

judgment. 

UNITED STATES MARSHAL 

By 
DEPUTY UNITED ST A TES MARSHAL 
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DEFENDANT: PATRICK D. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: 1 :21-CR-00279( 1) 

Judgment Page 3 of8 

MANDATORY CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISED RELEASE PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C § 3583(d) 

Upon relec1_se from imprisonment, you shall be on supervised release for a term of: 
twelve Ll.6) months terms to run concurrently as to counts 1 through 7. 

The court imposes those conditions identified by checkmarks below: 

During the period of supervised release: 
IZI (1) you shall not commit another Federal, State, or local crime. 

iZJ (2) you shall not unlawfully possess a controlled substance. 

D (3) you shall attend a public, private, or private nonprofit offender rehabilitation program that has been approved by the court, if 

an approved program is readily available within a 50-mile radius of your legal residence. [Use for a first conviction of a 
domestic violence crime, as defined in§ 3561(b).] 

D (4) you shall register and comply with all requirements of the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act (42 U.S.C. § 
16913). 

iZJ (5) you shall cooperate in the collection of a DNA sample if the collection of such a sample is required by law. 

D (6) you shall refrain from any unlawful use of a controlled substance AND submit to one drug test within 15 days ofrelease on 

supervised release and at least two periodic tests thereafter, up to I 04 periodic tests for use of a controlled substance during 

each year of supervised release. [This mandatory condition may be ameliorated or suspended by the court for any defendant 

if reliable sentencing information indicates a low risk of future substance abuse by the defendant.] 

DISCRETIONARY CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISED RELEASE PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C § 3563(b) AND 
18 U.S.C § 3583(d) 

Discretionary Conditions - The court orders that you abide by the following conditions during the term of supervised release because such 

conditions are reasonably related to the factors set forth in § 3553(a)(l) and (a)(2)(B), (C), and (D); such conditions involve only such 

deprivations of liberty or property as are reasonably necessary for the purposes indicated in § 3553 (a)(2) (B), (C}, and (D); and such 

conditions are consistent with any pertinent policy statement issued by the Sentencing Commission pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 994a. 

The court imposes those conditions identified by checkmarks below: 

During the period of supervised release: 
C8:I (1) you shall provide financial support to any dependents if you are financially able to do so. 

cgJ (2) you shall make restitution to a victim of the offense under§ 3556 (but not subject to the limitation of§ 3663(a) or 

§ 3663A(c)(l)(A)). 

O (3) you shall give to the victims of the offense notice pursuant to the provisions of§ 3555, as follows: 

cgJ (4) you shall seek, and work conscientiously at, lawful employment or, if you are not gainfully employed, you shall pursue 

conscientiously a course of study or vocational training that will equip you for employment. 

O (5) you shall refrain from engaging in the following occupation, business, or profession bearing a reasonably direct relationship 

to the conduct constituting the offense, or engage in the following specified occupation, business, or profession only to a 

stated degree or under stated circumstances; (if checked yes, please indicate restriction(s)) 
O (6) you shall not knowingly meet or communicate with any person whom you know to be engaged, or planning 

to be engaged, in criminal activity and shall not: 
0 visit the following type of places: 

0 knowingly meet or communicate with the following persons: 

0 (7) you shall refrain from □ any or O excessive use of alcohol (defined as □ having a blood alcohol concentration 

greater than 0.08; or □ ), and from any use of a narcotic drug or other controlled substance, as defined in § I 02 

of the Controlled Substances Act (ll U.S.C. § 802), without a prescription by a licensed medical practitioner. 

cgJ (8) you shall not possess a firearm , destructive device, or other dangerous weapon. 

0 (9) 0 you shall participate, at the direction of a probation officer, in a substance abuse treatment program, which may 

include urine testing up to a maximum of I 04 tests per year. 
0 you shall participate, at the direction of a probation officer, in a mental health treatment program, and shall take 

any medications prescribed by the mental health treatment provider. 
D you shall participate, at the direction of a probation officer, in medical care; (if checked yes, please specify: 

.) 
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DEFENDANT: PATRICK D. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: I :2 l-CR-00279(1) 

D (10) (intermittent confinement): you shall remain in the custody of the Bureau of Prisons during nights, weekends, or other 

intervals of time, totaling [no more than the lesser of one year or the term of imprisonment authorized for the 

offense], during the first year of the term of supervised release (provided, however, that a condition set forth in 

§3563(b )(10) shall be imposed only for a violation of a condition of supervised release in accordance with § 3583( e)(2) 

and only when facilities are available) for the following period 

D (11) (community confinement): you shall reside at, or participate in the program of a community corrections facility 

(including a facility maintained or under contract to the Bureau of Prisons) for all or part of the term of supervised 

□ 
D 
1:8:1 

release, for a period of months. 
(12) you shall work in community service for hours as directed by a probation officer. 

(13) you shall reside in the following place or area: , or refrain from residing in a specified place or area: 

(14) The Defendant can travel within the continental United States. He shall notify the probation office within 48 hours before 

such travel via email. 
1:8:1 (I 5) you shall report to the probation office in the federal judicial district to which you are released within 72 hours of your 

release from imprisonment. You shall thereafter report to a probation officer at reasonable times as directed by the court 

or a probation officer. 

1:8:1 (16) 1:8:1 you shall permit a probation officer to visit you 1:8:1 at any reasonable time or D as specified: 

1:81 at home D at work 1:8:1 at school 1:8:1 at a community service location 

1:81 other reasonable location specified by a probation officer 

1:8:1 you shall permit confiscation of any contraband observed in plain view of the probation officer. 

1:8:1 (17) you shall notify a probation officer within 72 hours, after becoming aware of any change in residence, employer, or 

workplace and, absent constitutional or other legal privilege, answer inquiries by a probation officer. You shall answer 

truthfully any inquiries by a probation officer, subject to any constitutional or other legal privilege. 

1:8:1 (18) you shall notify a probation officer within 72 hours if after being arrested, charged with a crime, or questioned by a law 

enforcement officer. 
D (19) (home confinement) 

D (a)(i) (home incarceration) for a period of_ months, you are restricted to your residence at all times except for 

medical necessities and court appearances or other activities specifically approved by the court. 

D (a)(ii) (home detention) for a period of _ months, you are restricted to your residence at all times except for 

employment; education ; religious services; medical, substance abuse, or mental health treatment; attorney visits; 

court appearances; court-ordered obligations; or other activities pre-approved by the probation officer. 

D (a)(iii) (curfew) for a period of_ months, you are restricted to your residence every day. 

D from the times directed by the probation officer; or D from _to _ . 

D (b) your compliance with this condition, as well as other court-imposed conditions of supervision, shall be monitored 

by a form of location monitoring technology selected at the discretion of the probation officer, and you shall abide 

by all technology requirements. 

D ( c) you shall pay all or part of the cost of the location monitoring, at the daily contractual rate, if you are financially 

able to do so. 
D (20) you shall comply with the terms of any court order or order of an administrative process pursuant to the law of a State, the 

District of Columbia, or any other possession or territory of the United States, requiring payments by you for the support 

and maintenance of a child or of a child and the parent with whom the child is living. 

D (21) (deportation): you shall be surrendered to a duly authorized official of the Homeland Security Department for a 

determination on the issue of deportability by the appropriate authority in accordance with the laws under the Immigration 

and Nationality Act and the established implementing regulations. If ordered deported, you shall not remain in or enter the 

United States without obtaining, in advance, the express written consent of the United States Attorney General or the 

United States Secretary of the Department of Homeland Security. 
1:8:1 (22) you shall satisfy such other special conditions as ordered below. 

D (23) You shall submit your person, property, house, residence, vehicle, papers [computers (as defined in 18 U.S.C. 1030(e)(l)), 

other electronic communications or data storage devices or media,] or office, to a search conducted by a United States 

Probation Officer(s). Failure to submit to a search may be grounds for revocation of release. You shall warn any other 

occupants that the premises may be subject to searches pursuant to this condition. An officer(s) may conduct a search 

pursuant to this condition only when reasonable suspicion exists that you have violated a condition of your supervision and 

that the areas to be searched contain evidence of this violation. Any search must be conducted at a reasonable time and in a 

reasonable manner. 
D (24) Other: 
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DEFENDANT: PA TRICK D. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: 1:21-CR-00279(1) 

SPECIAL CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISED RELEASE PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. 3563(b)(22) and 3583(d) 
The court imposes those conditions identified by checkmarks below: 

During the term of supervised release: 
0 (I) if you have not obtained a high school diploma or equivalent, you shall participate in a General Educational 

Development (GED) preparation course and seek to obtain a GED within the first year of supervision. 

D (2) you shall participate in an approved job skill-training program at the direction of a probation officer within the first 60 
days of placement on supervision. 

~ (3) you shall, if unemployed after the first 60 days of supervision, or if unemployed for 60 days after termination or lay-off 

from employment, perform at least 20 hours of community service per week at the direction of the probation office until 

gainfully employed. The total amount of community service required over your term of service shall not exceed 400 

hours. 
□ (4) 

~ (5) 

~ (6) 

~ (7) 

~ (8) 

□ (9) 

you shall not maintain employment where you have access to other individual ' s personal information, including, but not 

limited to, Social Security numbers and credit card numbers (or money) unless approved by a probation officer. 

you shall not incur new credit charges or open additional lines of credit without the approval of a probation officer 

unless you are in compliance with the financial obligations imposed by this judgment. 
you shall provide a probation officer with access to any requested financial information requested by the probation 

officer to monitor compliance with conditions of supervised release. 

within 72 hours of any significant change in your economic circumstances that might affect your ability to pay 

restitution, fines, or special assessments, you must notify the probation officer of the change. 

you shall file accurate income tax returns and pay all taxes, interest, and penalties as required by law. 

you shall participate in a sex offender treatment program. The specific program and provider will be determined by a 

probation officer. You shall comply with all recommended treatment which may include psychological and physiological 

testing. You shall maintain use of all prescribed medications. 

□ You shall comply with the requirements of the Computer and Internet Monitoring Program as administered by the 

United States Probation Office. You shall consent to the installation of computer monitoring software on all 

identified computers to which you have access and to which the probation officer has legitimate access by right or 

consent. The software may restrict and/or record any and all activity on the computer, including the capture of 

keystrokes, application information, Internet use history, email correspondence, and chat conversations. A notice 

will be placed on the computer at the time of installation to warn others of the existence of the monitoring 

software. You shall not remove, tamper with, reverse engineer, or in any way circumvent the software. 

□ The cost of the monitoring shall be paid hy you at the monthly contractual rate, if you are financially able, subject 

to satisfaction of other financial obligations imposed by th is judgment. 

□ You shall not possess or use at any location (including your place of employment), any computer, external storage 

device, or any device with access to the Internet or any on line computer service without the prior approval of a 

probation officer. This includes any Internet service provider, bulletin board system, or any other public or private 

network or email system 

□ You shall not possess any device that could be used for covert photography without the prior approval of a 

probation officer. 

□ You shall not view or possess child pornography. If the treatment provider determines that exposure to other 

sexually stimulating material may be detrimental to the treatment process, or that additional conditions are likely 

to assist the treatment process, such proposed conditions shall be promptly presented to the court, for a 

determination, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3583(e)(2), regarding whether to enlarge or otherwise modify the 
conditions of supervision to include conditions consistent with the recommendations of the treatment provider. 

□ You shall not, without the approval of a probation officer and treatment provider, engage in activities that will put 

you in unsupervised private contact with any person under the age of 18, and you shall not knowingly visit 

locations where persons under the age of 18 regularly congregate, including parks, schools, school bus stops, 

playgrounds, and childcare facilities . This condition does not apply to contact in the course of normal commercial 

business or unintentional incidental contact 

□ This condition does not apply to your fam ily members: [Names] 

□ Your employment shall be restricted to the judicial district and division where you reside or are supervised, unless 

approval is granted by a probation officer. Prior to accepting any form of employment, you shall seek the 
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DEFENDANT: PA TRICK D. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: 1 :2 l-CR-00279( I) 

1:81 (10) 

1:81 (11) 

D (12) 

D (13) 

D (14) 
D (15) 

approval of a probation officer, in order to allow the probation officer the opportunity to assess the level of risk to 
the community you will pose if employed in a particular capacity. You shall not participate in any volunteer 
activity that may cause you to come into direct contact with children except under circumstances approved in 
advance by a probation officer and treatment provider. 

□ You shall provide the probation officer with copies of your telephone bills, all credit card statements/receipts, and 

any other financial information requested. 

□ You shall comply with all state and local laws pertaining to convicted sex offenders, including such laws that 

impose restrictions beyond those set forth in this order. 
you shall pay to the Clerk of the Court any financial obligation ordered herein that remains unpaid at the 
commencement of the term of supervised release, at a rate of not less than 10% of the total of your gross earnings minus 
federal and state income tax withholdings. 
you shall not enter into any agreement" to act as an informer or special agent of a law enforcement agency without the 
prior permission of the court. 
you shall pay to the Clerk of the Court$ as repayment to the United States of government funds you received 
during the investigation of this offense. (The Clerk of the Court shall remit the funds to (list both Agency and 
Address.) 
if the probation officer determines that you pose a risk to another person (including an organization or members of the 
community), the probation officer may require you to tell the person about the risk, and you must comply with that 
instruction. Such notification could include advising the person about your record of arrests and convictions and 
substance use. The probation officer may contact the person and confirm that you have told the person about the risk. 
You shall observe one Reentry Court session, as instructed by your probation officer. 

Other: 
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DEFENDANT: PATRICK D. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: 1:21-CR-00279(1) 

CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES 
The defendant must pay the total criminal monetary penalties under the schedule of payments on Sheet 6. 

Assessment Restitution Fine AV AA Assessment* NTA Assessment** 
TOTALS $700.00 $58,515.58 $0.00 $.00 $.00 

D The determination of restitution is deferred until . An Amended Judgment in a Criminal Case (AO 245C) will be entered after such 
determination. 

181 The defendant must make restitution (including community restitution) to the following payees in the amount listed below. 

$50,120.58 to the Federal Deposit Insurance at PO Box 971774 Dallas TX, 75397-1774 
$8,395 to the Internal Revenue Service at MS 6261 Restitution 333 West Pershing Road, Kansas City, MO 64108 

If the defendant makes a partial payment, each payee shall receive an approximately proportioned payment, unless specified 
otherwise in the priority order or percentage payment column below. However, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3664(i), all nonfederal 
victims must be paid before the United States is paid. 

See attached pages 

D Restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement $ 

D The defendant must pay interest on restitution and a fine of more than $2,500, unless the restitution or fine is paid in full 
before the fifteenth day after the date of the judgment, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(1). All of the payment options on Sheet 
6 may be subject to penalties for delinquency and default, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(g). 

The court determined that the defendant does not have the ability to pay interest and it is ordered that: 

181 

□ 

the interest requirement is waived for the $58,515.58 restitution amount. 

the interest requirement for the is modified as follows: 

□ The defendant's non-exempt assets, if any, are subject to immediate execution to satisfy any outstanding restitution or fine 
obligations. 

* Amy, Vicky, and Andy Child Pornography Victim Assistance Act of 2018, Pub. L. No. 115-299. 
** Justice for Victims of Trafficking Act of 2015, Pub. L. No. 114-22. 
*** Findings for the total amount oflosses are required under Chapters I 09A, 110, 11 OA, and 113A of Title 18 for offenses committed on or after 
September 13, 1994, but before April 23, 1996. 
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DEFENDANT: PA TRICK D. THOMPSON 
CASE NUMBER: 1:21-CR-00279(1) 

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS 

Having assessed the defendant' s ability to pay, payment of the total criminal monetary penalties is due as follows : 

A 

B 

C 

D 

181 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Lump sum payment of$60,740.68 due immediately. 

□ balance due not later than , or 

181 balance due in accordance with D C, D D, 181 E, or 181 F below; or 

Payment to begin immediately (may be combined with D C, D D, or D F below); or 

Payment in equal (e. g. weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of$ over a period of 
commence (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after the date of this judgment; or 

Payment in equal (e. g. weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of$ over a period of 
commence (e.g., 30 or 60 days) after release from imprisonment to a term of supervision ; or 

Judgment - Page 8 of 8 

(e.g., months or years) , to 

(e.g., months or years), to 

E 181 Payment during the term of supervised release will commence within 60 (e.g. , 30 or 60 days) after release from imprisonment. 
The court will set the payment plan based on an assessment of the defendant' s ability to pay at that time; or 

F 181 Special instructions regarding the payment of criminal monetary penalties: 
The $8,395 payment to the Internal Revenue Service must be made in full during the period of supervised release. 

Unless the court has expressly ordered otherwise, if this judgment imposes imprisonment, payment of criminal monetary penalties is due 
during imprisonment. All criminal monetary penalties, except those payments made through the Federal Bureau of Prisons' Inmate Financial 
Responsibility Program, are made to the clerk of the court. 

The defendant shall receive credit for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary penalties imposed. 

D Joint and Several 

Case Number 
Defendant and Co-Defendant Names 
(including defendant number) 

Total Amount Joint and Several 
Amount 

Corresponding Payee, if 
Appropriate 

**See above for Defendant and Co-Defendant Names and Case Numbers (including def endant number), Total Amount, Joint and Several 
Amount, and corresponding payee, if appropriate.** 

181 The defendant shall pay the cost of prosecution. $ 1,525.10. 

D The defendant shall pay the following court cost(s): 

D The defendant shall forfeit the defendant's interest in the following property to the United States: 

Payments shall be applied in the following order: ( 1) assessment, (2) restitution principal, (3) restitution interest, ( 4) AV AA assessment, (5) 
fine principal, (6) fine interest, (7) community restitution, (8) NTA assessment, (9) penalties, and (10) costs, including cost of prosecution 
and court costs. 
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Last Name 

FDIC as Receiver for Washington 
Federal Bank for Savings 

IRS-RACS 

First Name Address 

PO Box 97 1774 Dallas 

City 

Attn: Mail Stop 6261, Rest itution Kansas City 

State Zip Code Amount 

TX 
75397-
1774 

MO 64 108 

50, 120.58 

8,395.00 

Loss Description Address 2 Address 3 Address 4 Address 5 Counll)I Email Phone 

333 W. Pershing Ave. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 

v. 
 
PATRICK D. THOMPSON 
 

 
 
 

 
 
No. 21-cr-00279-1 
 
Judge Franklin U. Valderrama 

 
MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER 

 After phone calls in which he stated, among other things, that he “borrowed 

$110,000,” as well as five filed tax returns in which he claimed he paid mortgage 

interest when he had not, Patrick D. Thompson (Thompson) was indicted, and 

ultimately convicted, on two counts of making a false statement with the intent to 

influence the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the FDIC) and a mortgage 

lending business, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1014, and five counts of filing a false tax 

return, in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1). R. 1, Indictment; R. 141, Verdict.1 

Thompson now moves the Court for a judgment of acquittal on all seven counts, or, 

in the alternative, a new trial. R. 154, Mot. Post-Trial. For the reasons stated below, 

the Court denies Thompson’s motion.2 

 
1Citations to the docket are indicated by “R.” followed by the docket number or filing name, 
and where necessary, a page or paragraph citation. The Court refers to the trial transcripts 
for the entire trial (R. 142–150) collectively as “Tr.” 
 
2After the Government rested at trial, Thompson moved for judgment of acquittal on Counts I 
and II, which the Court denied without prejudice. R. 124; Tr. 1167:22–1168:20; R. 128. 
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Background 

 On April 29, 2021, a special grand jury indicted Thompson in connection with 

money he had received from Washington Federal Bank for Savings (Washington 

Federal). R. 1, Indictment. In Count I, he was charged with violating 18 U.S.C. § 1014 

by falsely stating to mortgage lending business, Planet Home Lending (PHL), on 

February 23, 2018, that “he only owed $100,000 or $110,000 to Washington Federal 

and that any higher amount was incorrect, when defendant then knew he had 

received $219,000 from Washington Federal.” Indictment at 3. In Count II, he was 

charged with violating 18 U.S.C. § 1014 by falsely stating to the FDIC that “he only 

owed $110,000 to Washington Federal, that any higher amount was incorrect, and 

that these funds were for home improvement, when defendant then knew he had 

received $219,000 from Washington Federal and the $110,000 was paid to a law firm 

as defendant’s capital contribution.” Id. at 4. In Counts III through VII, Thompson 

was charged with violating 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1) by filing false tax returns for tax years 

2013 through 2017, as a result of his claiming that he had paid mortgage interest 

when he had not and reporting a taxable income lower than his actual taxable income. 

Id. at 5–10. At trial, the Government and Thompson presented evidence, which the 

Court summarizes here as it is relevant to Thompson’s post-trial motion.  

I. Washington Federal Transactions 
 

Alecia Mandujano (Mandujano), a loan servicer at Washington Federal, 

testified at trial that between 2011 and 2014, John Gembara (Gembara), the 

President of Washington Federal, gave her instructions to print out three checks 
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made out to and/or picked up by Thompson. Tr. 444:21–25, 446:23–447:3, 450:18–

455:7, 461:15–463:25, 465:8–467:16.  

The Government presented evidence showing that the first check in the 

amount of $110,000, dated November 15, 2011, was payable to the law firm of Burke, 

Warren, MacKay & Serritella, P.C. (Burke Warren). Tr. 450:18–451:9; GX 92.3 Jeffrey 

Warren (Warren), the chairman of Burke Warren, testified that when Thompson first 

joined the firm in 2011 as a shareholder, he was required to make a monetary 

contribution to the firm. Tr. 794:5–16, 795:7–25. Burke Warren’s general ledger 

indicates a payment of $110,000 that was made for Thompson’s capital payment, and 

corresponds to the first check Mandujano printed for Thompson on November 15, 

2011. Tr. 796:11–20, 797:7–798:1; GX 92, GX 169.  

Mandujano testified that Gembara provided her with a promissory note dated 

November 15, 2011, indicating the borrower was Thompson and stating that 

Thompson promised to pay a principal amount of $110,000 plus interest to 

Washington Federal. Tr. 454:21–456:6; GX 89. Mandujano entered the $110,000 loan 

as a mortgage loan into Washington Federal’s computer system, so a Form 1098 was 

generated at the end of the year. Tr. 479:21–18. Gabriel Fakhouri, a manager of 

recording operations in the Cook County Clerk’s Office, testified that recorded 

mortgages are records that his office regularly keeps. Tr. 520:15–521:3, 522:6–8. He 

conducted a search for documents recorded by Washington Federal related to two 

properties in Chicago, 3536 South Lowe (Thompson’s primary residence) and 3544 

 
3The Court refers to the parties’ exhibits as follows: GX for the Government’s exhibits and 
DX for Thompson’s exhibits. 
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South Lowe (Thompson’s rental property), and did not see any recordings for 

Washington Federal. Tr. 523:7–524:25.  

Mandujano testified that she created a second check made payable to 

Thompson, dated March 22, 2013, in the amount of $20,000. Tr. 461:3–462:4; GX 94. 

She created a third check for Thompson made payable to North Community Bank, 

dated January 24, 2014, in the amount of $89,000. Tr. 465:8–466:10; GX 96. 

According to Mandujano, Thompson picked up both checks from Washington Federal. 

Tr. 463:3–25, 466:17–467:10.  

Mandujano further testified that Thompson made one interest payment to 

Washington Federal related to the first loan, a check in the amount of $389.58, dated 

February 19, 2012, and signed by Thompson. Tr. 459:21–460:24; GX 163. According 

to Jacob Evans (Evans), a special agent with the FDIC Office of Inspector General, 

Thompson did not make any payments to Washington Federal after 2012. Tr. 818:7–

19, 987:15–17.  

II. Tax Returns 
 

Timothy Quinn (Quinn), a certified financial planner worked at Bansley and 

Kiener, testified that the firm mailed its clients a questionnaire known as a 1040 tax 

organizer, which had a series of questions for them to answer so the firm could use 

the answers in preparing their tax returns. Tr. 339:25–340:15, 343:11–344:22. 

Thompson was a client of Bansley and Kiener. Tr. 341:18–20, 344:16–22. The tax 

organizer also included a series of pages that would list out the prior year’s income, 

expenses, and deductions that a client had taken to serve as a “memory jogger.” Tr. 
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343:24–344:3. The firm’s clients would return their completed organizers and all the 

tax documentation necessary to prepare a tax return to the firm. Tr. 344:10–13, 

531:1–532:12. Quinn assisted in preparing Thompson’s 2013 and 2014 tax returns, 

while Robert Hannigan (Hannigan), a managing partner with Bansley and Kiener, 

has prepared the tax returns for Thompson and his wife since 2015. Tr. 360:13–25; 

373:11–13,528:15–18, 529:24–530:1.  

Quinn and Hannigan testified that, in each of the charged tax years, Thompson 

filled out the tax organizers and returned them with various documents. Tr. 348:5–

17, 412:9–11, 567:17–568:5, 584:17–584:18, 599:12–600:3. They testified that, for tax 

years 2013 through 2016, Thompson included Mortgage Interest Statements (Form 

1098s) for Washington Federal in the documents he provided with the tax organizers. 

Tr. 361:7–362:10, 373:25–374:2, 567:17–568:5, 583:17–584:18. In the tax organizers 

themselves for those years, Thompson did not write anything in the line regarding a 

Form 1098 for Washington Federal. Tr. 410:3–21, 411:12–412:11, 665:15–22, 677:24–

678:2. Based on the Form 1098s, Quinn and Hannigan included mortgage interest 

deductions on the prepared tax returns for tax years 2013–2016. Tr. 361:4–363:15, 

373:14–374:2, 575:13–577:22, 585:9–586:5; GX 1 at 6; GX 2 at 9, 58; GX 34 at 10, 57; 

GX 38 at 8, 49. No Form 1098 was included in the documents Thompson sent to 

Hannigan with the 2017 tax organizer. Tr. 603:4–7, 635:7–14. Hannigan nevertheless 

included a $10,000 mortgage interest deduction on the 2017 tax return. Tr. 635:7–14. 

Quinn and Hannigan testified that they communicated with Thompson when 

preparing his tax returns. See Tr. 342:20–343:2, 602:20–603:7; 631:8–632:7. Quinn 
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testified that Thompson never told him that he was not making payments to 

Washington Federal nor that the loan at Washington Federal was not a mortgage. 

Tr. 374:3–15.  

Quinn testified that in 2013 and 2014, once Thompson’s tax returns were 

completed, they were sent to Thompson to file. Tr. 359:12–20, 375:16–23. Once 

Thompson received the tax returns for 2015, 2016, and 2017 for his review, he 

submitted an electronic authorization form (Form 8879) each year that allowed 

Bansley and Kiener to electronically file his tax returns. See Tr. 572:1–8, 574:10–12, 

586:6–16; GX 34; GX 39; GX 44; GX 86. 

III. February 2018 Phone Call 
 

David Ohlrich, who works for the FDIC, testified that PHL was a contractor 

the FDIC used with respect to Washington Federal, and that PHL serviced loans on 

behalf of the FDIC. Tr. 780: 11–12, 788:9–16, 791:1–3. Evans, a special agent with 

the FDIC Office of Inspector General, testified that, in a letter dated January 10, 

2018, the FDIC informed Thompson and his wife that the servicing of the loan from 

Washington Federal was transferring from the FDIC to PHL, effective January 26, 

2018. Tr. 818:7–19, 914:1–16; GX 184. A statement from PHL addressed to Thompson 

and his wife, dated February 16, 2018, shows a loan principal balance amount of 

$269,120.58 and that $2,049.14 is due by March 1, 2018. Tr. 917:4–21; GX 72.  

Thompson called PHL on February 23, 2018, and spoke with William Murray 

(Murray), a customer service representative for PHL. Tr. 118–19, 180:3–5. According 

to Murray, Thompson asked for help in figuring out the balance of his loan. Tr. 
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1180:14–16. On an audio recording of the phone call, which was played for the jury, 

Thompson stated, “I borrowed $100,000,” which he later corrected to $110,000. GX 

188; GX 1894 at 3:13, 7:8–10; Tr. 934:25–935:15. During the call, Thompson stated: 

I have no idea, the numbers that you’ve sent me shows that I have a loan for 
$269,000 dollars. I[] borrowed $100,000 dollars, and it actually never was able 
to close the loan. I[] was trying – to []close this loan. I signed a Promissory 
Note. I have no – for $100,000 dollars in . . . 2011, umm and – I’ve been trying 
to – Mr. Gembara, who is deceased now, who was assuring me we would be 
closing all the paperwork and documentation and . . . handle the closing for the 
last seven years. And I have all kinds of e-mails, and I – I have no idea where 
the 269 number comes from. And so I don’t know if it’s you guys now that I 
need to . . . talk to and walk through, but I have no idea what paperwork you 
have, and I’d like to see it cause this doesn’t match with anything that I have.”  

 
GX 188; GX 189 at 3:11–4:1. Thompson went on to state, “I mean, I borrowed the 

money, I owe the money – but I borrowed . . . I think it was $110,000 dollars.” GX 

188; GX 189 at 7:8–10. Later in the call, when referencing a letter he received from 

PHL, Thompson stated that the letter listed the “historical loan number, unpaid 

principal and balance, and transfer is 269,120.58” and went on to tell Murray, “And 

I dispute that, I – I – that’s and I never – . . . .” GX 188; GX 189 at 12:4–7. Murray 

created a task for further research, informing Thompson that he would have someone 

research it. GX 188; GX 189 at 12:24–13:2; Tr. 1180:8–12. Murray noted after the call 

that Thompson was disputing the principal balance and “believed that he borrowed 

$110,000.” Tr. 1184:4–14; DX 76. 

 
4The transcript of the call was shown to the jury during trial while the audio recording was 
played, but was not admitted into evidence. Tr. 934:1–22. For clarity in this Opinion, the 
Court cites to both the audio recording, R. 188, and the transcript, R. 189.  
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IV. March 2018 Phone Calls 
 

William Holly (Holly), a project manager for MMC Group, a company which 

provided the FDIC with assistance on closings, worked on trying to identify 

Washington Federal assets after Washington Federal failed. Tr. 998:19–999:4, 

1000:7–10, 1000:22–25. Holly called Thompson on March 1, 2018. Tr. 1008:18–24. 

Dan Newell (Newell), Holly’s colleague, was with Holly when he made the call. Tr. 

1008:22–1009:2. The beginning of the conversation was about the note or debt to the 

organization affiliated with Thompson, the 11th Ward. Tr. 1010:6–9. Then, Holly and 

Newell asked Thompson about his personal loan. Tr. 1010:13–1011:1. Holly and 

Newell both testified that, during the call, they told Thompson that the loan was for 

$269,000. Tr. 1011:12–17, 1079:1–15. But, Holly later testified he did not know 

whether this amount was mentioned to Thompson. Tr. 1048:11–14. Holly further 

stated: “You couldn’t sense that he was, you know, surprised or anything. But, 

obviously, he didn’t realize – I don’t think he realized it was that much.” Tr. 1011:24–

24. Newell further stated that Thompson disputed it. Tr. 1079:6–8. Both Holly and 

Newell testified that Thompson said the loan was for $110,000. Tr. 1011:25–1012:2, 

1078:11–13.  

On a communications log that contained notes about Holly’s calls with 

borrowers, an entry corresponding to March 1, 2018 states: “Mr. Thompson spoke 

about his personal debt 110,000. John Gembara loaned him 110,000 for home 

improvement, which was to be rolled up into his home loan (Bank was to do a term 

loan). . . . He is disputing his balance and is sending us the documentation for this 
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also.” Tr. 1009:3–8, 1013:18–1014:1; GX 191 at 1–2. Holly testified that this 

conversation was about amounts Thompson borrowed. Tr. 1033:12–18. He also 

confirmed that Thompson did not say he only owed $110,000 and that any higher 

amount was incorrect. Tr. 1034:16–18. Holly further testified that he did not recall 

Thompson saying he “only borrowed $110,000” or that “I only owe $110,000 and no 

other amount.” Tr. 1052:10–13. Newell further testified that Thompson did not know 

what he owed and that he did not dispute the $110,000. Tr. 1091:23–1092:5. 

Holly also testified that the communications log is the best evidence of what 

was said during calls. Tr. 1024:8–10. Although Holly initially denied that Thompson 

told him during this call that the purpose of the loan was a law firm contribution, he 

also admitted that the only time he talked to Thompson about the purpose of his 

personal loan was on March 1, 2018. Tr. 1035:25–1036:18, 1041:7–13. Newell testified 

that Thompson told him during the March 1, 2018 call that the loan’s purpose was 

for home improvement. Tr. 1078:22–25. But Newell later testified that that the only 

time he recollected talking to Thompson about the loan’s purpose was on March 1, 

2018. Tr. 1099:18–21. In April 2018, Newell wrote to Thompson and told him that the 

$110,000 distribution “was confirmed by you as your buy in to the firm.” GX 199; Tr. 

1095:2–1096:17. 

V. December 2018 Agent Visit and Call to Hannigan 
 

At 8:15 a.m. on December 3, 2018, Evans and Special Agent Jason Gibson 

(Gibson), with IRS Criminal Investigation, visited Thompson at his house 

unannounced to interview him. Tr. 935:16–936:4, 944:12–19. Evans testified that, 
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 10 

during the interview, they discussed Thompson’s loan at Washington Federal, Evans 

and Gibson asked him questions about the loan, and Thompson provided information 

about the loan. Tr. 938:16–25. Specifically, Evans told Thompson that he was 

investigating Washington Federal, but he never told Thompson that Thompson 

himself was the subject of an investigation or that Thompson’s taxes or tax deductions 

were the subject of an investigation. Tr. 950:23–951:8. At some point during or at the 

end of the interview, Gibson served Thompson with a grand jury subpoena that called 

for Thompson to appear and provide records, including but not limited to federal tax 

records and records used to prepare federal tax returns, loan and credit applications, 

records related to the purchase of Thompson’s primary residence, his rental 

residence, and a third property located in Michigan. Tr. 939:1–22, 941:9–942:6, 

948:19–22; GX 411.  

Hannigan testified that Thompson called him on December 7, 2018, during 

which call Thompson told Hannigan that a new bank wanted to see a release of the 

Washington Federal mortgage, and, at that time, he told Hannigan it was not a 

mortgage loan but an unsecured line of credit. Tr. 730:5–12. Hannigan testified that 

they discussed amending Thompson’s tax returns on the call. Tr. 637:20–669:1. 

Legal Standards 

I. Rule 29 
 

Under Rule 29(c), a defendant may move for a judgment of acquittal after a 

guilty verdict, and “[i]f the jury has returned a guilty verdict, the court may set aside 

the verdict and enter an acquittal.” Fed. R. Crim. P. 29(c)(2). Rule 29(a) further 
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 11 

instructs that, “the court on the defendant’s motion must enter a judgment of 

acquittal of any offense for which the evidence is insufficient to sustain a conviction.” 

Fed. R. Crim. P. 29(a).  

A defendant seeking acquittal, however, faces “a nearly insurmountable 

hurdle.” United States v. Garcia, 919 F.3d 489, 496 (7th Cir. 2019) (internal quotation 

and citation omitted). The height of the hurdle “depends directly on the strength of 

the government’s evidence.” United States v. Kelerchian, 937 F.3d 895, 907 (7th Cir. 

2019) (internal quotation and citation omitted). A court, moreover, reviews the 

evidence at trial “in the light most favorable to the government and draw[s] all 

reasonable inferences in its favor.” United States v. Hidalgo-Sanchez, 29 F.4th 915, 

924 (7th Cir. 2022) (internal quotation and citation omitted). Accordingly, a court only 

overturns a conviction if, after reviewing the record in a light most favorable to the 

Government, it concludes “that no rational trier of fact could have found the essential 

elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt.” Id. (internal quotation and 

citation omitted). A verdict must stand if the record offers a reasonable basis for it. 

Id. (internal quotation and citation omitted). In addition, a court defers to the jury’s 

deliberations and respects “the exclusive function of the jury to determine the 

credibility of witnesses, resolve evidentiary conflicts, and draw reasonable 

inferences.” United States v. Godinez, 7 F.4th 628, 638–39 (7th Cir. 2021) (internal 

quotation and citations omitted). 

If a court enters a judgment of acquittal after a guilty verdict, Rule 29(d) 

requires the court to “conditionally determine whether any motion for a new trial 

Case: 1:21-cr-00279 Document #: 170 Filed: 06/03/22 Page 11 of 63 PageID #:3436

A050

Case: 22-2254      Document: 9            Filed: 10/24/2022      Pages: 154



 12 

should be granted if the judgment of acquittal is later vacated or reversed.” Fed. R. 

Crim. P. 29(d)(1).  

II. Rule 33 
 

Rule 33 permits a court to “vacate any judgment and grant a new trial if the 

interest of justice so requires.” Fed. R. Crim. P. 33(a). A new trial is warranted “only 

if there is a reasonable possibility that the trial error had a prejudicial effect on the 

jury’s verdict.” United States v. Maclin, 915 F.3d 440, 444 (7th Cir. 2019) (internal 

quotation and citation omitted). “[T]he crucial factor is the degree and pervasiveness 

of the prejudicial influence possibly resulting from the jury’s exposure to the 

extraneous material.” Id. (internal quotation and citation omitted). 

Analysis 

Thompson moves the Court to enter a judgment of acquittal pursuant to Rule 

29(c), or in the alternative, for a new trial pursuant to Rules 33 and 29(d). The Court 

considers Thompson’s acquittal arguments first, and then turns to his arguments for 

a new trial.  

I. Motion for Judgment of Acquittal 
 

Thompson advances two primary bases for acquittal. First, he argues that for 

Counts I and II, the Government failed to prove each element of the charges beyond 

a reasonable doubt, and that no rational jury could have found Thompson to be guilty 

based on the evidence. Mot. Post-Trial at 2–12. Second, Thompson argues that for 

Counts III through VII, no rational jury could have found that Thompson acted 

willfully with respect to his tax returns and therefore could not have found him guilty 

Case: 1:21-cr-00279 Document #: 170 Filed: 06/03/22 Page 12 of 63 PageID #:3437

A051

Case: 22-2254      Document: 9            Filed: 10/24/2022      Pages: 154



 13 

beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 13–15. The Court reviews each basis for acquittal 

in turn. 

A. Counts I and II 
 
The jury found Thompson guilty on two counts of making a false statement 

with the intent to influence the FDIC or a financial institution, in violation of 

18 U.S.C. § 1014 (Counts I and II).  

Section 1014 “criminalizes ‘knowingly mak[ing] any false statement or 

report . . . for the purpose of influencing in any way the action’ of a [Federal Deposit 

Insurance Corporation (FDIC)] insured bank ‘upon any application, advance, . . . 

commitment, or loan.’” United States v. Wells, 519 U.S. 482, 490 (1997) (quoting 

18 U.S.C. § 1014). The elements for a Section 1014 charge are: (i) that the defendant 

made a charged false statement to the FDIC or financial institution; (ii) at the time 

the defendant made the statement, he knew it was false; and (iii) the defendant made 

the statement with the intent to influence the FDIC or financial institution in 

collecting money owed. See United States v. Lane, 323 F.3d 568, 580 (7th Cir. 2003) 

(internal quotation and citation omitted); see also R. 153-1, Jury Instructions at 18, 

22. Thompson contests each element. 

1. Whether Charged Statements Were Made and Can Support 
Thompson’s Conviction  

 
In Count I, Thompson was convicted for falsely stating that “he owed $100,000 

or $110,00 to Washington Federal and that any higher amount was incorrect[.]” 

Indictment at 3; R. 141, Verdict. In Count II, Thompson was convicted for falsely 

stating: (1) that “he only owed $110,000 to Washington Federal and that any higher 
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amount was incorrect,” and (2) “that these funds were for home improvement[.]” 

Indictment at 4; R. 141, Verdict.  

Thompson contends that the Government did not prove the first element of 

Section 1014 beyond a reasonable doubt because the Government did not prove that 

Thompson made the charged false statements listed above. Mot. Post-Trial at 3.  

a. Statements About the Loan Amount Owed (Counts I and II) 
 

As to the statement charged in Count I (that Thompson falsely stated to PHL 

that “he only owed $100,000 or $110,000 to Washington Federal and that any higher 

amount was incorrect, when defendant then knew he had received $219,000 from 

Washington Federal”), Thompson argues that the evidence supports only that 

Thompson told Murray that he “borrowed” $110,000, not that he “owed” only 

$110,000. Mot. Post-Trial at 3. Thompson also notes that he did not say that he did 

not owe (or borrow) “any higher amount” than $110,000, but rather, the evidence 

shows only that he disputed borrowing $269,000. Id. at 3–4. Similarly, as to the first 

statement charged in Count II (that Thompson falsely stated to the FDIC that “he 

only owed $110,000 to Washington Federal and that any higher amount was incorrect 

. . . when defendant then knew had received $219,000 from Washington Federal”), 

Thompson argues that the evidence shows that Thompson told Holly and Newell that 

he borrowed $110,000, not that he owed $110,000. Id. at 4. Thompson points out that 

Holly explicitly contradicted the charge in the indictment, testifying that Thompson 

“did not say he only owed $110,000 and that any higher amount was incorrect.” Id. 
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at 4 (citing Tr. 1034). Relatedly, Thompson emphasizes that Newell agreed that 

Thompson never said he only owed $110,000. Id. at 4–5 (citing Tr. 1088–1089).  

Based on the evidence introduced supporting his statements as to the amount 

of the loan, Thompson argues that (1) there was a constructive amendment (or 

variance) to the indictment, and (2) he did not make a false statement for purposes 

of Section 1014, because his statements were literally true. The Court starts with 

Thompson’s constructive amendment and variance arguments.  

i. Constructive Amendment and Variance  
 

Thompson contends that his conviction on Counts I and II should be vacated 

because the Government’s trial evidence constructively amended the indictment with 

respect to the charged statements regarding the amount owed. Mot. Post-Trial at 5–

7.  

 The Fifth Amendment provides in part that, “No person shall be held to 

answer for a capital, or otherwise infamous crime, unless on a presentment or 

indictment of a grand jury . . . .” U.S. Const. amend V. The United States Supreme 

Court has “explained ‘that a court cannot permit a defendant to be tried on charges 

that are not made in the indictment against him.’” United States v. Heon Seok Lee, 

937 F.3d 797, 805–06 (7th Cir. 2019) (quoting Stirone v. United States, 361 U.S. 212, 

217 (1960)). The Seventh Circuit has observed that “[t]wo related doctrines arise out 

of this Fifth Amendment requirement: constructive amendment and variance.” Id. “A 

constructive amendment of an indictment occurs if jury instructions support a 

conviction for a crime other than that charged.” United States v. Burge, 711 F.3d 803, 
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811 (7th Cir. 2013) (internal citation omitted). On the other hand, a variance “does 

not alter the essential substance of the charged offense.” Id. (internal quotation and 

citation omitted). “Not every minor variance [between an indictment and jury 

instructions] constitutes a constructive amendment.” Id. at 814. 

Thompson maintains that the indictment was constructively amended because 

the jury was allowed to conflate what he actually said (that he borrowed $110,000) 

and what was charged (that he “only owed” $110,000 and “that any higher amount is 

incorrect”). Mot. Post-Trial at 5. As a result, Thompson argues that his Fifth 

Amendment rights were violated because the possible bases for conviction were 

broadened beyond those presented by the grand jury, and therefore the verdict must 

be vacated. Id. (citing United States v. Willoughby, 27 F.3d 263, 266 (7th Cir. 1994) 

(constructive amendment is reversible per se)). 

The Government responds that Thompson waived or forfeited5 any 

constructive amendment or variance argument at trial, because “Defendant did not 

object to the admission of any portion of the statements defendant made on February 

23 and March 1, and did not raise any argument about a possible constructive 

amendment until after the government indicated it would rest.” Resp. at 9 (citing 

United States v. Remsza, 77 F.3d 1039, 1041 (7th Cir. 1996)). Thompson argues in 

 
5“Waiver” is the “the intentional relinquishment of a known right,” whereas and “forfeiture” 
is “the failure to ‘make the timely assertion of a right.’” United States v. Remsza, 77 F.3d 
1039, 1043 n.3 (7th Cir. 1996) (quoting United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 733 (1993)). The 
Government argues that Thompson “waived, or at least forfeited, his claim that the 
government’s evidence created a constructive amendment.” Resp. at 9. Because the Court 
finds that Thompson neither waived nor forfeited the argument, it addresses the two 
together.  

Case: 1:21-cr-00279 Document #: 170 Filed: 06/03/22 Page 16 of 63 PageID #:3441

A055

Case: 22-2254      Document: 9            Filed: 10/24/2022      Pages: 154



 17 

reply that the Government’s waiver argument is misplaced. See R. 160, Reply at 9. 

The Court agrees with Thompson and finds Remsza distinguishable. 

In Remsza, the defendant was charged with falsely representing to a firearms 

dealer that he was purchasing guns for his own use when he was in fact purchasing 

guns for others. 77 F.3d at 1041–42. At trial, the defendant admitted on cross-

examination that he also lied to the firearms dealer about his drug use, the 

government introduced “other acts” evidence that the defendant also purchased a gun 

for another third-party from the same dealer, and the trial court instructed the jury 

that the defendant made “a false statement” to the dealer while buying guns. Id. 

1041–43. At trial, the defendant “made no objection to [the other acts] testimony, the 

drug use cross-examination . . . or the jury instruction,” and did not raise an argument 

about constructive amendment until he filed a post-trial motion for judgment of 

acquittal or for a new trial. Id. at 1043. The court therefore found that the defendant 

had forfeited any constructive amendment claims. Id. Here, unlike the defendant in 

Remsza, Thompson did not fail to object to a jury instruction instructing the jury as 

to a charge that did not match the indictment and could have encompassed evidence 

that did not match the charge from the indictment. Id.; Reply at 9. And importantly, 

Thompson raised his constructive amendment argument during trial when the 

Government indicated it would rest, and also filed a motion as to constructive 

amendment; he did not wait until the filing of his post-trial motion. Tr. 1151:7–
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1153:11; R. 124. The Court therefore finds that Thompson did not waive a 

constructive amendment argument.6 

The Government posits that, even if Thompson did not waive the constructive 

amendment argument, it nonetheless fails on the merits. The Court agrees. As the 

Government correctly states, constructive amendments based on evidence occur 

when the evidence involves “a complex set of facts distinctly different from” the ones 

alleged in the indictment. Heon Seok Lee, 937 F.3d at 806 (quotation omitted). As 

discussed above, the indictment in relevant part charged Thompson with falsely 

stating to PHL (Count I) and to the FDIC (Count II) that “he only owed $100,000 or 

$110,000 to Washington Federal and that any higher amount was incorrect.” R. 1. 

The Court instructed the jury by reading the specific language of the false statements 

alleged in the indictment. Tr. 1323:10–12 (the indictment “charges that the defendant 

falsely told Planet Home Lending that he only owed 100,000 or 110,000 to 

Washington Federal and that any higher amount was incorrect”); Tr. 1325:5–7 (“The 

first false statement charged is the defendant stated that he only owed 110,000 to 

Washington Federal and that any higher amount was incorrect.”). Thompson does 

not argue that these instructions were incorrect, but rather that the evidence at trial 

proved only that he borrowed $110,000 and disputed a higher balance. Mot. Post-

Trial at 5. The Government is correct that constructive amendment concerns are 

mitigated when the jury is instructed that, in order to convict, it must find that the 

 
6Because the Court finds that Thompson did not waive the argument, if the Court were to 
agree with Thompson that the indictment was constructively amended, it would be error per 
se and the verdict would have to be vacated; the Court would only apply a “plain error” 
standard if Thompson had forfeited the argument. See Heon Seok Lee, 937 F.3d at 806 & n.4.  
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defendant made the statements as alleged in the indictment—as the jury was 

instructed here. Resp. at 10 (citing United States v. Mitchell, 64 F.3d 1105, 1112 (7th 

Cir. 1995) (no constructive amendment when jury was instructed that it had to find 

defendant possessed the drug “charged [in the indictment] at the time and place 

alleged”); Heon Seok Lee, 937 F.3d at 808 n.5.  

Neither party cites to any in-Circuit authority with a similar set of facts. But 

the Court finds the case cited by the Government, United States v. Ongaga, 820 F.3d 

152, 163 (5th Cir. 2016), and the primary case cited therein, instructive. The court in 

Ongaga found that “in [] context . . . the false statement alleged [defendants entered 

into a “bona fide marriage”] and the false statement proven [that defendants entered 

into a marriage in accordance with the laws] were synonymous.” Id. True, as 

Thompson points out, “bona fide” means “in accordance with the laws,” Reply at 10 

(citing Ongaga, 820 F.3d at 164), so it is of limited use to support the Government’s 

argument. However, in reaching its holding, the Ongaga court looked to United States 

v. Jara–Favela, in which “the indictment charged the defendant with lying to federal 

officers when he told one officer that he was traveling from Laredo, Texas, and told 

the other officer that he was traveling from Nuevo Laredo, Mexico [and t]he evidence 

at trial, however, showed instead that he told one officer he was coming from the 

‘north’ and another he was coming from the ‘south.’” Ongaga, 820 F.3d at 163 (citing 

Jara-Favela, 686 F.3d 289, 300 (5th Cir. 2012)). Ongaga observed that, in Jara-

Favela, it “found no constructive amendment because, in context, the terms were 

synonymous.” Id.  
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As the Government argues, in the context of conversations that Thompson 

initiated with PHL and the FDIC, both of which centered on the amount of money 

the entities were allowed to collect from Thompson, he stated that he borrowed 

$110,000, rather than stating that he borrowed the higher $219,000 amount. Resp. 

at 8. As noted above, in both conversations, he disputed the higher amount. According 

to the audio recording, Thompson told Murray of PHL that he had “no idea where the 

269 number [came] from,” admitting that he “owe[d] the money” but that he borrowed 

$110,000.” GX 188, GX 189 at 3:11, 7:8–10. Although there is some conflicting 

testimony about Thompson’s conversations with Holly and Newell of the FDIC, 

evidence was presented to the jury that he told them that the loan was for $110,000 

and disputed that it was for $269,000. Tr. 1011:25–1012:2, 1078:11–13, 1079:6–8. The 

Court finds that here, in context, the evidence presented did not establish offenses 

“different from or in addition to those charged by the grand jury.” United States v. 

Khilchenko, 324 F.3d 917, 920 (7th Cir. 2003).  

To the extent Thompson argues that the evidence at trial amounted to a 

variance from the indictment, Mot. Post-Trial at 17, the Court agrees with the 

Government that any such variance was immaterial, Resp. at 11. As previously noted, 

variance “refers to situations where the government’s trial evidence proves facts 

materially different from those alleged in the indictment.” Heon Seok Lee, 937 F.3d 

at 806 (internal quotation and citation omitted). Variance claims are reviewed under 

the harmless error standard, and a variance is fatal only if it deprives the defendant 

of an opportunity to prepare a defense or exposes the defendant to a risk of being 
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prosecuted twice for the same offense. Id. at 807 (internal citations omitted); see also 

United States v. Ratliff-White, 493 F.3d 812, 820 (7th Cir. 2007). Neither of those 

concerns is present here. Thompson was able to prepare for and present a defense. 

As the Government points out, Thompson had a copy of the recorded conversation 

with PHL and of the FDIC’s communications log related to the charged statements, 

and was able to use those items in preparing for and at trial. Resp. at 11; see Ratliff-

White, 493 F.3d at 822 (no prejudice where exhibits were produced to defendant 

before trial and defendant could prepare to cross-examine key witness). Similarly, no 

risk of double jeopardy exists. The indictment specifically identifies the statements 

made, as well as provides additional information concerning circumstances related to 

the loan, which forecloses the possibility of a second prosecution. Heon Seok Lee, 937 

F.3d at 807 (“The indictment also included specific details about the scheme alleged, 

alleviating any double jeopardy concerns.”). 

United States v. Sorich, 523 F.3d 702, 716–17 (7th Cir. 2008), cited by the 

Government, is instructive. In Sorich, the court found that no material variance 

existed between the indictment charge that the defendant falsely stated he “had 

never heard” of a group getting preferential treatment, with evidence that the 

defendant said “he didn’t have any knowledge” about that group getting preferential 

treatment. Id. The Court disagrees with Thompson that such statements “convey 

exactly the same substance.” Reply at 10. True, in context, “never heard of” and 

“didn’t have any knowledge of” have the same meaning, but there are situations 

where they could convey different things. So too with “borrow” and “owe.” The Court 
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does not find Thompson’s statements that he “borrowed” $110,000 and disputed a 

higher amount—when examined in context—were materially different than the 

charges in the indictment that he “owed” $110,000 and no higher amount. This leads 

to Thompson’s literal falsity argument, which the Court addresses next.  

ii. Literal Falsity  
 

Thompson next argues that the Government did not meet the first element of 

Section 1014 (the making of a false statement) for Counts I and II because “[a] 

conviction for false statements cannot be sustained where, as here, the alleged 

statements are literally true, even if misleading.” Mot. Post-Trial at 7. In other words, 

Thompson argues that a conviction under 18 U.S.C. § 1014 requires evidence of literal 

falsity.7 Thompson reasons that because the only evidence produced at trial was of 

statements Thompson made that were literally true—that he borrowed $110,000 and 

disputed borrowing $269,000—said statements cannot sustain a conviction under 

Section 1014. Mot Post-Trial at 10–11. In support, Thompson cites numerous cases, 

none of which persuade the Court that literal falsity is required for a Section 1014 

charge in the Seventh Circuit.  

 Thompson initially directs the Court to Bronston v. United States, 409 U.S. 352 

(1973) for the proposition that “courts have consistently held that statutes 

criminalizing false statements cannot be extended to criminalize false implications.” 

Mot Post-Trial at 7. However, the Court finds Bronston unavailing, as the Bronston 

 
7Before the close of trial, Thompson proposed a jury instruction on “Literally True 
Statements.” See R. 127 at 10. However, Thompson withdrew the proposed instruction after 
the final jury instruction conference. See R. 135 at 2.  
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decision was focused on a situation specific to the federal perjury statute, not 

Section 1014. The Supreme Court granted certiorari in Bronston “to consider a 

narrow but important question in the application of the federal perjury statute, 

18 U.S.C. s 1621: whether a witness may be convicted of perjury for an answer, under 

oath, that is literally true but not responsive to the question asked and arguably 

misleading by negative implication.” 409 U.S. at 352–53. While the Supreme Court 

ultimately held that a witness could not be convicted of perjury for such a literally 

true but non-responsive answer, id. at 362, the Court based that holding, in large 

part, on the questioner’s role. That is, the Court found that in the situation of a “wily 

witness” who “speaks the literal truth” in a misleading way, the “burden is on the 

questioner to pin the witness down to the specific object of the questioner’s inquiry.” 

Id. at 360 (citations omitted). The Court further concluded that while the petitioner’s 

answers could have been “shrewdly calculated to evade . . . any special problems 

arising from the literally true but unresponsive answer are to be remedied through 

the ‘questioner’s acuity’ and not by a federal perjury prosecution.” Id. at 362. Because 

this is a Section 1014 case, not a perjury case, and because there is no questioner 

equivalent here, Thompson’s citation to Bronston does not convince the Court that 

evidence of literal falsity was required for his conviction.  

 The next case cited by Thompson, Williams v. United States, 458 U.S. 279 

(1982), likewise fails to support his position. See Mot Post-Trial at 8. While Williams 

is a Section 1014 case, the Supreme Court there addressed whether the act of check 
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kiting,8 constituted a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1014. The Court held that check kiting 

did not violate Section 1014 because “technically speaking, a check is not a factual 

assertion at all, and therefore cannot be characterized as ‘true’ or ‘false.’” 458 U.S. at 

284. And, in the absence of legislative history indicating that Section 1014 was 

designed to prevent bad checks, the Court declined to construe Section 1014 as 

proscribing check kiting. Id. at 287. Here, no one disputes that evidence of an 

assertion or statement was necessary to convict Thompson, so Williams does not 

advance Thompson’s argument.  

In terms of Seventh Circuit authority, Thompson highlights United States v. 

Krilich, 159 F.3d 1020, 1029 (7th Cir. 1998). Mot Post-Trial at 8. According to 

Thompson, in Krilich “the Seventh Circuit expressly applied the literal falsity test in 

upholding the defendant’s conviction under Section 1014[.]” Id. Before diving into 

Krilich, the Court observes that the Government, surprisingly, did not address 

Krilich in its response brief. See Resp.9 As a result, the Government has waived any 

argument on the case. See Bonte v. U.S. Bank, N.A., 624 F.3d 461, 466 (7th Cir. 2010).  

 
8Check kiting is “the illegal practice of writing a check against a bank account with 
insufficient funds to cover the check, in the hope that the funds from a previously deposited 
check will reach the account before the bank debits the amount of the outstanding check.” 
CHECK-KITING, Black’s Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019); see also Williams, 458 U.S. at 
281 n.1. 
 
9Instead, the Government points to United States v. Swanquist, 161 F.3d 1064 (7th Cir. 1998), 
see Resp. at 6, a case of limited usefulness to the literal falsity question. The Government is 
correct that the court in Swanquist affirmed a defendant’s Section 1014 convictions, in part, 
because the defendant failed to list all of his debts in applying for loans, “thereby concealing 
and under-reporting certain debts in order that he might receive or renew loans from 
numerous financial institutions.” 161 F.3d at 1070. However, the defendant in that case did 
not argue that his statements were literally true; he contended that “he believed his answers 
to be truthful based upon his own understanding about which categories of debts were 
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In Krilich, the defendant bribed a mayor to extract tax-exempt funds from 

municipal bond offerings, which funds the defendant kept in a trust, as they were 

only supposed to be released to reimburse expenses for an apartment complex the 

defendant was building. 159 F.3d at 1024. But the defendant preferred to use the 

funds for other things, such as yacht payments, so he “instructed vendors to falsify 

their invoices and had those bogus invoices sent to the banks for payment out of the 

trust accounts.” Id. The defendant was convicted of various crimes, including fraud 

under Section 1014. Id. On appeal, the defendant argued that Section 1014 did not 

apply to his conduct because Section 1014 “applies only to statements made to obtain 

loans or other extensions of credit; because the withdrawals of the trust funds were 

not lending transactions, the statute was not violated.” Id. at 1028. The court rejected 

the defendant’s argument, reading the text of Section 1014 as “straightforward and 

broad,” and as applying “to ‘any’ statement made for the purpose of influencing in 

‘any’ way the action of ‘any’ of the covered institutions in ‘any’ application.” Id. 

(citation omitted). Because the defendant “caused vendors to make false statements 

in applications presented to federally insured banks,” Section 1014 applied to the 

defendant, regardless of the fact that the statements pertained to bond proceeds held 

in trust by banks, rather than loan and credit applications. Id.  

The court in Krilich additionally rejected the defendant’s argument, based on 

Williams, 458 U.S. 279, that Section 1014 did not apply to his conduct. 159 F.3d at 

 
required to be disclosed in the documents.” Id. at 1071. The Swanquist decision therefore 
focused on the defendant’s belief that his answers were true and did not address the literal 
falsity issue currently before this Court. 
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1029. The Seventh Circuit stated, “Williams posed the question whether a no-funds 

check is a ‘false statement’ for the purposes of § 1014; the Court concluded that the 

only ‘statement’ made by a check is an instruction to the drawee bank to pay, and 

that the implication that funds are available for that purpose is not covered by § 1014 

because a misleading implication differs from a false statement.” Id. (citing Bronston, 

409 U.S. 352). The Seventh Circuit found that Williams did not support the 

defendant’s position because the defendant “induced vendors to make literally false 

statements.” Id. The court further stated that to rule in the defendant’s favor, the 

court would have to depart from the Supreme Court’s holding in United States v. 

Wells, 519 U.S. 482 (1997), in which the Supreme Court “reminded [the Circuits] not 

to add elements to § 1014.” 159 F.3d at 1028–29.  

Thompson argues that Krilich is controlling authority making it “crystal clear 

that a charge under 18 U.S.C. § 1014 cannot be sustained by a misleading statement” 

and that “literal falsity is required.” Reply at 1. The Court disagrees. As the Seventh 

Circuit stated in Krilich, the statements that the defendant induced in that case were 

literally false, so the court was not tasked with deciding whether a literally true 

statement could support a Section 1014 conviction. 159 F.3d at 1029. The court in 

Krilich, therefore, did not grapple with whether a literally true statement falls under 

the purview of Section 1014. The Seventh Circuit certainly did not categorically hold 

that a Section 1014 conviction requires a literally false statement. At most, the 

Krilich court rejected the defendant’s Williams-based attempt to read Section 1014 

narrowly. Therefore, the Court does not read Krilich as the Seventh Circuit holding 
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that a Section 1014 conviction requires a literally false statement. To the Court’s 

knowledge, the Seventh Circuit has not issued a decision engaging in a detailed 

analysis of the issue.   

The Sixth Circuit, by contrast, squarely and thoroughly addressed literal 

falsity in the Section 1014 context in United States v. Kurlemann, 736 F.3d 439, 448 

(6th Cir. 2013), another case cited by Thompson. See Mot Post-Trial at 9. In 

Kurlemann, the Sixth Circuit rejected a Section 1014 jury instruction that said a 

statement may be false “when it contains a half-truth or when it conceals a material 

fact.” 736 F.3d at 444. The Sixth Circuit, looking to the text of Section 1014, concluded 

that the statute prohibits what it states it prohibits, namely, false statements to or 

reports to banks. Id. at 445. No more, no less. Put another way, Section 1014, 

according to the Sixth Circuit, does not prohibit “half-truths,” “material omissions,” 

or “concealments,” the very issues in that case. Id. The Sixth Circuit therefore held 

that a Section 1014 conviction cannot rest on material omissions or implied 

misrepresentations: “Until Congress opts to extend § 1014 to material omissions, 

implied misrepresentations or fraud—all ways of getting at deceptive ‘half truths’—

we must take the statute as we find it, and as the Supreme Court has construed it.” 

Id. at 449–50. Admittedly, if Kurlemann were the law in the Seventh Circuit, 

Thompson’s argument would have more traction. But Kurlemann is an out-of-circuit 

case,10 and Thompson has failed to direct the Court to a Supreme Court case or 

 
10For the same reason, the Court is not bound by the other cases cited by Thompson in support 
of his literal falsity argument. See Mot Post-Trial at 8–9 (citing United States v. Attick, 649 
F.2d 61, 63 (1st Cir. 1981); United States v. Watts, 72 F. Supp. 2d 106, 117 (E.D.N.Y. 1999)).  
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Seventh Circuit case that holds that a Section 1014 conviction requires a literally 

false statement.  

A recent decision from the Seventh Circuit, moreover, indicates that the 

Seventh Circuit does not require literal falsity in Section 1014 cases. In United 

States v. Freed, 921 F.3d 716, 723 (7th Cir. 2019), the defendant was convicted of two 

counts under Section 1014. 921 F.3d at 723. He was convicted on both counts for 

presenting false information to a bank consortium in the form of slides, which 

described “the proposed ‘Line of Collateral’ which included representations that 

[defendant’s company] owned one hundred percent of the TIF notes, the cost to sell 

them was $ 0, and the proceeds of that sale would be $ 7,698,000.” Id. The defendant 

argued there was insufficient evidence demonstrating that he knowingly made false 

statements because “his statements were technically true.” Id. The Seventh Circuit 

rejected his argument, finding that the defendant’s “representations at these 

meetings would not naturally be understood as simply stating facts about unavailable 

collateral, information that would have been useless to the banks. The presentation 

clearly indicated the project note was available to serve as collateral for the loan 

modification, a representation that the government proved was false.” Id. In support, 

the Seventh Circuit cited the dissent in Williams, which stated that “the Courts of 

Appeals have held that the failure to disclose material information needed to avoid 

deception in connection with loan transaction covered by § 1014 constitutes a ‘false 

statement or report,’ and thus violates the statute.” Id. (citing Williams, 458 U.S. at 

296). The Seventh Circuit therefore found that a reasonable juror could find that the 
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defendant’s representations were false and affirmed the district court’s denial of the 

motion for acquittal.11  

Because neither party cited Freed (the Court found Freed while conducting its 

own research), the Court set a motion hearing to allow the parties to address the 

case.12 R. 168. At the motion hearing, Thompson argued that Freed does not apply 

because the charged statements in that case were literally false. Thompson further 

observed that the Government in Freed had argued that the defendant’s statements 

were literally false. In response, the Government argued that Freed is on point, and 

is consistent with the law cited by the Government in its response brief.  

The Court finds that neither party’s position at the motion hearing hit the 

mark precisely. For instance, the Court disagrees with Thompson that Freed is 

inapposite due to the fact that some of the defendant’s statements were literally false, 

or because the government argued that the statements were literally false. Unlike in 

Krilich, Thompson’s lead case, the court in Freed did not reject the defendant’s 

literally true argument out of hand due to the fact that the charged statements were 

literally false. See Krilich, 159 F.3d at 1029. Instead, the Freed court engaged with 

the defendant’s assertion that his statements were technically true and held that the 

 
11When denying the defendant’s motion for judgment of acquittal, the district court rejected 
the defendant’s argument that “‘literal truth’ is a complete defense to a false statement 
charge.” United States v. Freed, 2016 WL 6618517, at *5 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 9, 2016), aff’d, 921 
F.3d 716 (7th Cir. 2019).  
 
12The Court was tasked with deciding whether a Section 1014 conviction, as a matter of law, 
requires literal falsity, so the Court could not ignore Seventh Circuit precedent, even if the 
parties failed to cite it. See Palmer v. Bd. of Educ. of Cmty. Unit Sch. Dist. 201-U, Will Cnty., 
Ill., 46 F.3d 682, 684 (7th Cir. 1995) (citations omitted) (“A court should apply the right body 
of law even if the parties fail to cite their best cases.”).  
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statements nevertheless constituted false statements for purposes of Section 1014 

because “Freed’s representations at these meetings would not naturally be 

understood as simply stating facts about unavailable collateral . . . The presentation 

clearly indicated the project note was available to serve as collateral for the loan 

modification, a representation that the government proved was false.” 921 F.3d at 723 

(emphases added). As stated above, in support, the Seventh Circuit quoted the 

following language from the Williams dissent: “the Courts of Appeals have held that 

the failure to disclose material information needed to avoid deception in connection 

with loan transaction covered by § 1014 constitutes a ‘false statement or report,’ and 

thus violates the statute.” Id. (quoting 458 U.S. at 296). Thus, contrary to Thompson’s 

arguments, the court in Freed did not reject the defendant’s arguments because they 

were literally false, or because the government in that case argued that the 

defendant’s statements were literally false.    

At the same time, while the Court agrees with the Government that Freed is 

applicable, the Court disagrees that Freed is simply “consistent” with the authority 

cited by the Government in its Response, see supra Section I.A.1.a.ii n.9, as the court 

in Freed directly rejected a defendant’s Section 1014 literal falsity argument and 

indicated that literal falsity is not required in the Seventh Circuit. 

Based on the above, the Court finds that, in the Seventh Circuit, literal falsity 

is not required to sustain a conviction under Section 1014. As a result, when 

construing the evidence—including the testimony of Murray, Holly, and Newell, as 

well as the audio recording and the communications log—in the light most favorable 
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to the Government, a reasonable jury could conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that 

Thompson knowingly made false statements as charged in Counts I and II. Because 

the Court finds that literal falsity is not required to sustain a Section 1014 conviction, 

the Court does not address the Government’s argument that Thompson’s statements 

were literally false. See Resp. at 6–7.  

b. Statement About Purpose of Loan (Count II) 
 

As to the second statement charged in Count II (that Thompson falsely stated 

to the FDIC that “these funds were for home improvement, when . . . the $110,000 

was paid to a law firm as defendant’s capital contribution”), Thompson maintains 

that no rational jury could have found that Thompson made the statement that the 

loan was used for “home improvement.” Mot. Post-Trial at 6. The communications 

log, Thompson points out, showed that in the March 1, 2018 conversation, the parties 

discussed two loans in very similar amounts, the ward office13 loan and the personal 

loan. Id. (citing GX 191; Tr. 1019–1020). Although the log shows that Thompson said 

both loans were for building “improvements,” Thompson argues that the evidence 

shows that is not what he said. Id. Specifically, argues Thompson, Holly admitted 

that, although the log separated the discussion of the ward and personal loans into 

two paragraphs, there was no separation in the conversation, allowing for confusion. 

Id. (citing Tr. 1025–26, 1035, 1049).  

The Government, on the other hand, points out that both Holly and Newell 

testified that Thompson told them on March 1, 2018 that the loan was for home 

 
13Thompson was the alderman of the 11th Ward of the City of Chicago. Tr. 795:7–19.  
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improvement. R. 159, Resp. at 5 (citing Tr. 1034, 1078). Additionally, the Government 

argues that the communications log itself shows states that during the March 1, 2018 

call, Thompson stated that “John Gembara loaned him 110,000 for home 

improvement, which was to be rolled up into his home loan.” Id. (citing GX 191; Tr. 

1009, 1083).  

Even if there were inconsistencies in the testimony or errors in the log, the 

Court must respect the weight that the jury assigned to conflicting evidence and the 

inferences that the jury drew. Resp. at 5; see Godinez, 7 F.4th at 638–39 (citations 

omitted). On the record, the Court finds that a reasonable jury could have concluded 

beyond a reasonable doubt that Thompson told Holly and Newell that the loan was 

for home improvement.  

2. Knowledge of Falsity  
 

Thompson next argues that the Government failed to prove the second element 

of Section 1014 beyond a reasonable doubt that Thompson knew the charged 

statements as to the amount he owed were false—that is, that he knew at the time 

he made the statements to PHL and the FDIC that he owed $269,00. Mot. Post-Trial 

at 11. As stated above, in order to convict under Section 1014, the Government must 

prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Thompson knowingly made the charged false 

statements. See Lane, 323 F.3d at 580 (internal citations omitted). Thompson points 

to testimony that he argues shows that he did not know how much he borrowed. 

Specifically, Murray testified that Thompson was trying to figure out his loan 

balance. Mot. Post-Trial at 11–12 (citing Tr. 1180). Similarly, Holly testified that, at 
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the time of the March 1, 2018 conversation, Thompson “didn’t realize—I don’t think 

he realized it was that much” (Tr. 1011:12–24, 1033:2–8), and Newell testified that 

Thompson “didn’t know what he owed” (Tr. 1091:19–25). See Mot. Post-Trial at 12.  

Holly testified that, when Holly revealed the full amount borrowed four days later, 

“[Thompson] was surprised I’ll put it that way.” Id. (citing Tr. 1050–1051).  

The Government, on the other hand, points to evidence that Thompson 

personally picked up his $20,000 and $89,000 loan distribution checks. Resp. at 11; 

see 461:15–463:25, 465:8–467:16. The Government also argues that the evidence 

showed that Thompson repeatedly learned of the increasing balance of his loan, 

specifically pointing to: (1) an email Thompson received from Gembara on May 23, 

2014 showing the current balance of his loan with interest as $232,273.82 (GX 59); 

(2) March 2016 loan applications where Thompson acknowledges that the loan 

balance is more than $249,000 (GX 102 at 3; GX 103 at 3); and (3) Thompson’s 2016 

tax returns showing the loan in the amount of $249,049.96 (GX 216 at 9). Resp. at 

11–12. Both parties argue that DX 87/GX 68 supports their position—it is an envelope 

on which Thompson wrote, “Tax” in large letters, followed by, “Washington Fed,” 

“$249,049.96” and “?”. Mot. Post-Trial at 12; Resp. at 11–12. Thompson asserts that 

the question mark demonstrates that Thompson did not believe at any time he owed 

the $249,000 figure. Mot. Post-Trial at 12. The Government, in contrast, argues that 

this document shows that he knew he owed more than $110,000 on his Washington 

Federal Loan. Resp. at 11–12.  
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When viewing all of the evidence in the light most favorable to the 

Government, there was sufficient evidence to support the jury’s finding that 

Thompson knew he owed more than $110,000. The Court agrees with the 

Government that a rational jury could have chosen to disregard Holly and Newell’s 

speculation about Thompson’s knowledge—or lack thereof—of the loan amount; the 

jurors, unlike Holly and Newell, were aware of additional documents showing 

Thompson’s knowledge of the loan amount. Resp. at 12; see United States v. Peterson, 

823 F.3d 1113, 1120 (7th Cir. 2016) (in reviewing a motion for a judgment of acquittal, 

the Court’s task is not to “reweigh the evidence or invade the jury’s province of 

assessing credibility”). In sum, there was sufficient evidence for a rational jury to find 

that Thompson knew that he owed more than $110,000 when he made the statements 

charged in Counts I and II.  

3. Home Improvement Statement Made to Influence  
 

Finally, in support of his motion for judgment of acquittal on Count II, 

Thompson argues that there was insufficient evidence on the third element of 

Section 1014 with respect to the statement that the 2011 loan was for “home 

improvements.” Mot. Post-Trial at 13. Specifically, he contends that the statement 

that the 2011 loan was for “home improvements” “could not possibly have been made 

for the purpose of influencing anyone in the collection of the debt.” Id. He argues that 

the Government failed to offer any evidence showing that the alleged use of the funds 

in 2011—whether for home improvement or for a buy-in to Thompson’s law firm—

was for the purpose of influencing, or did influence, the FDIC in 2018. Id.  
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To convict under Section 1014, the Government must prove beyond a 

reasonable doubt that Thompson knowingly made the charged false statement “for 

the purpose of influencing in any way the action” of the FDIC. See Lane, 323 F.3d at 

583 (internal citations omitted). The Government correctly points out, and Thompson 

does not dispute, see Reply at 11, that it is not a defense to § 1014 “to say that the 

statements were not influential or the information not important,” as materiality is 

not an element of Section 1014. Resp. at 13 (quoting Wells, 519 U.S. at 494 (internal 

quotation marks omitted)). To sustain a conviction under Section 1014, the 

Government only has to prove that the “speaker knows the falsity of what he says 

and intends it to influence the institution.” Wells, 519 U.S. at 499; see also United 

States v. Glassey, 715 F.2d 352, 353 (7th Cir. 1983) (per curiam) (“[A]ctual reliance 

by the [financial institution] on a defendant’s false statements is not necessary for a 

conviction under § 1014.”).  

In support of the jury’s finding of intent, the Government points to Thompson’s 

statement to Murray on February 23, 2018 that there was no mortgage on the 

$110,000 he borrowed from Washington Federal, and that he had “just signed a 

Promissory Note” in 2011. Resp. at 12 (citing GX 188); see also GX 189 at 6:24–7:2. 

Thompson’s residential address was listed at the top of the note. Resp. at 12 (citing 

GX 89). During the call, Thompson told Murray that he would like to “quickly move 

forward,” asking if someone could “get back to him” in a week. Id. (citing GX 188); see 

also GX 189 at 7:13–8:3, 11:10–12. Thompson also indicated he knew the bank 

president was deceased, and that there had been “some financial impropriety” at 
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Washington Federal. Resp. at 12 (citing GX 188); GX 189 at 3:9–22. About one week 

later, on March 1, 2018, Thompson told Holly and Newell that the loan was for home 

improvements. Resp. at 13; Tr. 1034:19–23, 1078:22–25; GX 191. According to the 

Government, based on the above evidence, it is a reasonable inference that Thompson 

knew or strongly suspected that there was not much paperwork related to his loan, 

apart from the note, and Gembara (the individual with the most knowledge of his 

loan distributions) was deceased. Resp. at 13. Additionally, argues the Government, 

the evidence allowed the jury to reasonably infer that Thompson believed that if he 

made representations to the FDIC consistent with what appeared on the note (which 

included his residential property address), the FDIC was less likely to look for any 

additional paperwork and find the two additional loan distributions. Id. These 

inferences, according to the Government, are supported by Thompson’s insistence 

during the phone call that he wanted to resolve the situation quickly, and by his 

general knowledge of mortgages from his practice as a real estate attorney. Id.  

Thompson replies that the Government’s argument “is either an exercise in 

illogic or an effort to distract,” as the evidence might support evidence of intent to 

influence the FDIC about the amount Thompson borrowed, but has nothing to do with 

his alleged statement that the money was borrowed for home improvements. Reply 

at 12. The Court disagrees. True, the Court would not have been surprised if the jury 

had returned a not guilty verdict, but it matters not, as it is not the role of the trial 

judge, on a Rule 29 motion, to reweigh the testimony; the Court must “respect the 

exclusive function of the jury to determine the credibility of witnesses, resolve 
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evidentiary conflicts, and draw reasonable inferences.” Godinez, 7 F.4th at 638–39 

(internal quotation marks and citation omitted).  

Here, the evidence before the jury consisted of several different facts (in the 

form of Thompson’s conversations with Murray and with Holly and Newell, in 

addition to the Note itself), which could lead the jury to draw a reasonable inference 

(that is, Thompson told the FDIC that the loan was for home improvements in order 

to avoid the FDIC looking closely at all documentation and discovering the additional 

two loan disbursements). When examining the entirety of the evidence, the Court 

finds that it was sufficient for the jury to infer that Thompson told the FDIC that the 

loan was for home improvements in order to influence the FDIC’s collection of the 

money he owed.  

Accordingly, in viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the 

Government’s favor, as the Court must, the Court finds that there was sufficient trial 

evidence of Thompson’s guilt to support his convictions under Counts I and II.  

B. Counts III through VII 
 

In Counts III through VII, Thompson was convicted of filing false tax returns 

for tax years 2013 through 2017 in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7206. To find a defendant 

guilty of a charge under Section 7206, the Government must prove the following 

elements beyond a reasonable doubt: (1) The defendant caused someone to prepare 

an income tax return; (2) the income tax return was false as to a material matter, as 

charged in the Count; (3) the defendant signed the income tax return, which 

contained a written declaration that it was made under penalties of perjury; (4) the 
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defendant acted willfully, that is, he knew that he had a legal duty to file a truthful 

tax return, but when he signed the return, he did not believe it was truthful as to a 

material matter; and (5) the defendant filed or caused someone to file the income tax 

return with the Internal Revenue Service. Seventh Circuit Pattern Criminal Jury 

Instructions, 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1) (2020); see also Tr. 1327:8–25. Thompson argues 

that because there was insufficient evidence to show willfulness, the Court should 

grant a judgment of acquittal on Counts III through VII as well, as no rational jury 

could have found Thompson guilty beyond a reasonable doubt on those charges. Mot. 

Post-Trial at 13–14. 

More specifically, Thompson contends that the Government failed to introduce 

evidence that Thompson read the tax returns, saw references to Washington Federal 

in a stack of paper “buried many dozens of pages in,” or saw the Form 1098s reflecting 

the deductions for mortgage interest paid. Mot. Post-Trial at 14. And the tax 

planners, according to Thompson, rather than evidencing his willfulness, are actually 

exculpatory, as Thompson never claimed any credit for Washington Federal mortgage 

interest. Id. at 14–15 (citing Tr. 682–83). Thompson insists that this evidence, 

combined with the undisputed evidence that Thompson’s accountants never 

discussed the Washington Federal deductions with him before December 7, 2018, as 

well as the fact that when he discussed the deductions with Hannigan in 2018, 

Thompson asked, “[h]ow did this happen?”, warrant a judgment of acquittal on 

Counts Three through Seven. Id. at 14–15 (citing Tr. 735, 737).  
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The Government, on the other hand, points to a multitude of evidence 

introduced at trial that supports the jury’s finding that Thompson acted willfully with 

respect to his tax returns. For instance, the government highlights evidence that: (1) 

Thompson provided the Washington Federal Forms 1098 to his accountants for tax 

years 2013–2016 (GX 204, 208, 212, 216); (2) Thompson opened the envelopes 

containing his tax documents prior to providing them to his accountants (Tr. 348, 

363), at times writing information from those forms into his tax organizers (see, e.g., 

GX 203 at 11; GX 211 at 19); (3) Thompson filled out tax organizers which listed the 

Washington Federal deduction from the prior year, including instances where 

Thompson wrote on the page with that notation (see GX 203, GX 207, GX 211, GX 

215, GX 219); (4) Thompson wrote specific notes to his accountants about mortgage 

interest and/or Forms 1098 (see GX 35, GX 215 at 1, GX 216 at 27); (5) Thompson sent 

email and text messages to his accountants with questions about his tax returns after 

he reviewed them (see GX 251, GX 255, GX 269); and (6) Thompson opened the 

envelope containing his 2016 Washington Federal Form 1098 and wrote the loan 

balance listed on the Form 1098 on the envelope (see GX 68). Resp. at 14.  

As for the 2017 tax year, the Government observes that before the filing of the 

return, Thompson received an email from Hannigan, informing Thompson that the 

Washington Federal mortgage interest for 2017 was estimated to be $10,000 for tax 

purposes. See Resp. at 14 (citing GX 256). The Government furthermore introduced 

evidence that Thompson responded to several portions of the email, which the 

Government contends demonstrates that Thompson read this email and knew of its 
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contents. Id. (citing GX 199, GX 259, GX 257). Thompson does not dispute any of this 

evidence in reply. See Reply.  

It is well established in the Seventh Circuit that proof of willfulness in tax 

cases is “most often made through circumstantial evidence.” United States v. Walsh, 

627 F.2d 88, 92 (7th Cir. 1980) (citation omitted); see also United States v. Hills, 618 

F.3d 619, 638 (7th Cir. 2010) (citation omitted). As the Government correctly states, 

“[f]ailure to supply an accountant with accurate information is evidence of 

willfulness.” Resp. at 15 (quoting United States v. Powell, 576 F.3d 482, 495 (7th Cir. 

2009)). And evidence that Thompson reviewed the tax organizers and prepared 

returns provided by his accountants is circumstantial evidence that he was aware of 

the contents of those documents, including the Washington Federal deduction. Id. 

(citing United States v. Creasia, 316 Fed. App’x. 558, 559 (9th Cir. 2008) (knowledge 

inferred from defendant’s “review[ of] his tax returns (including pointing out an error 

that his tax preparer had made on a previous return)”)).14  

The Court finds that the Government introduced sufficient circumstantial 

evidence at trial that Thompson knew that the Washington Federal deduction was 

on his tax returns for all charged tax years. The Court therefore denies Thompson’s 

motion for judgment of acquittal on Counts III through VII. 

 
14Although, as a non-published out-of-Circuit case, Creasia is not binding on this Court, the 
Court finds the proposition of law as cited by the Government, to be persuasive. Moreover, 
Thompson did not oppose it in his Reply brief, so any argument on the case is waived. See 
Bonte, 624 F.3d at 466 (“Failure to respond to an argument . . . results in waiver.”). 
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II. Motion for a New Trial 
 

In the alternative, Thompson moves for a new trial, taking the position that: 

(1) the verdicts are against the manifest weight of the evidence, (2) the Government 

engaged in prosecutorial misconduct during closing arguments, (3) the Court erred in 

certain rulings on motions in limine and evidence, and (4) the Court erred by failing 

to provide a specific jury instruction. Mot. Post-Trial at 15–25. 

A. Weight of the Evidence 
 

A court may grant a new trial if the jury’s verdict is “so contrary to the weight 

of the evidence that a new trial is required in the interest of justice.” United States v. 

Washington, 184 F.3d 653, 657 (7th Cir. 1999) (when considering a motion for a new 

trial, “the court considers whether the verdict is against the manifest weight of the 

evidence, taking into account the credibility of the witnesses”). In that vein, a court 

“may not reweigh the evidence and set aside the verdict simply because it feels some 

other result would be more reasonable. . . . The evidence must preponderate heavily 

against the verdict, such that it would be a miscarriage of justice to let the verdict 

stand. . . . Motions for new trial based on weight of the evidence are not favored. 

Courts are to grant them sparingly and with caution, doing so only in those really 

exceptional cases.” United States v. Reed, 875 F.2d 107, 113 (7th Cir. 1989) (internal 

quotation and citation omitted); see also United States v. Coscia, 4 F.4th 454, 465 (7th 

Cir. 2021) (citations and quotations omitted) (“Granting a new trial in the ‘interest of 

justice’ is reserved for only the most extreme cases, and [the Seventh Circuit] 
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approach[es] such motions with great caution and [is] wary of second-guessing the 

determinations of both judge and jury.”).  

Thompson asserts few arguments in support of his motion for a new trial based 

on the sufficiency of the evidence that were not raised in his motion for judgment of 

acquittal. See Mot. Post-Trial at 17. The Court addresses only the arguments he 

advances specifically under the Rule 33 standard.  

As an initial matter, the Court reiterates its findings that literal falsity is not 

required for a conviction under Section 1014 and that there was no constructive 

amendment or variance between the offenses charged in Counts I and II of the 

indictment and the evidence at trial; as such, under the Rule 33 standard, the Court 

finds that the interests of justice do not mandate a new trial on those points. See Mot. 

Post-Trial at 16.  

Thompson points to United States v. Herrera, in which the Fifth Circuit upheld 

the district court’s granting of a new trial. Mot. Post-Trial at 16 (citing 559 F.3d 296, 

302–303 (5th Cir. 2009)). Thompson appears to rely on Herrera for his argument that 

there was insufficient evidence of his willfulness or of a specific intent to avoid paying 

taxes. Mot. Post-Trial at 16–17. However, he does not explain how the facts of Herrera 

are similar to the facts here. Id. No matter, as the Court finds Herrera to be 

inapposite. First, Herrera, a Fifth Circuit case, is not binding on the Court. Second, 

and more importantly, in Herrera, the Fifth Circuit (applying an abuse of discretion 

standard), affirmed the district court’s grant of a new trial on the basis that the 
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evidence “preponderated heavily against the guilty verdict.”15 Herrera, 559 F.3d at 

302–303. By contrast, here, for the reasons discussed above, see supra Section I.B, 

the Court finds that there was sufficient evidence at trial in support of Thompson’s 

willfulness in making false statements on his tax returns, such that this is not an 

“exceptional case” that warrants a new trial.  

Next, Thompson argues that the errors in the FDIC’s communications log and 

Holly’s and Newell’s testimony, which revealed mistakes of memory and errors, 

showed that that evidence was insufficient to convict Thompson for the false 

statement relating to the $110,000 loan being used for “home improvement.” Mot. 

Post-Trial at 16; Reply at 12–13. Although the Court agrees that there were 

inconsistencies in the communications log and Holly and Newell’s testimony, for the 

same reasons discussed above, see supra Section I.A.1.b, it does not find the evidence 

to be so incredible that it warrants setting aside the jury’s verdict. See Coscia, 4 F.4th 

at 465 (courts are wary to set aside the jury’s determination); see also Washington, 

184 F.3d at 657 (where verdict is not against the manifest weight of the evidence, the 

court should not set aside the verdict simply because it feels some other result would 

be more reasonable). The same goes for Thompson’s argument that he intended to 

influence the FDIC by falsely stating that the $110,000 loan was for home 

improvements. See id.; Reply at 11. 

 
15The Fifth Circuit reversed the district court’s grant of a judgment of acquittal, however, 
finding that the jury reasonably could have concluded that the defendant acted willfully 
based on the evidence introduced at trial. Herrera, 559 F.3d at 302. 
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For the reasons discussed above, the Court finds that the jury’s verdict on all 

Counts was not contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. As such, the Court 

denies Thompson’s motion for a new trial on the basis of the sufficiency of the 

evidence.  

B. Closing Arguments 
 

Thompson argues that the Government’s closing argument and rebuttal 

argument were “highly improper and prejudicial” and as such, a new trial is 

necessary. Mot. Post-Trial at 18. “The district court has broad discretion in deciding 

whether to grant a new trial based on prosecutorial misconduct.” United States v. 

Freeman, 650 F.3d 673, 683 (7th Cir. 2011). When evaluating claims of prosecutorial 

misconduct based on closing argument, a court must “first determine whether the 

remarks by the prosecutor were improper when viewed in isolation”; if not, the 

analysis ends there. United States v. Carswell, 996 F.3d 785, 796 (7th Cir. 2021) 

(internal citation omitted). If the prosecutor’s remarks were improper, the court must 

“evaluate them in light of the entire record and determine whether they deprived the 

defendant of a fair trial,” including considering the following factors: “(i) whether the 

prosecutor misstated the evidence; (ii) whether the remark implicated the specific 

rights of the accused; (iii) whether the defense invited the response; (iv) the effect of 

any curative instructions; (v) the defendant’s opportunity to rebut; and (vi) the weight 

of the evidence.” Id. (internal citations omitted). “Improper prosecutorial statements 

during closing argument rarely constitute reversible error[,] and [a defendant so 
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arguing] faces an uphill battle.” United States v. Chavez, 12 F.4th 716, 728 (7th 

Cir. 2021) (internal quotations and citations omitted).  

Although “prosecutors may not infuse their closing arguments with facts that 

the court has not admitted into evidence, they may argue reasonable inferences from 

the evidence that the jury has seen and heard.” United States v. Waldemer, 50 F.3d 

1379, 1383 (7th Cir. 1995) (internal citation omitted). A prosecutor may argue 

reasonable inferences related to the defendant’s intent, so long as those inferences 

can be reasonably drawn from the evidence. See. e.g., United States v. Della Rose, 403 

F.3d 891, 906–907 (7th Cir. 2005) (government’s argument that defendant produced 

to the government photocopies of a document rather than originals “to make it more 

difficult for a handwriting expert to detect a forged signature” was “an argument with 

a basis in inferences that could reasonably be drawn from the testimony”). 

With this legal backdrop in place, the Court turns to Thompson’s prosecutorial 

misconduct arguments.  

1. Thompson’s “Plan” 
 

Thompson first takes issue with the theme of the Government’s closing, and 

the arguments made in support, namely, that Thompson’s conduct between February 

23, 2018 (when he called PHL) through December 7, 2018 (when he spoke to 

Hannigan about the Washington Federal deductions) was part of a premeditated 

“plan” to trick PHL and the FDIC, so he could pay less than what he owed. Mot. Post-

Trial at 18 (citing Tr. 1334, 1341, 1347, 1352, 1368, 1370). Thompson also takes 

umbrage with the Government’s statements that Thompson was “hoping and 
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praying” that PHL and the FDIC would not catch on to his plan, that they would not 

“dig deeper,” and that they would not learn about the advances. Id. at 19 (citing Tr. 

1346, 1350–51, 1363). Thompson submits that there was no evidence introduced at 

trial of any “plan” or “scheme,” nor that Thompson was “hoping and praying” not to 

get caught, and therefore he contends that these comments misstated the evidence. 

Id. Thompson points to Murray’s testimony that Thompson called the PHL service 

line to ask for help in determining what his loan balance was. Id. (citing Tr. 1180). 

Along the same lines, Thompson argues that the Government’s argument that 

Thompson “acted surprised” and “confused” as part of his “act,” was improper because 

it too was unsupported by the evidence. Id. (citing Tr. 1334, 1351–52, 1368). Namely, 

Thompson argues that Holly and Newell’s testimony that Thompson was surprised 

when he was provided with information about the full amount of the loan, contradicts 

the Government’s statements. Id. (citing Tr. 1011, 1045, 1080, 1091).  

Similarly, Thompson maintains that the Government’s arguments relating to 

the tax counts (Counts Three through Seven) were improper, in that it argued that 

that after being visited by federal agents on December 3, 2018, Mr. Thompson took 

“a couple days to hatch a plan” and then executed the plan by speaking with Mr. 

Hannigan on December 7, 2018. Mot. Post-Trial at 19–20 (citing Tr. 1368). Thompson 

contends that not only was there no evidence of any such plan, but also that the 

Government’s argument directly conflicted with the evidence, as Hannigan testified 

that Thompson called with a question about his re-financing, and that it was 
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Hannigan that raised the issue of the deductions, not Thompson. Id. at 20 (citing Tr. 

725, 730–31).  

As an initial matter, the Government argues that Thompson did not object to 

these statements during the Government’s closing, and as such, he has forfeited the 

argument.16 Resp. at 18–19. Thompson concedes as much. Reply at 13. The Court 

therefore examines Thompson’s arguments under a plain error standard. See United 

States v. Hicks, 15 F.4th 814, 816 (7th Cir. 2021) (failure to object closing argument 

results in forfeiture and court reviews forfeited issues for plain error).  

The Court agrees with the Government that its arguments about Thompson’s 

“plan” were proper inferences from the evidence introduced at trial—specifically that 

Thompson made similar statements about his loan to both PHL and the FDIC, two 

different agencies working to collect the loan. Resp. at 19. It is not an unreasonable 

inference that Thompson had a “plan” to mislead PHL and the FDIC into not 

collecting the full amount of his loan based on his repeated misrepresentations. See 

Waldemer, 50 F.3d at 1383. Nor is it an unreasonable to infer from the evidence that 

Thompson “hoped” that those entities would not find the additional loan. See Della 

Rose, 403 F.3d at 906–907. Similarly, the Court cannot say that it was an 

unreasonable inference that Thompson would have made a “plan” about what he was 

going to say about his Washington Federal loan when he called Hannigan, his 

accountant, based on the evidence that Thompson waited several days after being 

 
16The Court disagrees with the Government, however, that Thompson waived the argument 
by failing to object during closings, Resp. at 18–19, as such failure was not the “the 
intentional relinquishment of a known right,” Olano, 507 U.S. at 733.  
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approached by law enforcement about that loan to call Hannigan. See id. As a result, 

there was no error, let alone a plain error, in the Government’s arguments about 

Thompson’s “plan.”  

The same is true with respect to the Government’s statements regarding 

Thompson’s feigned surprise. The evidence at trial regarding Thompson’s knowledge 

of his loan balance prior to the February 2018 call with PHL, as well as the evidence 

concerning the falsity of his tax returns support the reasonable inference that 

Thompson pretended to be surprised about: (1) the total amount of the loan on his 

call with Newell and Holly; and (2) the contents of his tax returns when speaking 

with Hannigan after his interview with law enforcement. See Resp. at 19–20. Even if 

the Government’s statements in isolation were improper, in light of the conflicting 

evidence about Thompson’s surprise (e.g., Newell and Holly’s testimony that 

Thompson was surprised about the full loan amount, and Hannigan’s statement that 

he raised the issues of the deductions on the post-law enforcement call), the Court 

cannot say, under a plain error standard, that the Government’s comments deprived 

Thompson of a fair trial. The Government’s closing arguments about Thompson’s plan 

and feigned surprise are therefore not a basis for a new trial.  

2. Misstatements Unsupported by Evidence  
 

Thompson also argues that the Government engaged in misleading arguments 

by making up testimony, two instances of which Thompson’s counsel objected to. 

First, Thompson contends that the Government falsely argued, “You heard Mr. Holly 

and Mr. Newell say that while they were talking to him, they were talking – they 
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ended up talking about his personal debt. He told them he borrowed $110,000 and 

that he didn’t owe that higher amount, that balance of $269,000.” Mot. Post-Trial at 

20 (citing Tr. 1348). Thompson points out that the evidence showed that no one even 

mentioned the $269,000 on the call, and that there was no discussion at all about 

what was owed (as opposed to borrowed). Id. The Government responds that its 

statement was a reasonable inference based on the evidence that, (1) as of March 1, 

2018, Thompson knew that the balance that the FDIC was seeking to collect was 

approximately $269,000 (GX 72, GX 188); and (2) that during this call, Thompson told 

Holly and Newell that he disputed his balance (GX 191; Tr. 1079:1–8). Resp. at 17.  

As discussed above, see supra Section I.A.1.a, it was a reasonable inference 

from the evidence that Thompson’s claim that he was disputing that higher balance 

was intended to convey, in substance, that he did not owe that amount. Additionally, 

as the Government points out, in his closing, Thompson’s counsel argued that it was 

not a reasonable inference that Thompson was stating he did not owe a higher 

amount. Resp. at 17 (citing Tr. 1389–1393 (“In fact, on the call, Holly and Newell 

were asking him how much he borrowed, not how much he owed, and there’s a 

difference between what you borrow and what you owe.”)). As stated above, the Court 

does not find that the Government’s argument was a misstatement of the evidence. 

Even if it were a misstatement of evidence, Thompson’s counsel’s ability to rebut the 

argument, combined with the Court’s reminders to the jury that closing arguments 

are not evidence, support a finding that Thompson was not deprived of a fair trial. 

See United States v. Wolfe, 701 F.3d 1206, 1213 (7th Cir. 2012) (a defendant’s 
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“opportunity to respond . . . during his closing argument” and the district court’s 

instruction to the jury “before and after closing arguments that the attorney’s 

statements were not to be taken as evidence” weighed in favor of a finding that 

defendant was not prejudiced by a misstatement of the evidence). 

Second, Thompson argues that the Government not only made up evidence but 

also violated the Court’s ruling on a motion in limine by arguing: “At some point also, 

he acknowledged that that $110,000 was for his law firm buy in, and you also heard 

Mr. Newell say that Mr. Holly and Mr. Newell were not the only people talking to the 

defendant. There was another person, John Mallaber, from planet home who was also 

talking to him during this time period and it may have been John Mallaber.” Mot. 

Post-Trial at 21 (citing Tr. 1351). According to Thompson, there was no proof of any 

discussions between Thompson and Mallaber, and the Government’s argument 

violated the Court’s order barring any testimony about attempts to repay the loans, 

including evidence concerning interactions between the FDIC and Mallaber of PHL. 

Id.  

The Government retorts that the argument did not violate the Court’s rulings 

on any motions in limine. The Court agrees. As the Government points out, the Court 

excluded evidence of Thompson’s efforts after March 1, 2018 to repay his Washington 

Federal Loan, not all testimony from or related to Mallaber. Resp. at 18 (citing R. 95 

at 3–4). Indeed, the Court, in ruling on the parties’ motions in limine and proposed 

trial exhibits, explicitly allowed admission of certain communications between 

Thompson and Mallaber where Thompson made representations about the 
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characteristics of his loan. Id. (citing R. 95 at 21 (denying Thompson’s Motion in 

limine to exclude GX 196)). The Government’s argument at closing relating to 

Mallaber does not relate to evidence about Thompson’s attempts to repay the loan, 

and as such was not excluded by the Court’s motion in limine rulings.  

The Court also agrees with the Government that its argument in closing that 

“it might have been John Mallaber” (meaning the person Thompson told that the 

$110,000 was for his law firm buy-in) was a reasonable inference to make from the 

evidence introduced at trial. Resp. at 17–18. As the Government asserts, Holly and 

Newell both testified that PHL had primary responsibility for Thompson’s loan, 

Tr. 1006, and the evidence at trial showed that employees from PHL were 

communicating with Thompson about that loan as early as February 2018. See GX 

188; Resp. at 18. At trial, when asked about an April 2018 email where Newell wrote 

to Thompson and told him that the $110,000 distribution “was confirmed by you as 

your buy in to the firm,” GX 199, Newell testified that Thompson did not make that 

confirmation on March 1, and that, “I don’t recall when he did that. I don’t recall if 

he told John Mallaber with Planet Home.” Tr. 1098–99. Contrary to Thompson’s 

argument that such a statement is “the absence of evidence” from which the 

Government could not reasonably draw an inference, Reply at 14, evaluating Newell’s 

testimony in context—in which he affirmatively mentioned Mallaber’s name as a 

possible source of the information, despite his lack of certainty—could support an 

inference that the source of the information “might have been John Mallaber.”  
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Even assuming the impropriety of the Government’ statement, Thompson was 

not deprived of a fair trial, given that the statement was made during the 

Government’s opening close, Thompson’s counsel had the ability to rebut the 

argument, and, as stated above, the Court reminded the jury multiple times that 

closing arguments are not evidence. See Wolfe, 701 F.3d at 1213. The Court also 

disagrees with Thompson that any potential misstatement was a “fundamental error 

on a key element of the prosecution.” Reply at 14. Newell testified that Thompson did 

not state that the loan was for his law firm buy-in during the call on March 1, 2018, 

and Holly testified that Thompson may have so stated in an email not reflected in the 

communications log. Tr. 1041, 1100. As stated above, they both testified that 

Thompson told them that the loan was for “home improvements” during the March 1, 

2018 call. Tr. 1034:19–23, 1078:22–25. Whether Thompson might have told Mallaber, 

or informed Holly and Newell in a different way after the March 1, 2018 call, does not 

directly go to the elements of the charged offense. As such, the Court cannot find that, 

even if the Government’s argument as to Mallaber during closing constituted a 

misstatement of the evidence, that it was so egregious as to deprive Thompson of a 

fair trial. See Carswell, 996 F.3d at 796. 

3. Voters 
 

Thompson next argues that, in rebuttal, the Government made improper 

arguments that Thompson was blaming the voters for his problems. Mot. Post-Trial 

at 21; Reply at 14. Specifically, Thompson takes issue with the following:  

Mr. Netols: And then, of course, I guess the voters are probably at fault, 
too, because by electing him to his public offices – 
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Mr. Gair: Your Honor, I object. 
The Court: Sustained.  
Mr. Netols: He’s talked about his public offices. 
The Court: Sustained. 
Mr. Netols: He’s overscheduled for all of these reasons. It’s all – it’s 

everyone else’s fault. 
 

Id. at 21–22 (citing Tr. 1419). Thompson posits that the Government improperly 

sought to tie Thompson’s position as an alderman to charges that had nothing 

whatsoever to do with his public office and urged to jury to use this as a basis to 

convict him of wholly unrelated crimes. Mot. Post-Trial at 22.  

 The Government points out it was Thompson’s counsel who referred to 

Thompson’s position as an alderman during closing, arguing that Thompson was 

“inattentive to detail” and that the errors on his taxes were mistakes, “[b]ecause he’s 

got information overload or because he’s not paying sufficient attention because what 

he cares about is the people in his ward. What he cares about is helping people. He’s 

not worrying about the details of taxes.” Resp. at 20 (citing Tr. 1400, 1401). 

Additionally, at the close of the argument, Thompson’s counsel explicitly referenced 

Thompson’s position as an alderman, asking the jury to “[s]end Mr. Thompson back 

to his family, and to his job, to helping the constituents, his constituents and the 

people who live in the City of Chicago.” Tr. 1408–09. The Government further notes 

that Thompson also introduced evidence about his aldermanic position and his duties 

in that role. Resp. at 20–21 (citing Tr. 1193).  

The Government contends that its at-issue comments were a response to 

Thompson’s efforts to tie his job as an alderman to his lack of intent to file false tax 

returns. Resp. at 20–21. True, the Court found the Government’s argument about 
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Thompson “blaming the voters” to be inappropriate, as demonstrated by sustaining 

Thompson’s counsel’s objection. But the Court agrees with the Government that, 

although an improper—and clunky—way of doing so, the Government’s rebuttal, 

taken in context, was a response to Thompson’s counsel’s closing argument that 

Thompson lacked intent to file false tax returns due to being extremely busy based, 

in part, on his job as an alderman. Id. Because the Court sustained the objection and, 

as noted previously, repeatedly instructed the jury that closing arguments are not 

evidence, the Court finds that the Government’s comments about voters were not so 

outrageous and extreme as to deprive Thompson of a fair trial. See Chavez, 12 F.4th 

at 732.  

4. Shifting Burden of Proof  
 

Next, Thompson asserts that the Government’s rebuttal improperly urged the 

jury to ignore the evidence and shifted the burden of proof. Mot. Post-Trial at 22–23. 

Specifically, Thompson takes issue with the following argument:  

[The defense] never tied any of this overscheduling to any event in this case. 
They never said, gee, look at the date on which he signed this loan applications 
and at that point he was involved in this big matter with his firm or he was 
traveling or he wasn’t concentrating. . . . [the defense did not] tie anything up. 
When he signed his tax returns, there’s no evidence to say at the time he did 
that, he was in a committee hearing. At the time he did any of this stuff. At the 
time he filled out the tax organizers, he was too busy because he was in the 
middle of his big engagement for work. . . . He never ties it up—”  

 
Id. (citing Tr. 1420). In the middle of the Government’s argument, Thompson’s 

counsel objected, which the Court overruled. Id. at 23 (citing Tr. 1420). The Court’s 

failure to sustain the defense objection, insists Thompson, was error, as it allowed 
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the jury to consider the fact that Thompson did not present certain evidence when he 

was not required to present any evidence at all. Id.  

In support, Thompson cites only one out-of-Circuit case, United States v. 

Hernandez, 145 F.3d 1433, 1439 (11th Cir. 1998). Mot. Post-Trial at 23. But in 

Hernandez, while the Eleventh Circuit acknowledged that “a prosecutor may not 

comment about the absence of witnesses or otherwise attempt to shift the burden of 

proof,” the court ultimately rejected the defendant’s burden-shifting argument. 145 

F.3d at 1439. The court reasoned that “it is not improper for a prosecutor to note that 

the defendant has the same subpoena powers as the government, particularly when 

done in response to a defendant’s argument about the prosecutor’s failure to call a 

specific witness.” Id. (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). So too here, it 

was not improper for the Government to argue on rebuttal that the defense, meaning 

the defense team, did not connect Thompson’s business to his lack of intent to file 

false tax returns. Thompson’s citation to Hernandez therefore misses the mark.  

As the Government points out, it is well-established in the Seventh Circuit 

that, in closing arguments, “[t]he prosecution is well within its rights in pointing out 

the absence or weakness of defense evidence” in response to defense evidence or 

defendant’s arguments. Resp. at 21–22 (quoting Carswell, 996 F.3d at 796–98, and 

citing, among other cases, United States v. Castillo, 965 F.2d 238, 244 (7th Cir. 1992) 

(“All the prosecutor was saying was that, with the trial complete, there was no 

evidence to support the defense lawyer’s argument that his client had been engaged 

in a legitimate transaction. He was commenting on the balance of the evidence.”); 
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United States v. Nunez, 532 F.3d 645, 654 (7th Cir. 2009) (“[P]rosecutor’s comment 

was an attack on the strength (or lack thereof) of the defense—which is permissible. 

. . .”)).  

The Court finds that the Government’s rebuttal arguments did not 

impermissibly shift the burden of proof to Thompson, especially because the jury was 

instructed as to the burden of proof and the Government’s comments did not implicate 

Thompson’s right not to testify.17 Resp. at 22 (citing United States v. Roux, 715 F.3d 

1019, 1031 (7th Cir. 2013)). At trial, not only did the Court instruct the jury both 

immediately before and immediately after closing arguments that the Government 

bears the burden of proof at all times, but the Government also began its rebuttal 

argument by reminding the jury that the Government had the burden of proof and 

that Thompson was not required to present evidence. Tr. 1318, 1409, 1421; United 

States v. Chaparro, 956 F.3d 462, 484 (7th Cir. 2020) (finding the government’s 

argument that the defense could have subpoenaed family members was permissible, 

and noting with approval that the prosecutor reminded the jury that the government 

bore the burden of proof). The Court thus finds that the Government’s statements 

about the lack of evidence were not improper.  

5. Non-Relevant Evidence  
 

Finally, Thompson contends that the Government improperly argued on 

rebuttal that Thompson had “injected evidence that’s not relevant and arguments 

 
17Thompson does not contend that the comments implicated his right not to testify, and the 
Court agrees with the Government that the comments did not implicate that right, given that 
the purportedly absent evidence—primarily about Thompson’s busy schedule—could have 
come from sources other than Thompson himself. Resp. at 23.  
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that aren’t relevant.” Mot. Post-Trial at 22 (citing Tr. 1409–10, 1421). As Thompson 

correctly points out, the Court, not the Government, is the arbiter of what evidence 

is relevant. Id. Admittedly, it would have been better for the Government to use a 

word other than “relevant” to argue its point that the evidence introduced by the 

defense should be given no weight. See Resp. at 23. Still, the Court agrees with the 

Government that such comments were not so prejudicial as to deprive Thompson of 

a fair trial, given that the jury was instructed that it was their role to consider only 

“what the witnesses said when they were testifying under oath, the exhibits [the 

Court] allowed into evidence, and stipulations” and that the jury was to give that 

evidence “whatever weight [they] decide[d] it deserve[d].” Id. (citing Tr. 1318–19).  

All in all, the Court finds that the Government’s arguments during its closing 

argument and rebuttal do not warrant a new trial.  

C. Motions in Limine and Evidentiary Rulings 
 

Thompson contends that the Court erred in certain evidentiary holdings, 

meriting a new trial. Mot. Post-Trial at 23–25. “[I]f an error in the admission or 

exclusion of evidence was committed during the trial, the court will grant a new trial 

only if the error had a substantial influence over the jury, and the result reached was 

inconsistent with substantial justice.” United States v. Walton, 217 F.3d 443, 449 (7th 

Cir. 2000) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). When a defendant moves 

for a new trial based on the exclusion of evidence, “a new trial is appropriate only if 

the average juror would have found the government’s case significantly less 
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persuasive had the wrongly excluded evidence been admitted.” United States v. 

Brown, 871 F.3d 532, 536 (7th Cir. 2017) (internal citation omitted).  

1. Exclusion of Evidence of Thompson’s Efforts to Repay and 
Repayment of Loan 

 
Thompson argues that the Court erred in denying his Motion in Limine No. 11 

and thereby excluding evidence of Thompson’s post-March 1, 2018 efforts to repay 

and eventual repayment of his Washington Federal loans. Mot. Post-Trial at 24. 

Thompson contends that such evidence was relevant to: (1) his mental state when he 

made the charged false statements and (2) his “purpose” of influencing PHL and the 

FDIC in the collection of the loan. Id. In denying Thompson’s Motion in Limine, the 

Court found that such evidence was not relevant. R. 95 at 3–4, 29. Thompson has not 

advanced additional arguments in support the relevance of the evidence; the Court 

finds its earlier reasoning sound, and a new trial is not warranted based on the 

exclusion of this evidence.  

Thompson points to Hannigan’s testimony at trial regarding discussions 

throughout 2018 regarding refinancing the Washington Federal loans. Mot. Post-

Trial at 24 (citing Tr. 725–729). According to Thompson, this evidence on its own—

without evidence that Thompson was cooperative with PHL in its efforts to collect the 

loan and that Thompson paid back the full principal balance—created the false and 

prejudicial impression that he did not pay back the loan. Id. In response, the 

Government correctly points out that Hannigan’s testimony with which Thompson 

now takes issue was elicited by the defense, not the Government, over the 

Government’s objection. Resp. at 23 (citing R. 78 at 5). Because Thompson 

Case: 1:21-cr-00279 Document #: 170 Filed: 06/03/22 Page 58 of 63 PageID #:3483

A097

Case: 22-2254      Document: 9            Filed: 10/24/2022      Pages: 154



 59 

strategically decided to elicit this testimony, the Government argues that he has 

waived any argument that it was misleading to the jury. Id. at 23–24 (citing United 

States v. Lundberg, 990 F.3d 1087, 1094 (7th Cir. 2021)). The Court agrees. See, e.g., 

United States v. Driver, 242 F.3d 767, 770 (7th Cir. 2001) (internal citations omitted) 

(“If, for example, defense counsel elicits testimony at trial, the defendant can’t argue 

on appeal that the evidence was hearsay and should have been excluded. When the 

court does exactly what the defendant wants, the defendant has waived rather than 

simply forfeited any argument that things should have been done otherwise.”). 

Thompson has waived any argument that admission of Hannigan’s testimony 

regarding refinancing the loan was prejudicial and warrants a new trial.  

2. Admission of Government Exhibits Showing Loan Balance  
 

Thompson next argues that the Court erred by admitting exhibits GX 57, 

GX 59–GX 61, GX 73, and GX 139 (all of which show the loan balance) on the basis 

that such documents were not being offered for the truth of the matter asserted but 

rather to show Thompson’s knowledge. Mot. Post-Trial at 24–25; see R. 114, Exhibit 

Rulings. Thompson maintains that the Government did indeed offer the documents 

for the truth of the matter asserted—specifically the amount of the loan balance—

and that the Government so argued in its closing argument. Mot. Post-Trial at 25 

(citing Tr. 1338–39, 1344–45). The Court is somewhat puzzled by Thompson’s 

argument, which appears to be two arguments rolled into one: (1) the Court erred in 

admitting the exhibits over Thompson’s hearsay objections; and (2) the Government’s 
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use of the exhibits for the truth of the matter asserted therein during its closing 

argument prejudiced Thompson.  

With respect to the first argument, Thompson appears to suggest that the 

Court erred in finding that the exhibits were not being offered for the truth of the 

matter asserted but rather to show Thompson’s knowledge. Mot. Post-Trial at 25. To 

that end, Thompson insists that the evidence was offered for the truth of the matter 

asserted, reasoning “[i]n particular, the government introduced the documents to 

show what the loan balance was and that defendant saw that information and 

maintained the documents in his files, and thus that he knew what the balance was 

when he spoke with Planet Home Lending and the FDIC years later.” Id. However, 

Thompson’s own argument reveals that the Court was correct, in that the exhibits 

were used to show that Thompson saw the listed loan balance, maintained that loan 

balance as part of his records, and had knowledge of that loan balance when he spoke 

to PHL and FDIC years later. The Court agrees with the Government, see Resp. at 24, 

that the exhibits were relevant to Thompson’s knowledge, and finds that the 

Government was not offering them for the truth of the matter asserted. As such, the 

Court did not err in admitting the exhibits over Thompson’s hearsay objections.18 See 

Exhibit Rulings. 

 
18As for GX 57 and GX 139, the Court additionally overruled Thompson’s hearsay objections 
to those exhibits on the ground that Thompson’s statements in the email chains were 
admissions by a party opponent under Fed. R. Evid. 801(d)(2). See Exhibit Rulings. Contrary 
to the Government’s assertions, see Resp. at 24, the Court’s Rule 801(d)(2) holdings were 
limited to Thompson’s statements pursuant to Rule 801(d)(2)(A); the Court did not hold that 
there were adoptive admissions under Rule 801(d)(2)(B).  
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The Court turns to Thompson’s second, but closely related, loan balance exhibit 

argument, that the Government improperly relied on the exhibits for the truth of the 

matter asserted during its closing argument. As an initial matter, as the Court stated 

in its earlier Exhibit Rulings Order, GX 57 and GX 139 are email communications 

that contained statements by Thompson, which are admissions by a party opponent 

under Fed. R. 801(d)(2). Exhibit Rulings. So, in addition to holding that GX 57 and 

GX 139 were not hearsay because they were not being offered for the truth of the 

matter asserted, the Court also found that Thompson’s statements were not hearsay 

under Rule 801(d)(2). Id. As a result, Thompson’s argument that the Government 

should not have been able to rely on the truth of the exhibits is a non-starter with 

respect to any of Thompson’s statements in GX 57 and GX 139.  

Thompson’s loan exhibit argument has another fatal flaw in that he failed to 

object to the Government’s reliance on the truth of these exhibits during the 

Government’s closing. As stated above, in reviewing the closing argument with which 

Thompson takes issue, the Court agrees with the Government that the exhibits were 

admitted for the purpose of showing Thompson’s knowledge of the loan balance. Resp. 

at 24; Tr. 1338–39, 1344–45. However, to the extent the Government relied on these 

exhibits to show the amount of the loan, Thompson failed to object. Accordingly, the 

Government is correct that Thompson forfeited the argument and it is subject to plain 

error review. Resp. at 24; see Hicks, 15 F.4th at 816. Applying plain error review, 

Thompson’s argument falls flat. Because other, non-hearsay evidence was before the 

jury about the amount of the loan, any potential prejudice of the Government using 
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the subject exhibits to establish the amount of the loan was small, and certainly 

would not have had “substantial influence over the jury.” Walton, 217 F.3d 443 at 

449. The admission of GX 57, GX 59–GX 61, GX 73, and GX 139 and the Government’s 

arguments about them during closing do not warrant a new trial. 

D. Jury Instruction 
 

In cursory fashion, Thompson argues that the Court erred by failing to give 

Thompson’s requested good faith jury instruction relating to the tax charges. Mot. 

Post-Trial at 25 (citing R. 135). Before trial, Thompson requested that the Court give 

a good faith instruction to the jury stating that, if Defendant believed in good faith 

that he was acting within the law, he did not make a false statement on a tax return 

as charged in Counts III through VII. R. 56. The Court deferred ruling until trial, and 

after the close of evidence, the Court declined to give Thompson’s proffered good faith 

instruction. R. 135, Jury Instruction Order at 1–2. The Court agreed with the 

Government that the instruction was not mandated by Cheek v. United States, 498 

U.S. 192, 201 (1991), and that, based on the evidence introduced at trial, Thompson’s 

proffered good faith instruction was not warranted. Id. at 1. The Court instructed the 

jury as to the definition of willfulness. Tr. 1327:8–22 (instructing jury that to find 

Thompson guilty of Counts III through VII, the jury must find that Thompson acted 

willfully, meaning that “he knew he had a legal duty to file a truthful tax return, but 

when he signed the return, he did not believe it was truthful as to a material matter”).  

The Seventh Circuit has held that the good faith instruction is not required 

when the jury is instructed on willfulness and evidence did not support the 
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instruction. Resp. at 25 (citing United States v. Kokenis, 662 F.3d 919, 929–30 (7th 

Cir. 2011) (willfulness instruction “necessarily encompassed the defense theory of 

good faith” as the “jury could not find both that [defendant] acted willfully as defined 

in the instructions and that he acted in good faith”) (emphasis in original)). As the 

Court stated in its previous Order, no evidence was presented that Thompson did not 

know the law or that he misunderstood the law. Jury Instruction Order at 1–2. As a 

result, the Court finds that a new trial is not warranted based on the Court’s refusal 

to give Thompson’s proffered good faith instruction.

Conclusion 

For the reasons given above, the Court denies Thompson’s motion for judgment 

of acquittal and for a new trial [154]. 

        
Dated: June 3, 2022       
       United States District Judge
       Franklin U. Valderrama  
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about things that are relevant to these counts.  So we would 

submit that this motion needs to be decided now. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. DANIEL:  Your Honor, if I could -- a brief 

response. 

THE COURT:  No, I'm good, Mr. Daniel.  I've heard 

enough.  Thank you.  I appreciate that.  

You've cited a couple of cases that I want to take a 

look at as part of your response, and I do want to do just 

that and come back out and give the parties my ruling.  I've 

already instructed the CSO to hold the jury for -- until at 

least 9:15 because I knew we were going to have to resolve 

this before bringing them in.  

So I'm just going to take a few minutes.  I want to 

take a look at some of the cases that were raised by the 

government, and then be in a position to come back and give 

you my ruling on the motion.  

We're going to take a short recess.  

(Recess from 9:03 to 9:30 a.m.) 

RULING ON DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR ACQUITTAL

THE COURT:  Be seated. 

Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 29(a) provides 

that after the government closes its evidence or after the 

close of all the evidence, the Court, on the defendant's 

motion, must enter a judgment of acquittal of any offense for 
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which the evidence is insufficient to sustain a conviction.  

Motions for acquittal are rarely granted because the 

applicable standard sets an extremely high bar.  

In challenging the sufficiency of the evidence, a 

defendant bears a heavy and, as some courts have noted, nearly 

insurmountable burden.  The judge must view the evidence in 

the light most favorable to the prosecution, and the defendant 

must convince the Court that even in that light, no rational 

trier of fact could have found him or her guilty beyond a 

reasonable doubt. 

It is within that context that the Court has to 

consider the motion that is presently before the Court.  

Here, when viewing the evidence in favor of the 

government as general -- generous, excuse me, in favor of the 

government as the Court must, the Court finds that the 

defendant has not satisfied its burden of establishing what it 

must for a judgment of acquittal under Rule 29(a), and the 

Court is going to deny the motion without prejudice at this 

time.  

That will be the Court's ruling.  

There is -- in light of that, I do want to address a 

question then to the defense before the jury comes in.  Having 

decided the defendant's motion as it pertained to those two 

counts, Counts One and Two, I do want to address now the 

defense in terms of what are we doing going forward. 
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there.  If they were left in there, they should be modified to 

show that they were paid off. 

THE COURT:  Understood.  Thank you. 

Ms. Petersen?  

MS. PETERSEN:  I have no objection to a modification 

showing that they were paid off.  I think that there usually 

is a section like this in the PSR, just to show that Probation 

has checked to make sure there's not other liens outstanding. 

THE COURT:  Thank you.  I will modify the PSR, as 

suggested by Mr. Gair, to add that those liens were paid off. 

So, I agree with the government that given 

Mr. Thompson does not dispute the existence of the liens, 

that they are part of his tax-filing history, and at least 

minimally relevant to his history and characteristics, and as 

such, should not be stricken from the PSR.  

Again, with that being said, Mr. Thompson, I want to 

assure you that just because I'm declining to strike this 

paragraph from the PSR does not mean that I will give it undue 

weight. 

Fourth, Mr. Thompson contests Probation and the 

government's position that restitution in the amount of 

$50,120.58 is mandatory on Counts 1 and 2.  That is 

specifically noted in paragraph 118 of the PSR, page 31. 

I understand that neither party disputes the general 

propositions of law governing mandatory restitution; that is, 
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that pursuant to 18 USC Section 3664 subsection (f), 

subsection (1), subsection (A), a court shall, quote, "order 

restitution to each victim in the full amount of each victim's 

losses as determined by the court," end quote. 

That amount can include interest still due on the 

loan.  And the Court cites United States versus Robers, 

698 F.3d 937 at 948, Seventh Circuit 2012, for that 

proposition.  However, a restitution award is authorized only 

with respect to that loss caused by the specific conduct that 

is the basis of the offense of conviction, and that 

proposition can be found at Hughey versus United States, 

495 U.S. 413, 1990, and United States versus Rand, 403 F.3d 

489, 493 to -94, Seventh Circuit 2005. 

Mr. Thompson argues that restitution cannot be 

ordered because the evidence supports that PHL and the FDIC 

knew at all relevant times the principal amount borrowed and 

the interest due; and the FDIC settled the loan for a payment 

of principal only, not because they were misled about the loan 

interest or any other amount due, but because they concluded 

it was likely uncollectible as a result of the flaws in the 

bank's documentation of the loan.  Thus, he argues that there 

was no loss resulting from the specific conduct for which he 

was convicted, and there can be no restitution ordered. 

The government, on the other hand, takes the position 

that Mr. Thompson's settlement with the FDIC, in which the 
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FDIC agreed to accept an amount less than their full losses, 

does not limit the Court's ability to order restitution, so 

long as it does not allow for a double recovery.  According to 

the government, Mr. Thompson's offense conduct involved 

falsely denying that he owed more than $110,000 on the loan, 

which included falsely denying that he borrowed 109,000 in 

additional loan distributions and approximately 50,000 on 

unpaid interest. 

Mr. Thompson's first false statement was in response 

to receiving an invoice for $269,120.58, which constituted the 

principal and the interest.  After Mr. Thompson received that 

invoice, he told PHL that he only borrowed and owed $110,000.  

In that call, which is in Count 1, by claiming he only owed 

110,000, he was also denying owing the unpaid interest.  

Therefore, according to the government, the unpaid interest is 

part of the offense conduct and should be properly awarded in 

restitution. 

Starting with Mr. Gair, is there anything else that 

you would like to add in support of the defense position?  

MR. GAIR:  Yes, Judge.  The Supreme Court and the 

Seventh Circuit have been very clear on this, and the Hughey 

case makes clear that this is a matter of the power of the 

Court because the Court has only been authorized by Congress 

to order restitution in a specific instance, and that is where 

the specific conduct caused the loss. 
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And what the government has not and cannot tell you 

is how the statements -- there are two statements of which he 

was convicted, which are identical, "I only borrowed 

100,000" -- or "$110,000." 

Now, the question is:  How could those statements 

have caused the loss of interest?  The loss of interest was -- 

had nothing to do with those statements.  The FDIC agents all 

testified that they knew how much interest he owed.  Planet 

Home Lending knew how much interest he owed.  They said it in 

their very first bill to him.  There was never any doubt about 

that. 

He did not -- his false statement didn't cause a loss 

of interest.  The loss of interest was caused by the fact that 

he hadn't paid it all along.  He didn't make a false statement 

to get the loan.  This -- there is no logical connection 

between, "I only owe $110,000," and the FDIC settling with him 

for the principal only because the FDIC knew at all times and 

settled with him for a completely different reason. 

Now, one of the things the government has alluded to 

is, well, he was -- when he was dealing with Planet Home 

Lending, he was saying, "Well, I don't really owe the 

interest."  That's not the conduct of conviction.  They didn't 

charge him with a false statement. 

And what Hughey and Rand and Randall stand for is 

that you have to tie the restitution amount to the specific 
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false statement, and that didn't happen here. 

Thank you, your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Gair. 

Ms. Petersen, anything in response?  

MS. PETERSEN:  Yes, your Honor.  I mean, our position 

is that the dispute of interest began with the statements in 

Count 1 and Count 2, where he's telling Planet Home Lending 

and the FDIC that he disputes the interest -- that he disputes 

the amount, that he only owes $110,000.  He's conveying he 

does not owe the interest amount.  He continued to convey that 

to Planet Home Lending throughout, into the fall, up until 

when he settled. 

But he is disputing it, and he is denying it at the 

time of the offense conduct; and it's part of that offense 

conduct.  He's saying, "I'm only going to pay 110,000, not 

this higher amount that includes the interest." 

And so restitution is proper, and it is part of the 

offense conduct. 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

I have read the cases that have been cited by the 

parties and find that they support the propositions of law 

that I cited a few minutes earlier.  I also find that they do 

not limit this Court's authority to order restitution on the 

interest of Mr. Thompson's loan, as I find that such interest 

is encompassed within the circumstances of the offense for 
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which Mr. Thompson has been convicted since in the charged 

statements in Count 1 and Count 2, he falsely represented 

that he owed only 110,000, rather than the full amount of 

approximately 269,000, which did include interest.  I also 

find that Mr. Thompson's 2018 settlement does not limit my 

authority to order that he pay restitution for the interest 

on the loan amount of $50,120.58. 

So, that leads me to Mr. Thompson's argument that 

because he paid over approximately 17,000 in additional taxes 

to the IRS in 2018 based on the forgiven interest, that 

payment should be set off dollar for dollar against 

restitution.  

The government takes the position that Mr. Thompson's 

payment of taxes to the IRS did not make the FDIC whole and 

suggests that after consultation with a tax attorney, 

Mr. Thompson likely would be able to deduct those restitution 

payments on a Form 1040, Schedule A, in the years in which the 

restitution payments are made. 

After careful consideration, the Court again agrees 

with the government that Mr. Thompson's payment of taxes in 

2018 does not offset the restitution on the interest owed to 

the FDIC. 

I also want to briefly address a discrepancy in the 

total tax loss amount stated in the PSR and the parties' 

briefs, although I do not believe that either party raised an 
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